
Notice of Meeting 

 
 

 
   

 

 
County Hall, New Road, Oxford, OX1 1ND 

www.oxfordshire.gov.uk  Fax: 01865 783195  Media Enquiries 01865 323870 
 

Oxfordshire Joint Health Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee 

Thursday, 19 November 2015 at 10.00 am 
County Hall 

Membership 
 

Chairman - Councillor Yvonne Constance OBE 
Deputy Chairman - District Councillor Martin Barrett 
 

Councillors: Kevin Bulmer 

Surinder Dhesi 

Tim Hallchurch MBE 

Laura Price 

Alison Rooke 

Les Sibley 

District 
Councillors: 

Nigel Champken-
Wood 

Monica Lovatt 

Susanna Pressel Nigel Randall 

Co-optees: Moira Logie Dr Keith Ruddle Mrs A. Wilkinson 
 

Notes: Date of next meeting: 4 February 2016 
 

What does this Committee review or scrutinise? 

 Any matter relating to the planning, provision and operation of health services in the area of 
its local authorities. 

 Health issues, systems or economics, not just services provided, commissioned or managed 
by the NHS. 

 

How can I have my say? 
We welcome the views of the community on any issues in relation to the responsibilities of this 
Committee.  Members of the public may ask to speak on any item on the agenda or may suggest 
matters which they would like the Committee to look at.  Requests to speak must be submitted 
to the Committee Officer below no later than 9 am on the working day before the date of 
the meeting. 
 

For more information about this Committee please contact: 
Chairman - Councillor Yvonne Constance OBE 
  Email: yvonne.constance@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
Policy & Performance Officer - Claire Phillips Tel: (01865) 323967 

Email: claire.phillips@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
Committee Officer - Julie Dean Tel: (01865) 815322 

Email: julie.dean@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
 

 

 
Peter G. Clark  
Head of Paid Service November 2015 



 

 

 
About the Oxfordshire Joint Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
 
The Joint Committee is made up of 15 members. Twelve of them are Councillors, seven 
from Oxfordshire County Council, and one from each of the District Councils – Cherwell, 
West Oxfordshire, Oxford City, Vale of White Horse, and South Oxfordshire. Three 
people can be co-opted to the Joint Committee to bring a community perspective. It is 
administered by the County Council. Unlike other local authority Scrutiny Committees, 
the work of the Health Scrutiny Committee involves looking „outwards‟ and across 
agencies. Its focus is on health, and while its main interest is likely to be the NHS, it may 
also look at services provided by local councils which have an impact on health. 
 

About Health Scrutiny 
 

Health Scrutiny is about: 

 Providing a challenge to the NHS and other organisations that provide health care 

 Examining how well the NHS and other relevant organisations are performing  

 Influencing the Cabinet on decisions that affect local people 

 Representing the community in NHS decision making, including responding to 
formal consultations on NHS service changes 

 Helping the NHS to develop arrangements for providing health care in Oxfordshire 

 Promoting joined up working across organisations 

 Looking at the bigger picture of health care, including the promotion of good health  

 Ensuring that health care is provided to those who need it the most 
 

Health Scrutiny is NOT about: 

 Making day to day service decisions 

 Investigating individual complaints. 
 

What does this Committee do? 
 
The Committee meets up to 5 times a year or more. It develops a work programme, 
which lists the issues it plans to investigate. These investigations can include whole 
committee investigations undertaken during the meeting, or reviews by a panel of 
members doing research and talking to lots of people outside of the meeting.  Once an 
investigation is completed the Committee provides its advice to the relevant part of the 
Oxfordshire (or wider) NHS system and/or to the Cabinet, the full Councils or scrutiny 
committees of the relevant local authorities. Meetings are open to the public and all 
reports are available to the public unless exempt or confidential, when the items would 
be considered in closed session. 
 

If you have any special requirements (such as a large print 
version of these papers or special access facilities) please 
contact the officer named on the front page, giving as much 
notice as possible before the meeting  

A hearing loop is available at County Hall. 
 

 



 

 

 

AGENDA 
 
 

1. Apologies for Absence and Temporary Appointments  
 

2. Declarations of Interest - see guidance note on the back page  
 

3. Minutes (Pages 1 - 12) 
 

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 17 September 2015 (JHO3) and to 
receive information arising from them. 

4. Speaking to or Petitioning the Committee  
 

5. Oxfordshire University Hospitals Foundation Trust  
 

10:10 
 
The newly appointed Chief Executive of the Oxford University Hospitals Foundation 
Trust (OUHFT), Dr Bruno Holthof, will attend the meeting to introduce himself to the 
Committee and share his initial observations from his first few weeks in his new role. 
He will be accompanied by Andrew Stevens, Director of Planning & Information 
(OUHFT). 

6. Oxfordshire's Health & Social Care Transformation Plans (Pages 13 
- 46) 
 

10:40 
 
Representatives from the Transformation Board including David Smith, Chief 
Executive, Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group, and colleagues from Oxford 
University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Oxford Health and Oxfordshire County 
Council will give a presentation on progress in respect of the emerging system-wide 
plans for transformation of the way in which Oxfordshire‟s health and social care will 
be delivered to address population growth, demographic demands and pressures on 
available resources now and in future years (JHO6). 
 
The Committee are invited to comment on the proposed approach and emerging 
vision.  
 
 
 
 



- 2 - 
 

 

7. Healthwatch Oxfordshire  - Update (Pages 47 - 154) 
 

11:40 
 
Rachel Coney, Chief Executive of Healthwatch Oxfordshire will give her update 
(JHO7) on recent projects which includes the newly launched Dignity report. This is 
also attached at JHO7.  
 
Members are asked to comment on the findings of the Dignity report. 
 

8. Chairman’s Report and Forward Plan (Pages 155 - 160) 
 

12:00 
 
Attached at JHO8 is a report produced by the Chairman updating the Committee on 
meetings she has attended and matters addressed since the last meeting. 
 
The Forward Plan is attached at JHO8. Members are asked to prioritise items for the 
next meeting and issues to be scheduled in the future. 
 
 
 
12:15 – Close of Meeting 



- 3 - 
 

 

 

Declarations of Interest 
 
The duty to declare….. 
Under the Localism Act 2011 it is a criminal offence to 
(a) fail to register a disclosable pecuniary interest within 28 days of election or co-option (or re-

election or re-appointment), or 
(b) provide false or misleading information on registration, or 
(c) participate in discussion or voting in a meeting on a matter in which the member or co-opted 

member has a disclosable pecuniary interest. 

Whose Interests must be included? 
The Act provides that the interests which must be notified are those of a member or co-opted 
member of the authority, or 

 those of a spouse or civil partner of the member or co-opted member; 

 those of a person with whom the member or co-opted member is living as husband/wife 

 those of a person with whom the member or co-opted member is living as if they were civil 
partners. 

(in each case where the member or co-opted member is aware that the other person has the 
interest). 

What if I remember that I have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest during the Meeting?. 
The Code requires that, at a meeting, where a member or co-opted member has a disclosable 
interest (of which they are aware) in any matter being considered, they disclose that interest to 
the meeting. The Council will continue to include an appropriate item on agendas for all 
meetings, to facilitate this. 

Although not explicitly required by the legislation or by the code, it is recommended that in the 
interests of transparency and for the benefit of all in attendance at the meeting (including 
members of the public) the nature as well as the existence of the interest is disclosed. 

A member or co-opted member who has disclosed a pecuniary interest at a meeting must not 
participate (or participate further) in any discussion of the matter; and must not participate in any 
vote or further vote taken; and must withdraw from the room. 

Members are asked to continue to pay regard to the following provisions in the code that “You 
must serve only the public interest and must never improperly confer an advantage or 
disadvantage on any person including yourself” or “You must not place yourself in situations 
where your honesty and integrity may be questioned…..”. 

Please seek advice from the Monitoring Officer prior to the meeting should you have any doubt 
about your approach. 

List of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests: 
Employment (includes“any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit 
or gain”.), Sponsorship, Contracts, Land, Licences, Corporate Tenancies, Securities. 

For a full list of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and further Guidance on this matter please see 
the Guide to the New Code of Conduct and Register of Interests at Members‟ conduct guidelines. 
http://intranet.oxfordshire.gov.uk/wps/wcm/connect/occ/Insite/Elected+members/ or contact 
Glenn Watson on (01865) 815270 or glenn.watson@oxfordshire.gov.uk for a hard copy of the 
document. 

 
 

 

http://intranet.oxfordshire.gov.uk/wps/wcm/connect/occ/Insite/Elected+members/
mailto:glenn.watson@oxfordshire.gov.uk




 

OXFORDSHIRE JOINT HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
MINUTES of the meeting held on Thursday, 17 September 2015 commencing at 
10.00 am and finishing at 1.20 pm  
 
Present: 
 

 

Voting Members: Councillor Yvonne Constance OBE – in the Chair 
 

 District Councillor Martin Barrett (Deputy Chairman) 
Councillor Kevin Bulmer 
Councillor Surinder Dhesi 
Councillor Tim Hallchurch MBE 
Councillor Laura Price 
Councillor Les Sibley 
District Councillor Nigel Randall 
Councillor Jenny Hannaby (In place of Councillor Alison 
Rooke) 
 

Co-opted Members: 
 

Moira Logie, Dr Keith Ruddle and Anne Wilkinson 

Officers: 
 

 

Whole of meeting  Claire Phillips and Julie Dean (Chief Executive’s Office); 
Director of Public Health 
 

 
The Scrutiny Committee considered the matters, reports and recommendations 
contained or referred to in the agenda for the meeting together with a schedule of 
addenda tabled at the meeting and agreed as set out below.  Copies of the  
agenda, reports and schedule are attached to the signed Minutes. 
 

 

96/15 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND TEMPORARY APPOINTMENTS  
(Agenda No. 1) 
 
Councillor Jenny Hannaby attended for Councillor Alison Rooke, City Councillor Mark 
Lygo attended for City Councillor Susanna Pressel and an apology was received 
from District Councillor Monica Lovatt. 
 

97/15 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST - SEE GUIDANCE NOTE ON THE BACK 
PAGE  
(Agenda No. 2) 
 
There were no declarations of interest submitted. 
 
 
 
 



JHO3 

98/15 MINUTES  
(Agenda No. 3) 
 
The Minutes of the meeting held on 2 July 2015 (JHO3) were approved and signed 
as a correct record. 
 

99/15 SPEAKING TO OR PETITIONING THE COMMITTEE  
(Agenda No. 4) 
 
The Chairman had agreed to the following members of the public addressing the 
Committee: 
 

 Local Councillor James Mills – Agenda Item 5 ‘Chairman’s Report’. 

 Local Councillor David Nimmo-Smith – Agenda Item 6 ‘Townlands Hospital Henley – 
Proposals for future services.’ 

 Clive Hill, on behalf of Chipping Norton Hospital Action Group – Agenda Item 7 
‘Chipping Norton – Intermediate Care Beds.’ 

 
All speakers addressed the meeting prior to discussion on the relevant item.  
 

100/15 CHAIRMAN'S REPORT  
(Agenda No. 5) 
 
Councillor James Mills, a member for Witney, addressed the Committee in relation to  
item 1 of the Chairman’s Report ‘Witney Community Hospital – temporary closure of 
Wenrisc Ward. He queried the process that was followed, making the following 
points: 
 

 Should there have been a written account of the proposals in order for attendees to 
digest them fully, and should this have been made public? 

 Was an informal meeting the right place to take a decision of such importance? 

 A record should have been taken of the discussion? 

 Should local Members for Witney have been informed about the meeting and their 
input requested: and should substitutes be permitted to attend in case local members 
are unable to attend? 
 

The Chairman thanked Cllr Mills for raising these points, noted that most of the points 
raised had been carried out and informed the meeting that she had referred the 
matter back to the Legal & Democratic Services Teams, the outcomes of which would 
be reported to the next meeting of the Committee in November. 
 
Members noted the Chairman’s report (JHO5) on meetings attended by the Chairman 
and visits undertaken. 
 
 

101/15 TOWNLANDS HOSPITAL, HENLEY - PROPOSALS FOR FUTURE 
SERVICES  
(Agenda No. 6) 
 
Councillor Nimmo-Smith addressed the meeting emphasising that despite a number 
of meetings since the July 2015 meeting of this Committee, the Townlands Steering 



JHO3 

Group (TSG) was still not fully convinced that the intermediate care proposed was in 
the best long-term interests of the communities served by Townlands Hospital. He 
commented that he had joined the Committee visit to the Isis Care Home in Oxford 
and had seen the manner in which intermediate care, or recuperation, was delivered. 
However, whilst he was pleased by what he saw and with the discussions with staff, 
he was aware that the Henley model differed slightly.  
 
Moreover, he wished to emphasise that the TSG wished to continue to work with 
OCCG in order to achieve the best possible medical pathway and provision for the 
Oxfordshire residents in the Townlands catchment area. He added that to this end 
members of the Committee had been sent a dossier containing the TSG proposals 
for combining an Emergency Multidisciplinary  Unit (EMU)with a bedded service. He 
added also that the key question was the manner in which the new model would be 
deployed and whether it would be successful for not; and that the TSG would like to 
assist in any way it could with this process in order to reassure the community that 
the new arrangements were at least as good as the existing ones. He stated also the 
TSG’s hope that the OCCG would continue to involve them in the process. 
 
Cllr Nimmo-Smith also commented that TSG were pleased that the Royal Berkshire 
NHS Foundation Trust, Reading were working with the service commissioners to 
assess the impact of the bed model. However, the TSG had been informed that until 
that was concluded they remained concerned about the impact of the proposals on 
them. 
 
He concluded by stating that the issues were about whether the change in the 
location of the beds would improve health outcomes for patients. Furthermore it was 
about whether it was possible to implement the change safely in the very short time 
which was left available. 
 
The Committee had before them a paper by the OCCG (JHO6), the purpose of which 
was to provide the Committee with an update on progress on the proposals for the 
future services at Townlands Hospital, following the OCCG’s Governing Body 
meeting on 30 July 2015. 
 
David Smith and Andrew Burnett of the OCCG were invited to introduce the report. 
A member of the Committee asked if there had been attention given to acquiring the 
correct performance indicators that would inform on factors such as actual length of 
stay and readmissions, for example. Andrew Burnett responded that statistics would 
be evidence based and would be based on reablement beds and short-stay beds for 
patients assessed in the Rapid Access Care Unit (RACU).  
 
Andrew Burnett was asked why it was proposed that care at Townlands Hospital be 
based on the RACU model rather than a combination of the RACU and EMU models. 
He explained that the RACU was based on a catchment area of 40 – 45k patients, in 
contrast to an EMU which would be based on 100k patients. However, many of the 
good elements of EMU care had been tuned into the provision at the RACU. 
Moreover, the RACU would not be just for older people’s care but would assist and 
provide medical advice for younger people also in terms of step up and step down 
care. He added that what was established would not be set in stone and would 
continue to be ‘tweaked’ in line with the commitment to improve the service. 



JHO3 

 
Mr Burnett was asked about the costings and whether there would be savings made 
from the proposed changes. He responded that the proposal was to provide better 
value care for more patients together with more appropriate care. 
 
With regard to issues raised about the quality of Orders of St. John (OSJ) versus 
NHS nursing care, Mr Burnett explained that this was a matter for OSJ but that the 
CCG would commission a certain level of care, adding that there were no grounds to 
say that there would be a lower standard of nurses working at Townlands. 
 
A member of the Committee asked about the wider issue of delays for patients 
relying on community health care packages and how this would work in this context. 
David Smith informed the Committee that a resilience group comprising all 
organisations were meeting together to try to fix it.  He added that he had agreed with 
the Chairman of this Committee that he would bring a report to the next meeting 
which would cover the issues around community care that are seen in Oxfordshire, 
together with a process to go forward with. 
 
A member asked if there would be sufficient home care commissioned to support 
patients. Andrew Burnett commented that it would be a challenge, and John Jackson 
had given his assurance that OCC would provide more packages. He added that one 
of the strengths of the RACU was that Social Care would be working much more 
closely with Health providers which would lead to a much more efficient system. John 
Jackson, Director of Adult Social Services was invited up to the table to respond. He 
explained that Oxfordshire was very much a victim of its own economic success 
which meant that there was a constant funding issue linked to recruitment as there 
was very little unemployment in Oxfordshire. OCC’s workforce strategy allowed 
employers to pay above minimum time and travel time. 
 
A member asked if the move to OSJ would require a change to the current 
commissioning arrangements for intermediate care beds. David Smith replied that a 
pooled budget between OCC and the OCCG was in operation, adding that OCC had 
a contract with OSJ. Contractual discussions were ongoing, with efforts being made 
to get the right arrangements with OSJ. In response to a query about whether there 
were incentive payments to move patients out quickly, David Smith explained that 
there was a block contract in place and payment was not made on the basis of 
episodes of care, but on outcomes. He added that, in general, successful outcomes 
depended upon how the provider worked with the GPs and clinicians at the point of 
making the decisions around the patient. Therefore, it was clinical performance that 
provided the motivation for the movement of patients out of hospital – the driver being 
dictated by the conscious need for beds for other patients coming in. John Jackson 
added that there was a key emphasis on quality of care provided and the monitoring 
of this was being undertaken by expert therapists and by local GPs. 
 
John Jackson and Jonathan McWilliam explained that Oxfordshire’s situation was 
challenging, complex and sometimes very confusing in terms of how to navigate the 
commissioners, providers and contract cycles. Members agreed that as a scrutiny 
committee there was a need to understand more fully expected outcomes of the 
monitoring and to have a clearer outlook on how relations between organisations was 
working, and future directions of travel, in order that the Committee could challenge 



JHO3 

the many issues which were prevalent in the communities in a more productive 
manner. David Smith offered to hold a workshop/seminar to take Committee 
members through all of the above. 
 
In light of the above, it was AGREED to: 
 

(a) thank David Smith and Andrew Burnett for the report on proposals for future services 
at Townlands Hospital and to wish Townlands success; and 
 

(b) accept David Smith’s offer of a workshop/seminar encompassing the issues 
discussed above. 

 
 

102/15 CHIPPING NORTON - INTERMEDIATE CARE BEDS  
(Agenda No. 7) 
 
Clive Hill of Chipping Norton Hospital Action Group urged the Committee to advise 
the Cabinet to suspend its plans for changes at Chipping Norton Hospital and not to 
make any changes until a review of whole community hospital healthcare in 
Oxfordshire has been conducted, which would include a properly costed and 
integrated plan. His view was that the OCC proposal would make the Delayed 
Transfers of Care (DTOC) situation worse because patient lengths of stay under OSJ 
was an average of 40 days compared to NHS of 27 days, at an extra cost to the NHS 
of £750k per annum. David Cameron had confirmed that beds were ‘sub-acute’, 
meaning that they should be used for a higher standard of care than planned by 
OCC. 
 
It was the view of the Action Group that John Jackson had made an intimidating 
‘threat’ at the last meeting - and that the proposed consultation, giving only two 
options, was fatally flawed. They believed that a judicial review of the process would 
find it in their favour. 
 
He stated that it was the view of the Action Group that the OCC plan under OSJ 
would significantly downgrade the current service provided by Oxford Health. He 
cited a recent Care Quality Commission report on the ISIS Centre which revealed 
that of the five key areas evaluated at ISIS, three were rated ‘requires Improvement’ 
and ‘there was insufficient staff on duty to support people and meet their needs.’ 
 
Mr Hill added that the Action Group was aware that OCC had to make budget 
savings, but ISIS could not be the model just because it was the cheapest. They 
advocated instead that OCC return the commissioning of the beds to the CCG so that 
commissioning could fully take into account the overall impact on Oxfordshire 
healthcare. He added that apart from Banbury, Chipping Norton and the surrounding 
villages were the largest centres of population in the north of the county and that a 
fully functioning Community Hospital in this rural area was essential. 
 
Mr Hill commented that the Committee could not have an overview because the wider 
impact of the OCC plan had not been properly evaluated and there was no integrated 
approach to Oxfordshire’s hospital healthcare in this proposal. He therefore urged the 
Committee to take a further reflection and realise that a fair and open consultation 
could not now take place. 



JHO3 

 
David Smith, Chief Executive, OCCG, Cllr Mrs Judith Heathcoat, Cabinet Member for 
Adult Social Care, and John Jackson, Director for Adult Social Services (OCC) & 
Director of Strategy & Transformation (OCCG) attended for this item. Mr Jackson 
explained that meetings had been held with key organisations, ie OCC, OCCG, 
Oxford Health (OH), Oxford University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (OUHFT), 
Healthwatch Oxfordshire (HWO) and the Chipping Norton Action Group, adding that 
OUHT and OH had made it clear at their meetings that it would not be possible to 
continue the current arrangement for Intermediate Care to be provided through a 
bed-based service at Chipping Norton. Thus there was no alternative but to proceed 
to a public consultation setting out an affordable representation on the way 
Intermediate Care was provided in North Oxfordshire in the future, as set out in the 
report to OCC’s Cabinet. 
 
Cllr Mrs Heathcoat referred to an email that she and all Cabinet Members had 
received from Mark Taylor, a director from a Nursing Home in Banbury and the 
response which she had given to him about the consultation. Within the response she 
had explained that intermediate care was about keeping people out of hospital and 
returning people to independent living following a spell in hospital. When referring to 
the facilities and management arrangements in relation to Chipping Norton Hospital, 
she stressed that the status quo was not an option and therefore could not be 
supported. She added that there was no reason for care in Chipping Norton to cost 
any more than in the rest of the county. Thus there had to be an equality of service 
provision and options had to be both affordable and sustainable in the long-term. 
 
In response to a question from a Committee member, Mr Jackson clarified that 
Chipping Norton was not defined as a community hospital, and, since 2011, had not 
provided sub- acute beds. David Smith affirmed this, saying that Chipping Norton did 
not have the resources to provide acute care. The model for the provision of 
Intermediate Care, which was in line with the County Council’s specification, had 
been implemented by Oxford Health since October last year. 
 
Members of the Committee felt it was essential that the fine line between 
intermediate care and home care and sub- acute care at Community Hospitals be 
made clear within the consultation. John Jackson commented that was very helpful 
and that he would attempt to address the issue that sub- acute and intermediate care 
had very different processes within the consultation. He added that also that there 
would be a map of the county showing where people requiring intermediate care 
beds would be going and the same for those people requiring sub -acute care. 
 
The Chairman thanked Cllr Mrs Heathcoat, Mr Jackson and Mr Smith for their 
attendance.  
 
In light of the above, it was AGREED that the results of the consultation and the 
recommended/agreed course of action be discussed at the next meeting of this 
Committee in February 2016. 
 
 
 



JHO3 

103/15 UPDATE ON THE HORTON HOSPITAL, BANBURY  
(Agenda No. 8) 
 
In February 2014 the Committee had requested that a progress report on services at 
the Horton General Hospital, Banbury be provided to the Committee during this year. 
A report was now before the Committee (JHO8).  
 
The Committee were advised that the report JHO8 had been considered by the 
County Council’s Locality meeting in July, 2015 and it had commented as follows: 
 
‘Members were pleased to have been informed and consulted and pleased that the 
issues had been set out so transparently. They expressed a wish that this level of 
communication should continue. They were generally supportive of the strategy, but 
recognised that there would be a continuing demand to keep a 24/7 accident and 
emergency and the CT scanner.’ 
 
Andrew Stevens, OUHFT, introduced the report. 
 
In relation to paragraph 2.6 (page 29 in the Agenda) of the report, Mr Stevens 
reported that Steve Candler, elected public governor for the Northamptonshire and 
Warwickshire catchment area served by the Horton General had stepped down and 
Blake Stimpson had been newly elected in his place. 
 
In response to comments from a local member from the Committee about concerns 
expressed by members of the public with regard to changes in staffing at the Day 
Centre, Mr Stevens commented that the community had been fully involved in 
development plans and that the Trust were in the process of perfecting when was the 
right time to let people know of any changes as they occurred. 
 
Another local member for Banbury commended the Trust for its engagement with the 
community and asked that progress in this area be maintained. 
 
The Committee AGREED to welcome the report and expressed a hope that other 
changes proposed for the County would be developed in a similar fashion. 
 

104/15 HEALTHWATCH OXFORDSHIRE - UPDATE  
(Agenda No. 9) 
 
Rachel Coney and Eddie Duller OBE, Chief Executive and Chairman, respectively, of 
Healthwatch Oxfordshire (HWO) attended to give an update on recent projects 
(JHO9). This included a report entitled ‘Improving Discharges from Hospital in 
Oxfordshire.’     
 
The Committee took the ‘Improving Discharges from Hospital in Oxfordshire’ report 
first, commenting that it was a ‘sound’ piece of work and welcoming the fact that 80% 
of those interviewed were satisfied with their discharge.  Eddie Duller introduced the 
report and handed over to Rachel Coney to respond to questions from the 
Committee.  Rachel Coney explained that there was a sample size of respondents, 
though they had exceeded their target for the number of people they had spoken to 



JHO3 

and HWO were delighted with the level of co-operation from the communities and 
from providers. Agreement to the methodology had been sought from the start.  
 
A Committee member commented that he had been involved in a scrutiny review 
about DTOC (Delayed Transfers of Care) 9 years ago and one of the 
recommendations was that Social Care should have equal access to patient notes 
alongside the medical practitioners. Rachel Coney responded that great strides had 
since been made with the interaction between both parties, and clear plans and 
policies were now in place. There were only a few glitches in the system remaining 
and the report recommended some small changes which would assist with patient 
experience and care as they proceed through the discharge process. 
 
Members asked if problems with the transport system had been raised and whether 
respondents had felt reticent about complaining in case there were consequences in 
relation to their care. Rachel Coney responded that these issues did not feature 
much in this particular project and the question of timing and manner of transport 
home and of complaints, were far more the subject of concern in the dignity report.   
 
With reference to the question of whether GP’s were told of the imminent discharge 
of their patients, Rachel Coney responded that GPs did like to be informed as they 
were responsible, alongside nursing staff, for the coordination of their patient’s care. 
She added that this was an issue to be taken up with the OCCG in due course. 
 
Rachel Coney was asked why so many of the respondents wished to discuss their 
discharge from the JR Hospital, to which she replied that the majority of people who 
responded online wished to cite the OUHT facilities. She added that volunteers had 
talked also to patients in other hospitals and in the community hospitals.   
  
The Chairman then invited Paul Brennan, (speaking on behalf of OUHFT, OCCG and 
OCC) and Yvonne Taylor, Oxford Health, up to the table for their comments in 
relation to the report. In respect of Committee members’ queries, Paul Brennan made 
the following observations: 
 

- The electronic patient record could be operated online and was backed up every 
30 minutes. Business continuity arrangements were in place should the system go 
down; 
   

- The hospital and social care were fully integrated, both parties had access to 
patient notes; and 

 
-  Patients were not sent home without all parties knowing about it. Community 

Hospital Managers come into hospital to assess patients prior to their discharge; 

 
In respect of the report itself, Mr Brennan commented that the representative 
organisations had some concerns about the way in which the report was 
structured, its use of data and about some of the recommendations relating to 
DTOC. He added that whilst they could not respond to the report 
recommendations at this stage they had agreed with Rachel Coney that they 
would sit down at a later date to go through the report in more detail and link 
the data analysis with the recommendations. He added that this could have 
been done earlier if organisations had had the opportunity for discussion prior 



JHO3 

to the report being published. There would have been no intention of 
influencing its findings. 
 
Yvonne Taylor concurred with Paul Brennan’s comments. She added, in 
response to a member’s view that it was important to see the findings in the 
paper in a positive way, that OUHT spent a lot of time seeking information on 
patient views and their experience via feedback from the ‘Friends and Family’ 
test in order that necessary changes could be made across the whole system. 
Paul Brennan added that patient experience information was sought from all 
on discharge via a national patient questionnaire and this was was published 
annually. 
 
Despite the report not relating to patient discharge delay, Paul Brennan 
informed the Committee that a piece of work had been completed which 
followed patient’s day to day causes of delay. Moreover, a detailed report was 
about to be produced on the findings and the issues involved. The Committee 
asked that it be brought to the next meeting in November. 
 
A member of the Committee was of the view that a third party’s view on patient 
discharge experience had strength and therefore had value. She urged that 
the response to HWO’s report be made as speedily as possible. Paul Brennan 
responded that the organisations had only received the report three weeks 
ago, but would make the response as speedily as possible. 
 
Members of the Committee were very supportive of the idea of the poster 
which linked up the responsibilities of the hospital, the pharmacy, GPs etc 
being reproduced in the form of a letter to be given to patients, friends and 
family at the point of admission. Paul Brennan was asked if equal attention 
could be given to the clinical end also. He responded that the NHS was in the 
process of transitioning to electronic patient’s records which could also contain 
an electronic information link to all parties. 
 
Mr Brennan was also asked if there was a procedure in place so that patients 
were asked on admission what arrangement would be in place on discharge. 
He reported that there was work underway across social services and the 
communities looking at an ambulatory pathway. He added that it was not 
practical for all patients admitted to have an estimated date of discharge at the 
outset, as this would use a lot of hospital resource. Mr Brennan agreed 
however that there was a need to learn from HWO’s report and to focus on the 
areas in the report and recommendations that could make the biggest impact. 
 
The Chairman thanked all for their attendance and, on behalf of the Committee 
looked forward to seeing the response to the report from all organisations at 
the next meeting. 
 
The Committee then considered the HWO report JHO9 which, aside from their 
project on Hospital Discharges, included information on community hospitals, 
the Big Plan and feedback from the OCCG locality forum Chairs.  
 



JHO3 

In respect of the Big Plan, which had been approved by OCC Cabinet on 17 
March 2015 and by the OCCG on 27 March 2015, the Committee heard that 
since it had been approved, commissioners had been working through a 
number of suggestions and comments from people with learning disabilities, 
(both directly, and via Healthwatch Oxfordshire), their families, GPs and 
providers. The HWO report included a brief resume of the concerns raised with 
them. 
 
Kate Terroni, Deputy Director of Joint Commissioning, then read out an agreed 
statement between OCC, OCCG, Southern Health and Oxford Health (a copy 
of which will be included with the signed papers) informing the Committee that 
the questions that had been raised were concerned with the pace of change 
and how the changes, as set out in the Big Plan, could be made in a safe and 
effective way. She added that this would need to work both for service users 
and the organisations and staff who provided them. 
 
Kate Terroni announced that in light of the feedback received, it had been 
decided to review both the timetable and approach to the implementation of 
the Big Plan. She reported that:  

 
1. Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group was in discussion with Oxford Health 

NHSFT with a view to becoming the preferred provider of future mainstreamed 
health services for people with learning disability. 
  

2. Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group proposed to take over the contract with 
Southern Health NHSFT for the provision of health services for people with 
learning disability.  Subject to further current negotiations this would be achieved 
by 1 February 2016 and earlier if possible. The benefit of this change was that it 
would allow one commissioner to manage both the outgoing and future provider 
of health services for people with learning disability. In the short-term the people 
supported by the Southern Health service will be supported by the same teams 
who support them now and in the longer term this arrangement will help all parties 
manage the transition. The contract would be extended with Southern Health FT 
through until December 2017. 
  

3. Oxfordshire County Council has extended the Southern Health NHSFT contract to 
ensure that there was time for the clinical commissioning group and Southern 
Health to carry out their negotiations. 
  

4. Both Southern Health and Oxford Health had supported these discussions and 
had indicated their wish to support the safe, effective transition of health services 
for people with learning disability. 
 

5. Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group and the County Council were setting 
up a Transition Board to oversee this process. This Board would have an 
independent chair from outside of Oxfordshire, dedicated programme support and 
an independent clinical adviser. The Board would have representatives from 
commissioners in the clinical commissioning group, the County Council and NHS 
England, together with Southern Health and Oxford Health and representatives 
would be invited from the Oxfordshire Learning Disability Partnership Board. 



JHO3 

 
6. The Board would report into Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group’s 

Governing Body. The first meeting of the Board would approve its term of 
reference and the transition plan. This first meeting would take place in 
September 2015.  

 

Rachel Coney welcomed the fact that the system had listened carefully to concerns 
and that focus had been between safety of transition and timeliness. She asked if 
there would be representation from ‘My Life, My Choice’ on the Board, to which Kate 
Terroni replied that there would be representation from voluntary organisations on the 
Board. 
 
Members commented that this was a good example of a well-run, well - attended 
consultation that had effectively listened to public opinion, and which had led to a 
good set of recommendations. 
 
The Committee were asked by Rachel Coney to address the motion submitted by Cllr 
Laura Price and agreed at the County Council, which had asked that: 
 
‘in their role as commissioner, the OCCG lead on a full public consultation on the 
future shape of Oxfordshire’s Community Hospitals and that OCC fully engage with 
the process before further incremental changes damage the public’s relationship with 
these vital services.’ 
 
The Committee considered the view of HWO that it did not see how a consultation on 
sub-acute care could be carried out effectively without including intermediate care 
into the picture. 
 
John Jackson commented that everybody agreed with the principle that the overall 
position should be considered, but it was important to look at the breadth of provision 
which is currently provided within the context of community hospital care and also 
acute hospital care. He added that the intention was that there should be an overall 
piece of work to try to map it all out. He warned against a fixation on bed - based care 
rather than the outcome, pointing out that bed - based care was often not the best 
care for people. 
 
Following a discussion the Committee AGREED to: 
 

(a) note the report and recommendations by HWO; 
  

(b) consider the HWO Dignity Report (including transportation issues) at the next meeting 
of this Committee; and 
 

(c) with regard to the motion approved by Council on 8 September to request OCCG to 
conduct a full consultation on the future of community hospitals, to RECOMMEND 
that the consultation includes the future provision of community care services more 
broadly. 

 
 
 
 



JHO3 

                                                                                                                                                    

105/15 BETTER CARE FUND - UPDATE  
(Agenda No. 10) 
 
John Jackson was invited to introduce a progress report on the Better Care Fund 
programme (JHO10). 
 
Mr Jackson was asked if there would be more detailed discussions on primary care 
going forward at the end of the process. He responded that a five year forward view 
on primary care had been circulated which gave a number of options and possible 
models going forward, one of which was the idea of whether the acute sector could 
enter into an alliance contract with Oxford Health and OUHT for older people’s 
services in the communities. Practical issues around processes were also to be 
considered with the user in mind, such as the use of the NHS number. 
 
Members thanked Mr Jackson for his attendance and AGREED to note the report 
and looked forward to further reports on proposals for primary care coming forward to 
the Committee for scrutiny. 
 
 

106/15 FORWARD PLAN  
(Agenda No. 11) 
 
Members of the Committee reviewed the current Forward Plan (JHO11) for the 
coming year. 
 
 
 in the Chair 

  
Date of signing   



 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

Oxfordshire Joint Health and Overview Scrutiny Committee 

 
 

Date of Meeting: Thursday, 19th November, 2015 
 
 

 

Title of Presentation:  Oxfordshire’s Health and Social Care Transformation Plans  
 
 
 

 

Purpose: To brief the Oxfordshire Joint Health and Overview Committee on the  
emerging system-wide plans for transformation of the way in which Oxfordshire’s 
health and social care will be delivered to address population growth, demographic 
demands and pressures on available resources now and in future years. 
 
The paper also provides an overview of the governance arrangements for the system 
wide transformation programme and indicative development and implementation 
timescales. 
 
Members of the Committee are invited to comment on the proposed approach and 
emerging vision. 
 
 
 

 
Senior Responsible Officer: Stuart Bell, Chair of Oxfordshire’s Transformation 
Board  
 

 
 
 
 

 



2 

 

 

1. Introduction 
 

Challenges facing local public services, including health and social care are 
many and varied and well-known to the members of the Committee.  
 
One of the key issues in Oxfordshire is the rising demand from a growing, 
ageing population (with the number of over-85s in the county expected to rise 
from around 15,000 to around 24,000 between 2011 and 2026). This coincides 
with significant funding constraints on the public sector commissioners and 
providers of health and social care services, as public sector organisations play 
their part in deficit reduction.  
 
Another major driver for change is the increasing prevalence of co-morbidities 
and complexity of patients the health and care system looks after. 
 
The NHS Five Year Forward View (June 2015)1, describes a vision for health 
and care service that will be needed in 2020.  One which empowers people, 
their families and carers to take more control over their own health, care and 
treatment supported by easy access to integrated holistic care, in settings 
closer to where people live and organised to effectively support people with 
multiple conditions not just a single disease. 
 
Achieving this vision will require further work so that: 
 

 Individuals are taking greater responsibility for their own health 

 We are better at preventing and managing demand 

 We are (re-)designing services and finding innovative ways of delivering 
outcomes for a society that lives longer and expects more 

 We are maximising the value of our health and social care spend. 
 
 

The Five Year Forward View Into Action (December 2015) produced by NHS 
England develops this vision further and outlines new ways of working and new 
models of care that can help us realise this vision over the coming years. 
 
Health and care organisations across Oxfordshire are committed to working 
together as a system to shape the future of health and social care and develop 
local solutions in response to local needs.   
 
To this end Oxfordshire established a system wide Transformation Board in 
March 2015.  Membership includes Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust 
(OHFT), Oxfordshire University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (OUHFT), 
South Central Ambulance Trust (SCAS), Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning 
Group (OCCG), Oxfordshire County Council (OCC) and the Oxfordshire 

                                                 
1
 See Appendix 1 – Glossary for explanation of terms 



3 

 

 

Primary Care Federations.  The board is chaired by Stuart Bell, Chief Executive 
of Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust. 
 
The aim of the Board is to plan and design the next generation of integrated 
GP, hospital and social services and drive forward system transformation 
across Oxfordshire.  More specifically it serves to bring together in one place all 
the system wide projects, which will deliver significant change in the health and 
care system, and provide a place for an in-depth discussion about new models 
of care and system enablers. 

 
We are in the early stages of developing plans and models for the future of 
health and social care in Oxfordshire.  Having agreed the scope of the 
programme, the ‘case for change’ and direction of travel – see Appendix 2, we 
are now in a position to start engaging a broad range of stakeholders to shape 
the future of health and social care in Oxfordshire.  

 
 

2. Oxfordshire – the local picture 
 
The population of Oxfordshire currently enjoys good overall health.  In 2010 
Oxfordshire was ranked the eleventh least deprived upper tier local authority 
out of 152 in England.  However, there are pockets of social deprivation, with 
15 local areas featured among the most deprived 20% nationally. 

 
Increases in life expectancy mean that people are living with good health for 
longer and with new treatments people are also living longer with long term 
chronic conditions.  

 
Oxfordshire’s health needs are changing, driven by increasing chronic disease 
and an ageing population as well as increase births from the growing 
populations accross the county, particularly in Cherwell and Didcot.  

 
Oxfordshire’s performance across many outcomes is in the top 25% nationally 
(e.g. one year survival from cancers, mortality rates in Cardio Vascular 
Disease, Respiratory) and we have low levels of hospitalisation (approx. 600 
per 100,000 per head of population compared to over 1300 per 100,000 in 
Manchester).  

 
However, pressure on services is increasing, particularly where demand is 
more highly concentrated among older people.  We are also seeing a demand 
for both children’s and adult’s social care, growing at an even faster rate than 
would be expected by population growth, suggesting that previously unmet 
need is coming forward.  There are also pressing problems such as mental 
health in children and some outcome areas where we should be better such as 
diabetes. 

 
Healthier behaviours are more prevalent in Oxfordshire, with higher than 
average levels of physical activity, fewer people overweight or obese, and 



4 

 

 

relatively low levels of smoking than nationally.  However obesity and diabetes 
are increasing locally with 55% of Oxfordshire’s adult population being 
overweight or obese. Linked to this the number of people with diabetes in 
Oxfordshire, which is forecast to increase by 32% to 41,000 by 2030.   
 
At the same time we have specific local challenges including 22,000 new 
homes being built in Didcot and 23,000 in Cherwell (including Bicester) and 
black and minority ethnic communities numbering 60,000 (9% of Oxfordshire’s 
population) in 2011, almost double the 2001 figure, with the largest increase in 
Oxford and Cherwell.  

 
A lot of progress has been made in integrating health and social care services 
across Oxfordshire; a number of care pathways have been transformed as a 
result of in-depth consultation with clinicians and patients; real difference to 
patients is being made as providers are being paid on patients’ outcomes 
rather than on them turning up for appointments.  GPs are working collectively 
to share resources, changing the way they deliver services and the 
implementation of locally based community health and social care teams is well 
underway. 
 
However in the past year Oxfordshire has fallen short of a number of national 
performance targets and we continue to struggle to reduce the number of 
people who are delayed in hospital.  Many of the problems we face require a 
whole-system approach to resolve them.  For example, we are aware that 
contributing factors to the problem of Delayed Transfers of Care (DToC) involve 
almost all parts of the system, from ambulance providers to social care teams 
and we are working through the Systems Resilience Group to collectively 
address them. 

 
Our challenge in Oxfordshire is to ensure the highest quality care for all patients 
within the finite resources available.  As a whole health and social care system 
we need to improve the quality of health and social care services provided in 
Oxfordshire ensuring they represent best value for money, while keeping the 
system in financial balance.  Achieving this will involve redesigning the wide 
range of health and care services currently provided locally.  Financial 
challenges facing the NHS means that we need to find savings in the region of 
£270 million by 2020/21 within Oxfordshire. This is money that we need to save 
to invest in meeting the new demands – it is not a saving as a result of 
resources being reduced. We also have to take account of financial pressures 
faced by local government and the challenges for social care. 
 
With the growth in demand due to an aging population, population growth and 
rising expectations amongst the public we need to respond by continuing to 
develop our services adopting emerging models of care where appropriate.  

 
  



5 

 

 

3. Vision for the future of health and social care in Oxfordshire 
 
Our initial vision for a new integrated health and social care system has been 
developed with support from leaders and medical directors across the system 
and is further supported by an emerging Out of Hospital Strategy.  It is depicted 
in Figure 1, below: 
 
 

 
 

Figure 1 

 
 
Figures 2 – 4, below, illustrate how services may operate in the future.  



6 

 

 

 
 

Figure 2 

 
 

 
 

Figure 3 



7 

 

 

 

 
 

 
Figure 4 

 
 

4. Oxfordshire’s Transformation Programme: scope, approach and 
priority areas 

 
The Transformation Board is part of the new ‘system architecture’ (see Figure 
5, below), bringing health and social partners together to address long-standing 
issues in Oxfordshire. 
 

 
Figure 5 



8 

 

 

 
The Transformation Board aims to bring coherence and simplicity to a number 
of change initiatives across Oxfordshire. 
 
The scope of the Transformation Board’s work includes strategic change 
programmes in: 
 

• Primary and community care 
• Urgent and emergency care 
• Older people 
• Mental health 
• Elective (planned) care 
• Maternity services 
• Children services 
• Public health/prevention 
• Supporting functions (e.g. IT, workforce, estates) 

 
As the Board is not an executive body, it will look to work through the existing 
structures in the county, e.g. the boards of individual organisations, the Health 
and Wellbeing Board (and the Oxfordshire Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee in terms of scrutiny). 

 
Since its inception in March 2015, the Transformation Board has made good 
progress in scoping the transformation programme and engaging executive 
teams across the system. 
 
The Board has now developed a case for change and a joint ambition for the 
future. The Board is in the process of building an evidence base and 
articulating possible future models of healthcare delivery. Comprehensive 
‘models of care’ will be developed in consultation with stakeholders over the 
coming months.  
 
This will build on existing initiatives such as the Prime Minister’s Challenge 
Fund to deliver primary care through modern channels; a range of integrated 
care teams to support people with complex needs; and Emergency 
Multidisciplinary Units (EMUs) across the county to assess and treat patients 
closer to home; as well as Older People and Mental Health Outcome Based 
Commissioning. 
 
The Board will also be reviewing the role and services provided by current 
community hospitals across Oxfordshire, and in particular how they support an 
ambulatory model of care. This model of care builds on the shift in Oxfordshire 
towards ambulatory care that has already been made with the introduction of 
the Emergency Multidisciplinary Units (EMUs) in Abingdon and Witney and the 
development of a Rapid Access Care Unit (RACU) in Henley. These Units are 
supported by GPs, community services and hospital specialist teams who work 
together to best meet the needs of patients by providing care in or close to their 



9 

 

 

home, wherever possible. This strand of work includes an assessment of 
healthcare provision delivered by local hospitals across the County.  
 
Our plans for the near future include working with stakeholders across the 
system to develop and test future health and social care models (autumn 2015 
– spring 2016), followed by a more formal consultation process with 
stakeholders on proposed changes (spring/early summer 2016).  Following the 
consultation, we would be aiming to make decisions about future ways of 
delivering social care and health in Oxfordshire – likely to be late summer 2016.  
 
The emerging Transformation Programme, spanning several years, will lead to 
services being delivered in new ways with increased emphasis on prevention, 
self-care, bringing more care into the community and further integration of 
health and social care.  
 
Our focus in the coming months will be on out-of-hospital care, i.e. co-
ordinating changes in primary care, community services, social care and acute 
services.  

 
 

5. Delivering the vision  
 

We believe all the stakeholders in the system have a clear understanding of the 
need for new care models that have the potential to deliver a better user 
experience, higher quality and the potential to lower costs (by as much as 
40%). All partner organisations support the vision and direction of travel. 
 
As stated: our aim will be to bring the bulk of care closer to home, recognising 
that  the best bed is, for majority of people, their own bed. This will of course 
require a cultural shift from reactive to proactive healthcare approaches and 
focus care more effectively around patients/service users, their families and 
local communities. 
 
However we do not build the future of health and care in Oxfordshire starting 
with a blank canvass; there are a number of initiatives already underway that 
will support system change. These include: 
 

 Formation of primary care federations 

 Prime Ministers Challenge Fund Schemes e.g. early visiting service; 
Skype consultations; cross-practice referrals  

 The Alliance (OHFT and OUHFT) to deliver Older People care 

 Mental Health partnership 

 Integrated Locality Teams bringing together community health workers 
with social workers and occupational therapists employed by the County 
Council so that they work together with GP’s to improve services for 
patients and service users 

 Emergency Medical Units (EMU’s) in Witney and Abingdon and the 
Townland Hospital Rapid Access Unit (RACU) 



10 

 

 

The Transformation Board is reviewing the portfolio of initiatives to ensure they 
fit with the vision and are aligned to transformation themes. 
 
While the exact governance arrangements are yet to be agreed, we envisage a 
number of projects grouped into programmes, each with a Senior Responsible 
Owner (CEO or Executive Director). 
 
A cross-organisational Programme Team, led by Programme Director and 
supported by CCG’s Portfolio Management Office (PMO) will support the 
delivery. 

 
 

5. Consultation and Engagement 
 

Our ‘case for change’ and emerging vision has been shared, and positively 
received, with Oxfordshire MP’s and Oxfordshire County Council’s Cabinet 
gaining encouragement and support for our bold local solutions. 
 
The ‘storyboard’ is not a strategy, blueprint or a detailed plan nor does it 
contain all the answers. Rather it is a common platform that allows us to begin 
a series of conversations with stakeholders to help us shape our future health 
and care service offer. 
 
The Transformation Board plans now include a period of pre-engagement with 
a wide range of partners through to the end of 2015. We will also be working 
with stakeholders to develop and test future health and social care models from 
now through to spring 2016. 

 
We are initiating discussions with the Oxfordshire’s Health and Wellbeing 
Board, HOSC and partner organisations’ Boards. 
 
This will be supported by a period of formal public consultation to help us shape 
our plans further in the spring/early summer of 2016. 

 
Oxfordshire will also have to satisfy the four tests set out in the 2014/15 
Mandate from the Government to NHS England around proposed service 
changes and demonstrate evidence of: 
 

 Strong public, patient and service user engagement 

 Consistency with current and prospective need for patient choice 

 A clear clinical evidence base 

 Support for proposals from clinical commissioners 
 
We are determined to ‘go slow to go fast’: spend necessary time engaging 
patients, carers and other stakeholders to ensure the case for change is 
understood and supported, before we move on to jointly creating solutions 
which will last well into the future. 
 



11 

 

 

Timeframe 
 

Transformation on the scale we are planning in Oxfordshire is complex and will 
take time. The ‘roadmap’ below is just indicative and gives an overview of the 
steps in the process for ‘Phase 1’ of the transformation (out-of-hospital 
care/older people integrated care). 

 

 
 
 

6. Next Steps 
  

The Transformation Board will provide a further report to HOSC in February 
2016 with an update showing how the pre-engagement phase has helped to 
further develop Oxfordshire’s transformation plans. 
 
Members of the Committee are invited to comment on the proposed approach 
and emerging vision. 
 

  



12 

 

 

Appendix 1 - Glossary 
 
 
Ambulatory Care: or outpatient care is medical care provided on an outpatient basis, 
including diagnosis, observation, consultation, treatment, intervention, and 
rehabilitation services. In other words, a patient is seen and treated by medical 
professionals without being admitted to hospital, and discharged to their ordinary 
places of residence as soon as practicable. 
 
Delayed transfers of care (DToC): is a situation when a person is fit enough to be 
discharged from hospital but is delayed because their onward care is not yet in place, 
e.g. no support to help them function in their own home; no place in care home etc. 
 
Emergency Medical Units (EMUs): the aim of the Emergency Multidisciplinary Units 
is to provide assessment and treatment for adults with sub-acute care needs as close 
to patients’ homes as possible. Providing medical, nursing and therapist assessments 
and treatments, the units are designed to offer patients a faster and more convenient 
alternative to admission to an acute hospital. EMUs operate in Witney and Abingdon 
and are a means of delivering ambulatory care (see above). 
 
Five Year Forward View/ Five Year Forward View Into Action: National policy 
documents, published by NHS England, in June/December 2015, painting a vision for 
the future of the NHS. A key premise is breaking down the barrier between primary 
and secondary care to ensure seamless and coordinated care for patients based in 
the community with less reliance on acute care for managing long term conditions.  
Five Year Forward View, DH, June 2015: Five Year Forward View Into Action: 
Planning for 2015/16, DH, December 2015  
 
Transformation Board: non-executive body set up in March 2015 by Oxfordshire's 
health and social care partner organisations – Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust; 
Oxford University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust; Oxfordshire Clinical 
Commissioning Group; Oxfordshire County Council; South Central Ambulance Service 
NHS Foundation Trust; and primary care federations - to drive longer term system 
transformation  
 
Rapid Access Care Unit (RACU): Unit at the new Townlands Hospital that will 
provide a next day service led by a consultant and a team of health and social care 
professionals including community nurses, physiotherapy and occupational therapy 
practitioners, social care staff, mental health staff and hospital clinicians. The service 
would be open seven days a week (8am-8pm) with consultant led clinics Monday to 
Saturday mornings. The RACU will provide assessment and treatment of patients with 
a crisis or deterioration in their health or long term condition – including patients with 
complex medical, social and/or mental health needs. The service would offer a next 
day clinic so that patients could be assessed by a consultant and then, if needed 
could receive diagnostic tests or treatments such as blood transfusions and 
intravenous antibiotics all on the same day. RACU is a means of delivering ambulatory 
care (see above). 
 



13 

 

 

‘Storyboard’: a document agreed by health and social care partner organisations 
setting out the case for change and vision for future of healthcare in Oxfordshire; it is 
not a strategy or a blueprint. Storyboard will now be used to engage stakeholders in 
discussions about transformation 
 
System Leadership Group: system-wide Chief Executives’ forum for coordinating 
strategic issues 
 
System Resilience Group: system-wide forum for driving in-year performance and 
resolving operational issues 
  



14 

 

 

Appendix 2 - Oxfordshire Healthcare Transformation Programme Storyboard 
 
 
 
 



0 0 

Abingdon Federation 

South East Federation 

Oxfordshire Healthcare Transformation Programme 
Discussion Document 

Our Vision for Oxfordshire –  

Best Care, Best Outcomes, Best Value for all the people of Oxfordshire 



1 1 

The 675k population of Oxfordshire currently enjoys good overall health 
outcomes…. 
 

Oxfordshire performance across many outcome 

metrics is top quartile nationally 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

Oxfordshire 

Bath 

Richmond 

Manchester 

East Lancs 

Unitary Authority 

A
g
e
-s

ta
n
d
a
rd

is
e
d
 r

a
te

 o
f 
m

o
rt

a
lit

y
 f

ro
m

 c
a
u
s
e
s
 

c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 p

re
v
e
n
ta

b
le

 (
p
e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0
) 

Mortality rate from preventable causes 

By Unitary Authority, 2011-13 

Outcome 

measure 

OCCG Eng 

avg 

Eng 

rank 

Under 75 

mortality 

rates 

Respiratory 20 28 

CVD 52 65 

Cancer 103 122 

One year 

survival 

from 

cancers 

All 71% 68% 

Breast, 

Lung, 

Colorectal 

71% 69% 

Top quartile of 

CCGs nationally 

Source: CCG Outcomes Tool, Jan 2015; House of Care; Public Health England Outcomes Framework  

NB: Mortality rates are per 100,000 population 



2 2 

…with low levels of hospitalisation, although these outcomes are not uniform 
across the county  

Gap in proportion of those ‘not in good’ health by 

district and socio-economic group  

 

24

17
16

1515

18

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

24

South 

East 

Region 

Vale of 

White 

Horse 

 A
g

e
-s

ta
n

d
a
rd

is
e
d

 r
a
te

s
 o

f 
m

e
n

 a
n

d
 w

o
m

e
n

 i
n

  
"
n

o
t 

g
o

o
d

"
 h

e
a
lt

h
 i
n

 e
a
c
h

 s
o

c
io

-e
c
o

n
o

m
ic

 g
ro

u
p

  

 

South 

Oxfordshire 

West 

Oxfordshire 

Cherwell Oxford 

city 

Higher inequality 

than South-East avg 

Low levels of hospitalisation 

Emergency hospital admissions (chronic ACS) 

 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

Oxfordshire 

Bath 

East Surrey 

East Lancs 

Manchester 

CCG 

National 

average 

E
m

e
rg

e
n

c
y
 a

d
m

is
s
io

n
s
 (

p
e
r 

1
0
0
.0

0
0
 p

o
p
u
la

ti
o
n
) 

Source: Slope Index of Inequality Health Gap Oxfordshire Public Health Surveillance Dashboard, 2011 Census; CCG Outcomes Tool, Mar 2015; House of Care 

Note: Manchester refers to Central, North and South Manchester CCGs 



3 3 

Black and minority ethnic 

communities numbered 60k (9% 

of Oxfordshire) in ’11, almost 

double the ’01 figure (largest 

increase in Oxford and Cherwell) 

Oxfordshire’s health needs are changing, driven by increasing chronic 
disease and ageing as well as births from the growing populations of Bicester 
and Didcot 

Oxfordshire challenges as a microcosm of 

England 

Additional locality specific challenges 

 

Ageing population 

• Historic increases, to accelerate in future: 

– 65+: 18% increase  forecasted to grow to 

140k people by 2025 

– 85+: 30% increase forecasted to grow to 

22k people by 2025 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0.7 

0.6 

0.5 

0.0 

2013-14 2012-13 2011-12 D
e
m

e
n

ti
a

 d
ia

g
n

o
s
is

 r
a

te
 

OCCG 

England 

Dementia prevalence rising 

Obesity and diabetes continue to increase 

• “61% of Oxfordshire’s adult population were 

overweight or obese” 

• The number of people with diabetes is 

forecasted to jump 32% to 41,000 by 2030 

22,000 new homes are planned 

to be built in Bicester and Didcot  

Source: Oxfordshire JSNA, March 2015; APHO Diabetes Prevalence Model for England, 2009; Most Capable Provider Assessment – Older People, June 2014 



4 4 

There are some outcome areas where we should be better, ie. diabetes, and 
there are pressing problems, eg. mental health in children which require 
scaled system wide solutions 

“A small number of patients (10%) consumes a 

significant amount of diabetes budget (82%) 

…the diabetes services is disconnected and 

contributes to variation in care” 

Diabetes complication rates 

National Diabetes Audit, 2012-13 

-31%

-12%

2%

16%18%
23%

46%

Minor Major Heart 

failure 

Heart 

attack 

Stroke Angina Renal 

replacement 

therapy 

Worse than  national average 

“the referral rate in Oxfordshire has 

increased by about 12% year on 

year…The service is currently meeting the 

targets to see young people who are referred 

as an emergency. However, we have seen an 

increase in waiting times for the assessment 

of routine referrals into services … more 

than one in four children wait 

more than 12 weeks and some 

much longer”  

 

Child and Adolescent Mental Health service 

review 

2015 

“there is insufficient capacity in 

Tier 4 [inpatient] beds and work is 

underway…to increase integration of Tier 3 

and Tier 4 services to support young people’s 

discharge back to local services”  

A
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
ri

s
k
 o

f 
c
o
m

p
lic

a
ti
o
n
 a

b
o
v
e
 

n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
v
e
ra

g
e
 (

%
) 

Amputation 

Source: National Diabetes Audit 2012-13, Report 2; CAMHS review, 2015; The Future of Diabetes Services in Oxfordshire, Public Engagement Report 



5 5 

 

Over 80% of our hospital resources are used by around 10% of the 
population… 

14% 
£56m 

32% 
£124m 

54% 
£210m 

Patient 

segments 

Cost 

breakdown 

High cost 

> £5k 

Mid cost 

£1k - £5k 

Low 

cost 

<£1k 

Patient 

cost 

category 

Source: SUS data 2014-15, based on Oxfordshire CCG GP practice activity; Oliver Wyman analysis 

• For some people, care costs 

are appropriately high due to 

the nature of their diseases. 

Examples include patients 

receiving treatment for certain 

genetic conditions or cancers 

 

• But for many others, costs can 

be greatly reduced if care is 

organised more effectively or 

in ways that help people 

prevent avoidable 

deteriorations in health  

Patient segmentation by hospital spend 

Over 80% of 

spend driven 

by ~10% of 

Oxfordshire 

residents 

88% 
577k  

3% 
19k 

9% 
58k 



6 6 

…and we are increasingly struggling across the system to deliver good 
access for the population when they require it   

Primary 

care over-

loaded 

20% choose to visit 

A&E rather than GP 

• A&E attendances rising 

by 1-3% yearly 

 

Commissioning 

53% more home 

care1 than in 2011 

• An average of 12 days 

between clients’ being 

ready and receiving long-

term home care2 

A&E under 

severe 

strain 

Rising 

social care  

activity 

Some patients are struggling 

to access their GPs: 

• 29% reported the 

length of wait as 

unacceptable 
 

1. Joint Commissioning Team, OCC: 30% increase in clients, but a 53% increase in home care purchased; 2. Median of 12 days in 2014/15 

Source: Healthwatch Oxfordshire GP Survey, October 2014; Horsefair surgery survey; PMCF; SUS 2014/15; Oxfordshire County Council 

System unbalanced – struggling to create space and 

capacity for care delivery consistently in the right settings 

 

Management of long term 

conditions: 

• 31% said they 

received good 

care managing 

their long term 

condition 

Severe 

system 

pressure 



7 7 

While our Trusts are efficient and our GPs are beginning to work together at 
scale… 

Reference costs for Oxfordshire’s Trusts 

2011/12 to 2013/14 

Over 90% of GP practices in Oxfordshire are already 

organised in Federations, with a further 1 underway 

 

 

• Formed by 15 local GPs in 2004, growing rapidly to 

encompass 40 practices by 2007, and 60% of 

Oxfordshire’s practices today 

• Coverage across:  

– NOxMed (North Oxfordshire) 

– OneMed (North East Oxfordshire) 

– ValeMed (South West Oxfordshire) 

– WestMed (West Oxfordshire) 

 

• Federation of 22 NHS GP Practices 

predominantly in and around Oxford 

 

OxFed (Oxford Federation for General  

Practice and Primary Care) 

Principal Medical Ltd (founded in 2004) 

Source: OUH IBP, October 2014; OH Strategic Plan 2014-2019; PMCF application.   

The Abingdon Federation 

105 

110 

100 

95 

90 

85 

0 

89 

103 

2011/12 

108 

National 

avg 

107 

88 

2012/13 2013/14 

OH 

OUH 

• Federation of 6 NHS GP Practices 

 South East Federation 

• Federation of 7 NHS GP Practices being established 

 



8 8 

…rising activity and growing workforce gaps will challenge our sustainability 

1. Joint Commissioning Team, OCC: While yearly demand has increased ~10%, in 2015 reduced supply / workforce issues constrained the purchase of e.g. care home/ long-term care for +65s;  

2. Includes vacancies, bank and agency staff 

Source: JSNA Annual Summary Report; Healthwatch Oxfordshire GP Survey, 2014; Adult Social Care Workforce Strategy 2015 to 2018; Adult Social Care Workforce,  

February 2014; SCAS Report; OH Workforce report; OUH Workforce analysis; Horsefair Surgery, Banbury, 2014 GP survey; SUS 2014/15; Oliver Wyman analysis 

Workforce shortages are challenging 

organisations across the system 

1 in 10 of 
our posts is 
not filled by 
a permanent 
employee2 

64% of practices find it hard to recruit GP partners 

48% of GPs are planning to retire or take a career break in 

the next five years 

                

  

Activity is increasing in all areas across the 

system year-on-year 

 GP practices increasingly over-burdened 

 79% recorded ‘one or more GPs 

experiencing burn out‘ due to increasing 

pressure of work 

 Increasing community care: 

~6%  District nursing interactions 

 Increasing social care demand: 

~10%  in demand for social care1 

 Increasing mental health demand: 

~5%   mental health referrals 

Social and  

Community 

GP 

Mental Health 

 Increasing secondary care activity: 

 1-3%  A&E attendances  

~1%  Non-elective admissions + 



9 9 

Our research base is one of the strongest in the UK, attracting global talent and 
helping generate considerable employment and wealth for the county 

• Ranked #1 nationally for volume of world-

leading research in medical sciences 

• Ranked as the World’s best 

medical school by Times Higher 

Education University Rankings 

• 3rd consecutive year of first place 

• Medical Sciences the largest 

Division at The University of 

Oxford 

• UK #1 for spin-outs in 2010-20121 

• “We host arguably the largest life 
science cluster in Europe”2 

• 550 life sciences companies in the 
region, including some of the most 
successful biotech start-ups in the 
UK 

• “Oxford is one of the largest 
biomedical research centres 

in Europe, with >2,500 people 
[directly] involved in research 

and >2,800 students” 

• High tech firms in Oxfordshire 
employ around 43,000 people 

The world-leading medical school A powerful and deep research base 

Employment Wealth 4 

1 2 

3 

1. PraxisUnico Spinouts UK Survey Annual Report 2013; 2. AHSN Annual Review 14/15 

Source: Research Excellence Framework (REF), 2014; NIHR BRC; OUH IBP, Oct 2014; Times Higher Education; AHSC Application; The Oxfordshire Innovation Engine, SQW, 2014 

• Largest number of patients enrolled 

in clinical trials of any AHSC Trust 

(3rd largest AHSC) 

• Supported by significant public and 

private investment 

• Nationally leading Primary Care and 

Psychiatry research  



10 10 

Oxfordshire provides a wide range of specialised services to a catchment of 
2.5-3 million people 

Source: OUH IBP, October 2014; OH Annual Report 2013-14 

Note: OUH also provides services in Dorset, Greater London and Hampshire; OH in Swindon, North East Somerset, and Wiltshire 

Our reputation for specialised services has a 

footprint across Oxfordshire and beyond 

OUH and OH are at the forefront of specialised 

services 

Regional centre for e.g. National centre for e.g. 

– Trauma 

– Vascular Surgery 

– Cancer 

– Neonatal Intensive Care 

– Primary Coronary 

Intervention 

– Stroke 

 

– Diagnostic services 

(including rare congenital 

neuromuscular and 

mitochondrial disorders) 

– Transplantation services 

(including abdominal wall 

and pancreatic islets) 

Oxford University Hospitals is 

one of largest suppliers of 

specialised commissioning 

services 

OH offers a range of regional and national specialised 

services, e.g.: 

– Medium secure mental health 

– Tier 4 CAMHS 

– Pathfinder service  for those with personality disorders (for 

Oxfordshire, Buckinghamshire and Berkshire) 

– Adult Eating Disorders 

Avon 
Berkshire 

Gloucestershire 

Wiltshire 

Warwickshire 

Buckinghamshire 

Northamptonshire 

Oxfordshire 

Catchment of ~2.5-

3 million people 

Key: Illustrative sites at which 

OUH/ OH operate outside 

Oxfordshire 

OUH operated 

OH operated 



11 11 

Local delivery of the NHS 5YFV will require a more transformational 
approach 

<25%4 from 

traditional Acute 

operational productivity 

Local NHS 5YFV target by 

2020/21… 

… that will increasingly require us 

to work differently 

…which in the context of our 

spend today is a substantial 

figure… 

1. Oxfordshire’s estimated share of £22bn efficiency challenge 

2. Based on CCG net administration costs Oxfordshire CCG Annual Report 2013-14 

3. Carter Operational Productivity Report, June 2015 

4. 5FYV assumes 2% efficiencies for first two years, 3% thereafter thanks to New Models of Care contribution 

Source: OH Annual Report 2013-14; OUH Annual Report 2013-14; OCC Annual Report 2013-14; OCCG Annual Report 2013-14; Review of Operational Productivity in NHS Providers, 

Interim Review, June 2015 

~£270m
1 

or 

>100% of CCG 

spend on mental health, 

learning disability, 

community & primary care 

or 

>50% of nurse and 

midwives’ salaries at Oxford 

University Hospitals in a 

year 

18 years2   
of CCG admin. costs 

 >75% from 

other areas /  

approaches including 

transformational new 

models of care focused 

on better value 

Estimated sources of local 5YFV 

efficiency challenge3: 



12 12 

Our newer services are increasingly tailored to support self care and person-
centred care… 

Newer service examples 

Enhanced access 

e.g. single point of 

access, patient navigator 

support, telephone or e-

consultations 

1. Building on the Oxfordshire Care Summary 

Personal responsibility 

• Delivery models designed 

around the patient 

• Integrated, team-based 

delivery supported by 

interoperable systems and 

flexible infrastructure 

• Transformed outcomes 

focused on sustained 

better health and value 

• People engage in their 

health and wellbeing 

• Shift to prevention / 

wellness 

• Intent to improve 

accessibility and 

wellness, supported by 

more self-care and care 

in the home 

 

Rapid Access Teams 

Dedicated local  

urgent care 

True Colours 

Self-management 

Mental Health app to 

prevent deterioration 

Emergency 

Multidisciplinary Units 

Local emergency facilities 

for rapid response 

Supported by a widely used interoperable I.T. 

platform supporting transformation and patient 

interaction 1 

Person-centred care 



13 13 

…and by 2020 we will have made significant changes that aligned our staff 
and infrastructure… 

Patient-centred care 

Staff make full use of 

their skillsets, cutting 

across organisational 

boundaries, supported 

by agile, interoperable 

IT 

 

 

 

Significant changes to 

buildings and beds so 

that people are only 

admitted to a bed when 

and where it’s absolutely 

appropriate to their needs  

Accountability to 

patients will be clear 

and consistent – a 

designated clinician will 

be responsible for the 

patient 24/7 

Resources and 

infrastructure will be 

reallocated to match  

need and enhance 

convenience, e.g. on-line 

monitoring, longer 

appointments available 

through various channels, 

diagnostic centres in the 

community etc  

‘The best bed is your own bed’ 



14 14 

Day 10 

Mrs Smith feels very breathless and calls 999. 

An ambulance takes her to A&E. 

Day 11 – 17  

Mrs Smith is admitted to a medical ward. 

She needs aggressive drug treatment 

and water restriction to remove the excess fluid.  

She develops hospital-acquired pneumonia. 

In hospital 

… in this way patients will be more effectively supported 

Today’s system 

Illustrative example: Avoiding a crisis in a patient with heart failure 

Our ambition for 2020 

Quality of life impaired 

Cost: £4000 + £80/month for oxygen 

 

 

Quality of life maintained 

Cost: £200 

 

Day 4-5 

Crisis passes 

Day 1-3 

• A dedicated nurse calls and 

sends a car to bring her for 

same-day assessment 

Automatic 
algorithm alerts 

team to the 
build-up in 

weight caused 
by fluid 

retention 

• Each morning, Mrs Smith 

steps on wireless bathroom 

scales – information is 

transmitted to a central hub 

Dedicated clinic in 

a primary care or  

community setting 

• Mrs Smith’s medication is 

changed and a plan agreed 

for gentle fluid restriction 

0 

5 

10 

15 

20 

Days 

Day 0  

Fluid build up 

0 

4 

Days 

Day 5 

Mrs Smith notices her ankles are more puffy. 

Day 8 

Mrs Smith feels more breathless walking up stairs. 

Day 18+ 

Permanent lung damage 
Discharged on home oxygen (potentially forever) 

A steady deterioration in Mrs Smith’s heart condition 

causes a build up of fluid in her body – because this is 

a gradual process, she does not notice it happening. 

• Mrs Smith returns home 



15 15 

To deliver our joint ambition for health and social care in Oxfordshire, we 
have a number of programmes of work under way 

Place-based primary and community care 
New/improved services, e.g. email/Skype consultations; early home visiting; appointments at other than 

‘own’ GP practices; diagnostics and specialist care ‘on the doorstep’; changing role of community hospitals 

Older people integrated care 

Mental health partnership NHS and voluntary sector partnership providing mental health services 24 hours/day, 7 days/week 

Elective (planned) care 
Improving ‘planned’ services (e.g. musculoskeletal, Bladder & Bowel, Ophthalmology) to offer better access, 

waiting times and patient experience 

Maternity services 
Changes to existing services to meet the needs of Oxfordshire’s growing population (e.g. new services for 

Didcot and Bicester) 

Children services 
Multi-agency working, focus on prevention and intervention (e.g. public health, safeguarding, ‘problem 

families’) 

Prevention and population health 
Investing in prevention to address problems arising later on; targeted services for different patient cohorts 

(e.g. complex needs/long-term conditions) 

Learning disabilities 
Integrating mental and physical health care for people with learning disabilities with health mainstream 

services so that everyone in Oxfordshire gets their physical and mental health support from the same health 

services – whether or not they have a learning disability 

Programme This includes… 

Urgent and emergency care system 
Timely urgent/emergency care services provided at the right time in the right place including community 
care hubs; ambulatory care - prompt, multi-disciplinary assessment and treatment e.g. EMU 

Urgent healthcare services for older people and adults with complex health problems (e.g. community care 
hubs; ambulatory care: prompt, co-ordinated assessment and treatment) 



Access > Continuity 
For some people, prompt and timely 
access to primary care is the 
priority; this includes acutely ill 
adults and children, people with 
unstable health conditions and 
workers. 

Continuity > Access 
For many people, continuity of 
care is especially important to 
improve their health; this includes 
people with long-term health 
conditions, multiple health 
conditions, people with mental 
health needs and those with 
complex social circumstances. 

One of the biggest challenges for primary care in Oxfordshire is providing 
better continuity for people who need it, whilst simultaneously improving 
access within limited resources... 

  
 

Access 

Continuity 

Best 
Health 

Outcomes 

Contribution of Primary Care to Health Systems and Health. National and international evidence demonstrates that the health of populations is strongly 
linked to the accessibility and continuity of their primary care services.11Starfield B et al. (2005).  

 



17 17 

Releasing the power of primary to develop new models of care in 
collaboration with acute, community and social care will deliver key 
improvements in health and service sustainability for Oxfordshire 

Funding and system-wide support will enable us to  

 

We will invest in primary care now to secure: 

• Improved health and wellbeing outcomes, reducing health inequalities 

• More accessible, localised care for individual patients and families 

• Improved skil-mix in the community setting  

• Greater efficiency with the primary care workforce enabled to work to the ‘top of its grade’ 

• Reduced expenditure on avoidable hospital care and Delayed Transfers of Care 

• Improved staff morale, recruitment and retention 

• Rebalancing funds to shift of care closer to home 

Stratify local population’s health needs and the care they require  

Bring the bulk of care closer to home 

Shift from reactive to proactive healthcare approaches 

Focus care more effectively around patients, families and local communities 



18 18 

Delivering our vision for Oxfordshire will require extensive engagement and 
careful planning. Here are indicative timescales for taking this forward… 

Jan – Mar ‘16 Apr – Jun ‘16 Jul – Sep ‘16 Oct – Dec ‘16 Activity Sep – Dec ‘15 

Discussions with stakeholders about the 

new model of care for Oxfordshire 

Internal and external 

assurance/approvals 

Consultation 

Decision 

Implementation* 

Detailed proposal / business case 

development 

Stakeholder engagement and communications 

*NB Some transformation initiatives, e.g. Prime Minister’s Challenge Fund projects, do not 

require formal consultation. Their implementation is under way 

 

♦ NHS 

Strategic 

sense 

check 

♦ NHS assurance 

checkpoint 



19 19 

 

We would welcome your views 

What do you think? How do you want to be involved and kept informed 

of developments 

 

• Sign up to Talking Health: the CCG online consultation tool and we will 

send you notifications of the work and updates: 

https://consult.oxfordshireccg.nhs.uk  

 

• Send us a letter: Communications & Engagement Team Oxfordshire 

Clinical Commissioning Group, FREEPOST RRRKBZBTASXU, Jubilee 

House, 5510 John Smith Drive, Oxford Business Park South, OXFORD, 

OX4 2LH 

 

• Phone: 01865 334638 

 

• Email: cscsu.talkinghealth@nhs.net 



Page 1 of 5                                                      Healthwatch report to HOSC   September 17th 2015  
 
 

 

 

1. Introduction 

1.1 Healthwatch Oxfordshire has recently completed a project with Age UK Oxfordshire to 

determine the extent to which national standards on dignity in care are being 

delivered in Oxfordshire, and to celebrate examples of outstanding care through the 

Oxfordshire Dignity in Care Awards scheme. 

 

1.2 The full report is attached, and includes commitments to action by Oxfordshire County 

Council, Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group, Oxford University Hospital NHS 

Foundation Trust and Oxford Health Foundation Trust.  

 

1.3 The report also includes details of the 10 winners of the 2015 Oxfordshire Dignity in 

Care Awards, selected by a panel convened by Age UK Oxfordshire from nearly 40 

entries, all describing examples of exemplary care in the county. 

 

 

1.4 The project took as its starting point the national Dignity Council’s 10 Dignity Do’s. 

They state that “high quality services that respect people's dignity should: 

 

i. Have a zero tolerance of all forms of abuse 

ii. Support people with the same respect you would want for yourself or a member of your 

family 

iii. Treat each person as an individual by offering a personalised service 

iv. Enable people to maintain the maximum possible level of independence, choice and 

control 

v. Listen and support people to express their needs and wants 

vi. Respect people's right to privacy 

vii. Ensure people feel able to complain without fear of retribution 

viii. Engage with family members and carers as care partners 

ix. Assist people to maintain confidence and positive self-esteem 

x. Act to alleviate people's loneliness and isolation.” (Dignity in Care, 2015) 

 

1.5 The report found that providers were doing very well on standards ii and vi:  

 

 93% (146) of patients responded they had been treated with dignity or respect ‘some of 

the time’, ‘most of the time’ or ‘always’ 

 95% (147) of people had felt their right to privacy had been respected ‘always’, ‘most 

of the time’ or ‘some of the time’. 

 

1.6 However, as we asked more probing questions some issues emerged that suggest there 

are still significant areas for improvement, particularly in relation to communication 

and supporting staff to give of their best. 

 



Page 2 of 5                                                      Healthwatch report to HOSC   September 17th 2015  
 
 

 

2. Communication 

 

2.1 We identified several discrete areas where communication needs to be improved. 

 

2.1.1 Providers need to do more when people need help communicating: 

 

• 67% (24) who needed a formal advocate were not offered one  

• 77% (20) responded that they were ‘never’ provided with the communications 

assistance they required 

 

2.1.2 Providers need to improve the involvement of patients, service users and their 

families in care planning and decision making: 

 

• 31% (33) were ‘never’ or ‘occasionally’ informed of changes to their services, and when 

any new treatments would start. 

 

• 14% (14) reported that their care providers hadn’t appropriately involved people they 

had asked to be involved in their care. 

 

2.1.3 Providers need to get better at making sure people understand what they are being 

told: 

  

 35% (54), either did not understand explanations of their care or treatment or only 

understood ‘to some extent’. 

 

2.2 Healthwatch has therefore recommended that: 

 Communication be improved between staff and patients and their families, 

understanding that this communication must be two-way.  

 Access to support services which facilitate dignified care be more widely 

promoted and offered.  

 Discussions about maintaining dignity be included in staff training and 

induction, and that this training should include: dementia awareness, limiting 

jargon and using plain English, two-way communication and a broader 

understanding of dignity.  

2.3 Commitments already made to improve communication include the following: 

 

Oxfordshire County Council  

• Is developing Home Care Standards which require providers to meet dignity 

standards such as staff introducing themselves and helping at a pace that suits 

the client 

• Has commissioned an expanded advocacy service. 

 

 



Page 3 of 5                                                      Healthwatch report to HOSC   September 17th 2015  
 
 

Oxford University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust  

• Will review advocacy arrangements at the Trust to ensure that access to 

advocates and other support is improved 

• Will review the inclusion of dignity and respect on staff induction and other 

training 

• Is developing a “knowing me” care planning document. 

 

Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust  

• Are updating questions in all their patient surveys to include a dignity in care 

question so that they can monitor the improvements they make 

• Are delivering a full programme of initiatives designed to improve patient and 

carer involvement in planning their own care. 

 

3. Workplace culture 

 

3.1 We heard some good, and not so good examples of how services are being delivered: 

But again, these headline stories masked some very specific areas where improvement 

needs to be made: The providers need to give staff the time they need to deliver high 

quality care. 

• 94.7% (54) of staff agreed or strongly agreed that they were satisfied with the levels of 

dignity in care they give to patients. But, they emphasised the need to have staffing 

levels sufficient to create enough time to deliver care in a way that honours dignity: 

3.1.1 Providers need to help all staff understand all 10 Dignity Do’s. Some staff clearly 

understood that dignity in care is about much more than privacy: 

But others used dignity and privacy interchangeably, and defined dignity as 

follows: 

 “ The correct equipment to be used, towels to cover people, doors shut, curtains 

shut. Knocking on doors and waiting before entering” 

 “When all equipment is in places making sure curtains and doors are shut when 

discussing care”. 

3.1.2 Similarly providers need to help staff make the right choices when they are not 

sure whether to follow the dignity policy or the choice policy - particularly when 

patients lack the capacity to make good choices. We heard, for example, that 

patients were sometimes not changed and cleaned after soiling or wetting 

themselves, because patients had ‘chosen’ not to, and that patients were 

sometimes still in bed late into the afternoon because they had ‘chosen’ to stay in 

bed. 

 

 

 



Page 4 of 5                                                      Healthwatch report to HOSC   September 17th 2015  
 
 

3.1.3 Finally the report found that providers need to work harder across Oxfordshire to 

make it feel safe for people to make a complaint or to report abuse: 

 

 25% (39) had wanted to make a formal complaint about their care or treatment  

 44% (17) did not feel that they could complain without worrying about the 

consequences 

 11% (16) of respondents said they had witnessed abuse or had been abused 13 

people answered a follow-up question about reporting instances of abuse. 5 had 

reported the abuse to staff, 5 had felt unable to and 3 did not have the opportunity 

to report abuse 

 

3.2 In the light of these findings Healthwatch Oxfordshire has recommended that: 

 

 Providers and commissioners work to ensure staff have the time to care, by 

increasing the proportion of time they spend with patients. This could be done 

through continued work to improve processes and paperwork, work to decrease 

staff sickness or through increasing allotted time for specific tasks.  

 Commissioners and providers in Oxfordshire broaden the discussion on dignity in 

work places, so that it encompasses all elements of dignified care (the Dignity 

Do’s can provide a guide) and that this discussion inform training and the 

development of care models or pathways.  

 Staff be helped to focus on the balance between patient choice and dignity, 

particularly when patients have a diminished capacity to make choices.  

 Providers do further work to develop an open culture that learns from 

complaints and isn’t defensive so that patients and carers feel able to make 

complaints/report abuse without fear of repercussions.  

 

 

3.3 Commitments already made to try and create more dignity friendly workplaces 

include: 

 

Oxfordshire County Council:  

• Already supports providers to recruit people for their commitment to values such 

as dignity and respect 

• Ran a workshop for residential care home staff to explore the need to share 

learning from complaints 

 

Oxford University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust: 

• Will review the training it offers on dignity and respect 

• Is piloting a scheme to help increase direct contact care time where this is needed 

• Has developed a new PALS escalation system for inpatients 

 

Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust: 

• Will take the Dignity Do standards into account when they design and review all 

training courses  



Page 5 of 5                                                      Healthwatch report to HOSC   September 17th 2015  
 
 

• Will continue to undertake a 6 monthly review on all wards of direct care time, 

with identification at Board level of improvements that need to be made. 

Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group has pledged to monitor progress on making 

improvements through its ongoing quality assurance work. 

 

4. Next steps 

If Healthwatch Oxfordshire resources allow, once the county council’s budget for 

2016/17 is finalised, we will work with providers and commissioners to get some more 

specific timelines and measurement criteria for the improvements they have 

promised, and will report back on the progress made.  





1 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

   

 

 
 

 

  

Dignity 
in Care 
Experiences in Oxfordshire 

Healthwatch Oxfordshire 

November 2015 



2 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“ I don’t want another report that sits on a shelf” 

 

-Carer, focus group 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



3 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

Contents 

1 Executive Summary .............................................................. 5 

2 Commitments to take action ................................................. 10 

2.1 Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group ............................ 10 

2.2 Oxfordshire County Council ............................................. 10 

2.3 Oxford University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust Response ....... 11 

2.4 Oxford Health Foundation Trust Response ............................ 12 

3 Background ...................................................................... 14 

3.1 Background and introduction............................................ 14 

3.2 Methodology ............................................................... 15 

3.3.1 Enter and View ............................................................. 16 

3.3.2 Questionnaire Development .............................................. 17 

3.3.3 Data Analysis................................................................ 17 

4 Views from patients and service users ...................................... 18 

4.1 Respondent profile ....................................................... 18 

4.2 Views on dignity and treatment ........................................ 19 

4.3 Views on communication ................................................ 26 

4.4 Views on involvement .................................................... 32 

4.5 Views on feedback and complaints ..................................... 33 

5 Views from patient focus groups and case studies ........................ 37 

6 Views of health and care staff ............................................... 43 

7 References ...................................................................... 50 

Appendix 1:  Case Studies and Focus Group reports. ........................... 52 

Patient Story 1 .................................................................... 52 

Patient Story 2 .................................................................... 59 

Patient Story 3 .................................................................... 61 

Patient Story 4 .................................................................... 63 

Patient Story 5 .................................................................... 64 

Patient Story 6 .................................................................... 65 

Patient Story 7 .................................................................... 66 



4 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

Focus Group 1 ..................................................................... 69 

Focus Group 2 ..................................................................... 77 

Focus Group 3 ..................................................................... 80 

Appendix 2:  Dignity in Care Award Winners 2015 .............................. 82 

Appendix 3 – Detailed responses from commissioners and providers ........ 88 

Oxfordshire County Council response .......................................... 88 

Oxford University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust Response ............... 93 

Oxford Health Foundation Trust Response .................................... 96 

Appendix 4 & 5:  Data tables, questionnaires and guides .................... 102 

 



5 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

1 Executive Summary 

 

Healthwatch Oxfordshire and Age UK Oxfordshire undertook a project from 

March 2015 to November 2015 to better understand dignity in health and 

social care across Oxfordshire.  

 

Healthwatch led on a mixed qualitative and quantitative study, designed to 

find out if national dignity standards, or ‘Dignity Do’s’ were being met 

across Oxfordshire. The project included questionnaires for patients and 

staff which were made available online. Volunteers also completed 

questionnaires with patients in their health or care settings. A total of 161 

patients and 57 staff responded. For the qualitative stage, six focus groups 

were conducted and 10 case studies of experiences were received to bring a 

depth of understanding to the project. Age UK led on promoting and 

developing the Dignity in Care Awards to highlight areas of good practice 

across the county. They sought nominations and assembled a panel of 

patients and lay people to make the awards (see Appendix 2).  

 

The findings of the Healthwatch project were mixed. The majority of people 

in Oxfordshire who completed our survey reported that they have received 

services with dignity. However, the experiences reported by people who 

need communication assistance or have dementia, for example, were not 

always dignified, and in a small number of cases were shocking. The case 

studies and focus groups revealed details of how things can go wrong and 

tell powerful stories about the impact on individuals of receiving care that 

does not meet dignity standards. The staff survey findings show a workforce 

that believes strongly in the importance of delivering dignity, but which is 

feeling that workforce pressures are making it difficult to deliver. 

 

Age UK received so many nominations of excellent examples of care, that 

we have increased the number of awards being made to celebrate when and 

where we get care right for local people in Oxfordshire. Full details of the 

Dignity in Care Awards being made as part of this project can be found in 

Appendix 2. 

  

The main body of this report presents and analyses only the data gathered 

by Healthwatch Oxfordshire for this project. This analysis should be 

considered alongside the other data on dignity which commissioners and 

providers regularly collect. For example, each February Oxfordshire County 

Council takes part in a national survey of people who use adult social care. 

In 2015, 513 people responded to the survey in Oxfordshire and 90% said 



6 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

they were satisfied with services with 5% expressing dissatisfaction and 5% 

expressing no view.  

 

Oxford University Hospitals Foundation Trust takes part in the National 

Inpatient Survey. The 2014 survey had a response rate of 53% and 86% of 

respondents said they were always treated with dignity and respect, a 

further 12% said sometimes. 87% rated their care 7/10 or above.  

 

Oxfordshire CCG uses extensive survey data, including the national patient 

survey programme and the friends and family test to assure themselves that 

the majority of patients in Oxfordshire have a very good experience of 

healthcare.  

 

In addition to participating in national surveys, Oxford Health NHS 

Foundation Trust surveys the patients and service users of all its services at 

least once a year. Its internal surveys include four trust-wide questions 

which are then reported to the Trust Board. These are reported by 

Directorate with the Older People’s Directorate being most positive with 

85% of patients being involved as much as they would like in their care and 

having trust and confidence in their service or clinician. For the Adult 

Services Directorate, these figures vary more from month to month but in 

September were about 50%. In the Children and Young People’s Directorate, 

about 50% were involved as much as they wished in their care and 80% had 

had trust and confidence in their service or clinician.  

 

Key Findings and recommendations arising from the Healthwatch 

questionnaires1 

 

There is much that is good about the way care is being delivered in 

Oxfordshire: 

 93% (146) of patients responded they had been treated with 

dignity or respect ‘some of the time’, ‘most of the time’ or 

‘always’ 

 58% (90) felt they had ‘definitely’ been listened to when planning 

health or care services 

 95% (147) of people had felt their right to privacy had been 

respected ‘always’, ‘most of the time’ or ‘some of the time’.  

 88% (134) responded they had ‘definitely’ or ‘to some extent’ 

understood explanations of their care and treatment.  

                                         
1 Responses to questions were not made compulsory. Some questions were routed meaning 
that the number of respondents to each question varies. The numbers in brackets after 
each percentage is the number of unique respondents that percentage represents.  



7 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 95% (54) of staff strongly agreed or agreed they were satisfied 

with the quality of care in relation to dignity that they gave to 

patients 

 100% (56) of staff strongly agree or agree that patients were 

routinely treated with dignity and respect by staff in their 

organisation. 

 

However, participants in all phases of this project identified significant 

areas for improvement. We had a breadth of responses to this project 

through all phases, in terms of the setting where people received care 

(hospital, care home, at home), but the numbers from each setting were 

small. Therefore our recommendations are made to all those delivering 

health or social care services in Oxfordshire and those commissioning the 

services, and are not specific to any one care setting. They are also made 

on the basis of the survey, focus group and case study findings. They fall 

broadly into two categories: 

 

 Improving communication 

 Continuing to develop a workplace culture that supports Dignity in 

Care 

 

Improving Communication 

Some respondents to the study reported a feeling of being ‘done to’, 

suggesting that they are not actively involved in decisions about their care. 

We also heard about specific difficulties people had being heard because 

they couldn’t access advocates and interpreters, because their carers were 

not appropriately involved or because they didn’t understand what was 

being said to them: 

 

 77% (20) responded that they were ‘never’ provided with the 

communications assistance they required 

 31% (33) were ‘never’ or ‘occasionally’ informed of changes to 

their services, and when any new treatments would start  

 14% (14) reported that their care providers hadn’t appropriately 

involved people they had asked to be involved in their care  

 67% (24) who needed a formal advocate were not offered one  

 12% (20) felt their needs and wants were not taken into account 

by those providing services 

 

 

 

 

 



8 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

Healthwatch Oxfordshire therefore recommends that: 

 

1. Communication be improved between staff and patients and their 
families, understanding that this communication must be two-
way.  
 

2. Access to support services which facilitate dignified care be more 
widely promoted and offered.  
 

3. Discussions about maintaining dignity be included in staff training 
and induction, and that this training should include: dementia 
awareness, limiting jargon and using plain English, two-way 
communication and a broader understanding of dignity.  

 
 

Continuing to develop a workplace culture that supports Dignity in Care 
 

During the course of the project we heard from a number of carers and 

some patients and service users that staff were not getting the balance 

between patient choice and dignity right. Examples of staff honouring the 

wishes of people with diminished capacity, where this choice may 

compromise dignity or healthy outcomes, suggested a discomfort amongst 

staff in negotiating difficult situations. Some respondents reported 

reactionary or defensive responses to initial concerns, and some said they 

had seen signs of staff being managed harshly – and this seems to have an 

impact on people’s willingness and confidence to make complaints or raise 

concerns. Staff reported time constraints as a significant issue in their 

ability to provide consistently dignified care. Of the patients and service 

users who completed the questionnaire: 

 

 17% (26) didn’t feel they had been helped to maintain a level of 

independence, choice and control that they were comfortable 

with 

 25% (39) had wanted to make a formal complaint about their care 

or treatment 

 44% (17) did not feel that they could complain without worrying 

about the consequences 

 11% (16) reported witnessing or experiencing abuse 

 

 

Healthwatch Oxfordshire therefore recommends that: 

 

4. Providers and commissioners work to ensure staff have the time to 
care, by increasing the proportion of time they spend with 
patients. This could be done through continued work to improve 



9 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

processes and paperwork, work to decrease staff sickness or 
through increasing allotted time for specific tasks.  
 

5. Commissioners and providers in Oxfordshire broaden the 
discussion on dignity in work places, so that it encompasses all 
elements of dignified care (the Dignity Do’s can provide a guide) 
and that this discussion inform training and the development of 
care models or pathways.  

 
6. Staff be helped to focus on the balance between patient choice 

and dignity, particularly when patients have a diminished capacity 
to make choices.  
 

7. Providers do further work to develop an open culture that learns 
from complaints and isn’t defensive so that patients and carers 
feel able to make complaints/report abuse without fear of 
repercussions.  

 



10 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

2 Commitments to take action 

 

Oxfordshire County Council, Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group, 

Oxfordshire University Hospitals Trust and Oxford Health Foundation Trust 

have all already committed to taking action in response to the 

recommendations made by Healthwatch Oxfordshire. Their responses are 

set out in full in Appendix 3 and have been summarised by Healthwatch 

below.2  

 

2.1 Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group  

Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group welcomes the recommendations 

made in the report. They monitor all providers to see that dignity in care 

standards are being upheld and seek to ensure through their contracts that 

patients with additional needs are appropriately supported by services 

making reasonable adjustments, and are provided with advocacy and 

interpreting services when needed.   

 

2.2 Oxfordshire County Council  
Oxfordshire County Council: 

 Commission the Community Information Network which trains and 
supports volunteers to help people find out what is available in their 
own communities, making sure they have the opportunity to be active 
in their own wellbeing, independence and support when needed. 

 Are working with other commissioners to develop a model of co-
production that will see service users directly involved in the design 
and commissioning of future services. 

 Are developing an e-marketplace that will offer individuals, carers 
and professionals the opportunity to choose and purchase good 
quality care and support services from providers specifically selected 
by the council.  

 Runs campaigns that promote access to support services and 
equipment which facilitate dignity in care. For example, their current 
assistive technology campaign promotes the availability of devices 
that can be used in a person’s home to improve their quality of life 
and that of their carer, and help them maintain independence. 

                                         

2 Please note some respondents have given responses to recommendations made in an earlier draft 

which included just 6 recommendations.  

 



11 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 Commissioned a Community Information Network that operates across 
the county through information drop-ins, over the phone or visiting 
people at home, enabling individuals to access local support services, 
activities, financial advice and social care. 

 Commissioned an expanded advocacy service in response to the 
requirements of the Care Act 2014. 

 Have established a new contract for interpretation services as part of 
a consortium, led by the Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group 
and including health providers. This will allow staff to access 
interpretation either face-to-face or over the telephone through a 
quick and easy online system. 

 Has run workshops on addressing the initial problems raised by carers 
about the new self-assessment process, and is meeting carers about 
the self-assessment forms, to work with them to make further 

improvements.  
 Hosts the Dignity and Dementia Champion Network, which examines 

the importance of dignity in the development of care models, and 
contributes to training.  

 Remains committed to making sure that all visits for support at home 
are the right length for the person and provide the support they 
need, and in all cases are sufficient for care and support to be given 
with dignity and respect. All visits involving intimate personal care 
such as help with washing or using the toilet will be more than 15 
minutes long. 

 Supports providers to recruit people for their desire to work caring 
for others, and their commitment to values such as dignity and 
respect.  

 Has developed Home Care Standards written jointly by people who 
receive care in their home and home care support agencies, and 
which require providers to meet dignity standards such as introducing 
themselves when they arrive and helping you at a pace that suits you. 

 Ran a workshop for residential care home staff to explore the need to 
share learning from complaints, and views complaints as a positive 
tool to promote improvement in services. 

 

2.3 Oxford University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

Response 

OUHFT: 

 Has co-produced a new Privacy and Dignity Policy with voluntary and 
partner organisations. 

 Delivers a Trust wide weekly compassionate care training programme 
which is aimed at providing participants with an appreciation of the 
impact of behaviour and attitudes on the patient, and an 
understanding of effective communication styles with those who are 
vulnerable. A total of 322 employees have currently attended the 
training. 

 Will review advocacy arrangements at the Trust with a view to ensuring 



12 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

that access to advocates and other support is improved. For example, 
information will be put in patient packs to promote Oxfordshire 
Advocacy services more widely. 

 Is undertaking a new piece of work with Independent Mental Capacity 
Advocates (IMCA) - to raise profile of IMCA services with consent to 
treatment and moving residents. 

 Includes training on dignity and respect its Induction Day for all staff 
and will review this session and other training on dignity and respect. 

 The Trust implements a 3 tier approach to delivering Dementia training 
to staff, ranging from simulation training using actors (Tier 2) for those 
staff working with  patients with dementia every day, to awareness 
training at tier 1 for all staff in the Trust. There is eLearning to support 
all the face to face training. There is a cohort of Dementia Leaders 
(24) who were trained through a university short course so that they 
can in turn provide training to other staff in the Trust.  

 The Trust is also in the process of implementing a means by which it 
can understand exactly how much ‘direct’ and ‘indirect’ time ( i.e. 
managing a complex discharge process ) Nurses and Nursing Assistants 
spend with patients.   

 The Trust has recently implemented a new PALS escalation system for 
Inpatients in order to resolve issues speedily. 

 The Trust is piloting and evaluating a regular Carers’ Surgery, whereby 
Carers Oxfordshire are working in the JR for 21 hours a week on 
hospital wards offering support, advice and signposting for carers so 
that they can gain information and support.  

 

 

2.4 Oxford Health Foundation Trust Response 

OHFT: 

 Will be consulting on a revised patient experience and involvement 
strategy from November 2015. 

 Has introduced the use of the recovery star which supports the 
identification of joint goals and joint monitoring of progress across all 
community adult mental health teams, with training for all staff. 

 Has developed a full programme of initiatives designed to embed 
personalised care and improve patient and carer involvement in 
planning their own care across all the Trust’s services. 

 Is working with Age UK to help older people to stay as independent as 
possible, to ensure they have the information they need and to 
introduce initiatives such as having volunteers working as care 
navigators at some of the community hospitals and dementia advisors 
working alongside staff in memory clinics. 

 Has extensive relevant training programmes in place and will be 
making an additional recommendation to the next Learning and 
Advisory Group in December 2015 that the Dignity Do standards are 
taken into account when they design and review training courses going 
forward. 



13 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 Will review the current trust-wide core questions used across all 
patient surveys to include a specific question around dignity in care so 
that they can monitor and target improvements. 

 Will continue the practice that all wards complete at least a 6-monthly 
review of the amount of direct care time spent with patients split by 
registered and unregistered staff, and will continue to present the 
results to the board of directors and to publish them, as well as asking 
each ward team to review the detail of their results to identify and 
make improvements. 



14 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

3 Background 

 

3.1 Background and introduction  

 

Healthwatch Oxfordshire (HWO) and Age UK Oxfordshire initiated a project 

looking at how well national standards of dignity in care were being met 

locally, after hearing stories from service users 3and patients who felt they 

had not been treated with dignity. Healthwatch Oxfordshire and Age UK 

Oxfordshire were keen for the voices of people who have experienced 

services and those who support them to be clearly heard, so that lessons can 

be learned from their experiences and changes implemented for improved 

services in Oxfordshire. 

 

Dignity has been a longstanding priority and concern across the Age UK 

movement.  For many years the charity has campaigned for greater 

attention to the problem of breaches of dignity and respect, in areas 

ranging from the basics of care such as toileting, eating and drinking and 

pain relief, to the fundamentals of treating recipients of care as human 

beings and ensuring good communication.  Age UK Oxfordshire has 

campaigned passionately against poor practice, but it has also sought to 

celebrate and commend good practice through its ‘Dignity in Care’ 

awards.    

Nationally, dignity in care has a high profile, which has been highlighted 

through a number of reports on failures in care, such as the Francis Report. 

In 2013 the National Dignity Council led numerous focus groups around the 

country to better understand what is meant by ‘dignity’ when it comes to 

health and social care. The 10 Dignity Do’s were developed out of this work. 

The Dignity Do’s act as standards by which one can assess the level of 

dignity in people’s care. They state that “high quality services that respect 

people's dignity should: 

1. Have a zero tolerance of all forms of abuse 

2. Support people with the same respect you would want for yourself or 

a member of your family 

3. Treat each person as an individual by offering a personalised service 

                                         
3 ‘Service-users refer to people who access health or care services but who would not 
consider themselves ‘patients’ as they do not have an illness.  



15 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

4. Enable people to maintain the maximum possible level of 

independence, choice and control 

5. Listen and support people to express their needs and wants 

6. Respect people's right to privacy 

7. Ensure people feel able to complain without fear of retribution 

8. Engage with family members and carers as care partners 

9. Assist people to maintain confidence and positive self-esteem 

10. Act to alleviate people's loneliness and isolation.” (Dignity in Care, 

2015) 

 

Although dignity can be understood and defined in many different ways, we 

have chosen to use the 10 Dignity Do’s as a guiding definition of dignity for 

this project, due to the fact that they were co-designed with patients.  

 

 

3.2 Methodology 

 

The project was conducted in two phases and this report details the findings 

and makes recommendations for areas of improvement on the basis of the 

experiences shared with us. It has been reviewed for accuracy, before 

publication, by key stakeholders, including Oxfordshire Clinical 

Commissioning Group (OCCG), Oxford University Hospitals NHS Trust 

(OUHT), Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust (OHFT) and Oxfordshire County 

Council (OCC).  

 

In the first phase of this project, HWO commissioned a number of local 

voluntary sector organisations to undertake focus groups with their client or 

member populations. The local voluntary groups chosen were those who had 

raised a dignity related issue with us in the preceding year and included 

Guideposts Trust, The Asian Women’s Group, ‘My Life, My Choice’ and 

Headway4. These organisations were also asked to solicit case studies of 

experiences related to dignity in care. Groups were facilitated using a 

discussion guide which can be found in Appendix 5. In total six groups were 

conducted and 10 case studies were undertaken. Some chose to do these in 

a written format, two produced video case studies. Case studies are 

available as Appendix 1.  

 

The second phase of the project included questionnaires for patients and for 

health and care staff asking them to share their experiences of dignity. 

                                         
4 Guideposts – www.guideposttrust.org.uk, The Asian women’s Group - 
www.asianculturalcentre.org.uk, My Life, My Choice – www.mylifemychoice.org.uk, 
Headway – www.headwayoxford.org.uk  

http://www.guideposttrust.org.uk/
http://www.asianculturalcentre.org.uk/
http://www.mylifemychoice.org.uk/
http://www.headwayoxford.org.uk/


16 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

Questionnaires were made available online and shared through the media, 

the Healthwatch Oxfordshire and Age UK Oxfordshire websites, and through 

existing mailing lists. The patient questionnaire was also used as the basis of 

95 interviews conducted across the county in Enter and View visits.  

 

3.3.1 Enter and View 
 

The Health and Social Care Act allows Healthwatch-authorised 

representatives to observe service delivery and talk to service users, their 

families and carers on premises such as hospitals, residential homes, GP 

practices, dental surgeries, optometrists and pharmacies. Local 

Healthwatch-authorised representatives carry out these visits to health and 

social care services to find out how they are being run and make 

recommendations where there are areas for improvement. Sites for Enter 

and View for this project included: 

 

Date Site 

16th June 
Henry Cornish Centre – Chipping Norton 

Nursing home with an intermediate care area 

22nd June 
Sandford Ward - Churchill Hospital 

Older people mental health ward (male) 

23rd June 
Wintle Ward - Warneford  

Acute mental health ward (female) 

24th June 
Citycom community hospital – Oxford  

 

25th June 
Witney Community Hospital  

 

30th June 

John Radcliffe Hospital 

Emergency department 

Maternity 

Outpatients (blue area) 

1st July 

Horton Hospital Banbury 

Outpatients department 

Emergency department 

2nd July 

Churchill Hospital 

Respiratory ward 

Dialysis ward 

6th July 
Agnes Court - Banbury 

Care home 

8th July 
Sue Ryder - Nettlebed Hospice 

 



17 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

10th July 
Brooklands (Banbury Heights Nursing home) 

 

 

 

3.3.2 Questionnaire Development  

 

The patient questionnaire was designed by the project logistics group (a 

group made up of HWO staff, and representatives from each of OUHT, 

OHFT, the Orders of St. John Care Trust, and OCCG). It was designed to 

cover elements of the 10 dignity do’s. The questionnaire was tested, first by 

HWO enter and view volunteers and then by adults attending the Banbury 

health and wellbeing day centre, revisions and alterations were made after 

each stage.  

 

The staff survey was developed by Healthwatch Oxfordshire staff and 

reviewed by the project logistics group. As the logistics group was made up 

of health and care professionals from local commissioners and providers, 

further testing was not conducted.  

 

3.3.3 Data Analysis 

 

In order to ease access to the questionnaire, it was made available through 

a public link online. In order to ensure the data collected is as robust as 

possible, only one response was allowed from each IP address. Due to the 

public access to the questionnaires, up to a third of responses to each of the 

questionnaires were excluded. Criteria for exclusion included partial 

completions where there was too little data for analysis or where responses 

were clearly marked as ‘test’, for example. The data was also analysed to 

ensure that responses were genuine. 

 

Some questions included a question logic. For example, only people who 

answered ‘yes’ to the questions ‘did you want to make a formal complaint 

at any point in your treatment’ were asked the follow up question ‘if you 

wanted to make a complaint, were you able to do so without fear of 

retribution’. This was because it was felt that those who had received poor 

care, and who had wanted to complain, may feel differently than those who 

had a positive care experience. Some questions which were not routed 

included a ‘not applicable’ or similar response option, and these responses 

have been removed from the analysis, as they provide little information but 

skew the statistics. The numbers for those responses are included in the 

data tables, appendix 4. 

 



18 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

4 Views from patients and service 

users 

 
This section details the views of patients and service users on dignity in 

care. It outlines the results of the questionnaire, to which 161 people 

responded. These are presented in themes as many questions related to 

each theme or aspect of dignity.  

 

4.1 Respondent profile  
 

Views from patients and service users were invited through on online 

questionnaire and through enter and view visits. A total of 161 people 

responded to the questionnaire 59% (95) of which were through enter and 

view visits. As these visits were conducted within the setting in which they 

were receiving care, we can expect a slight positive bias to the responses. 

47% (76) respondents reported their experiences from acute hospital, 24% 

(38) from care homes and 7% (11) from each community hospitals and GP 

surgeries.  

 

 
 

59% of respondents identified as female, and 41% as male. 79% of 

respondents were over the age of 50, the largest group of which were ages 

61-70 at 27% (41). 54% (82) of respondents said they had a disability, though 

for some at interview, this was described as temporary – relating to their 

current episode of care. The respondents were primarily white, British, with 

93% (141) identifying themselves that way.  

 



19 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

Owing to the profile of respondents, particularly that they are 

predominantly white, British and older, we would expect to see a slight 

positive bias to these results, as has been seen in patient experience studies 

such as the national patient survey programme and the Friends and Family 

Test (Sizmur S K. K., 2013) (Sizmur S G. C., 2015).  

 

 
 

Around half of the responses came through the online link, many of which 

were received soon after the media coverage of the project. As with all 

forms of feedback, it is possible that those interested in complaining might 

be more likely to have filled out the questionnaire. Therefore, we expect 

that the positive bias expected from the Enter and View sample and 

demographics, may have been balanced in this way. It is important that this 

report be interpreted with these elements in mind.  

 
 

4.2 Views on dignity and treatment 
 

On the whole, respondents to the survey felt they had been treated with 

dignity and respect, with 65% (103) saying they were ‘always’ treated with 

dignity and respect. Only 8% (12) said they weren’t treated with dignity and 

respect and 14% (22) said they were treated with dignity and respect ‘some 

of the time’.  



20 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 
 
Comments relating to dignity and respect ranged from positive testimonials 

to dedicated and caring staff to instances of poor care. Where people felt 

they weren’t treated with dignity, a number of comments dealt with 

elements of basic personal care such as washing or toileting, staff without 

appropriate training or brusque staff attitudes.  

 

When I first came here I wasn't feeling very good but I have always been 

treated with dignity. They have always been courteous to me and allowed 

me to ask questions.  

 

Some carers are unaware that certain forms of dementia can lead to 

disinhibited behaviour (ie verbal or physical abuse). They were upset when 

the resident displayed this type of behaviour, taking the insults personally. 

This affected their ability to treat the resident with respect and dignity. 

 

Live in carers were provided by [team] to my terminally ill mother in law. 

She needed help getting to the toilet at night but live in carers are not 

meant to be disturbed during the night which meant she would have to try 

and hold on. Problem got worse when she needed two carers to help her sit 

on commode. [They] wanted her to wear continence pads to get round 

problem but she felt this extremely undignified. She also had sores on her 

bottom so this was also not clinically appropriate. [They] refused to accept 

opinion of [other professional] on this and tried to come and examine her 

bottom for themselves when she was very close to death and any 

examination extremely painful. This was totally inappropriate. 

 

 

61% (96) of respondents felt that the people offering health and care 

services had ‘always’ treated them in a way they would want a member of 

their family to be treated. However 12% (18) did not feel they had been 

treated in this way, with a further 10% (16) feeling they were treated this 

way ‘only some of the time’.  



21 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

 
 

 

In some care settings patients discussed ‘feeling like one of the family’, this 

was particularly the case where people were there long-term, or were there 

repeatedly over time. Again, the kindness of staff was mentioned several 

times, however, patients had noticed that staff seemed short on time.  

 

I know all the sisters and staff. I feel like one of the family. They are 

lovely and really look after me. 

 

Never seen any unkindness people in here with dementia very awkward am 

amazed at their patience. So quiet sweet and nice and kind. 

 

Varied depending on who the staff team were 

 

This is hard to answer because they are very short staffed and it shows. I 

have been kept waiting just to go to the loo, have a wash or a drink. It is 

not the staff's fault. They do their best. 

 

When asked about privacy, 76% (117) of patients reported this as ‘always’ 

being respected, and 14% (21) as ‘most of the time’. 6% (9) said this was 

respected ‘only some of the time’ and 5% (8) said their right to privacy was 

not respected. Patients reported that some of the time, due to their 

condition, their treatment was not possible with full privacy, due to 

mobility or other reasons, and this seemed a compromise that they were 

willing to accept. However, some people reported instances where attempts 

to facilitate one’s right to privacy weren’t attempted.  

 



22 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

 
Treatment Outstanding. Doors closed, ask if they can help. Wishes 

respected. 

  

Staff always knock and wait for an answer before they enter my bedroom, 

they know what time I like to be woken up and what time I like to go to 

bed 

 

My husband’s wasn't at [care location] if you mean sitting in a public 

corridor for nearly two hours in a skimpy dressing gown 

 

When asking about the last two statements of the ‘dignity do’s’, (Assist 

people to maintain confidence and positive self-esteem; Act to alleviate 

people's loneliness and isolation) there were differing reactions. For people 

who were in residential or in receipt of long term care, they seemed 

particularly relevant and important, whereas patients within Outpatients, 

for example, were confused to be asked about loneliness or their feelings of 

self-worth. Several patients mentioned, ‘not being a lonely sort of person’ 

or ‘being used to living alone’ when asked about that question.  

 

Half (76) of respondents reported ‘always’ being encouraged to be confident 

about themselves and their abilities; 13% (19) feeling they had not been. A 

further 11% (17) had not expected the people providing their services to do 

this.  

 



23 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 
 

They worked with people. Always calm, respectful and loving without being 

oppressive. 

 

With my depression, have some bad days and staff talk to me and show 

kindness. 

 

Well I have lost a leg, going to make life difficult. Working like they are 

going to get me home for which I am grateful. Doing their utmost to make 

sure i can live at home independently. I am what you call a self -funder. 

 

The majority of respondents 61% (94) had not felt lonely or isolated at any 

point in their care or treatment, with a further 23% (36) having ‘some of the 

time’ felt that way. 16% (25) had always or ‘most of the time’ felt lonely or 

isolated.  

 

 
 

8.4%

7.7%

23.2%
60.6%

Did you feel lonely or isolated at any point in your 
care or treatment? (n=155)

Yes, always

Yes, most of the
time

Yes, some of the
time

No



24 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

When asked whether care providers have addressed the issue of loneliness 

and isolation, the largest number of respondents, 38% (21) said they hadn’t 

told anyone about their feelings. When describing why this might be, many 

people mentioned, not wanting to ‘bother’ them with such things. 23% (13) 

of respondents reported that their feelings of loneliness and isolation had 

been addressed and a total of 38% (21) said their feelings ‘definitely’ or ‘to 

some extent’ been addressed by their care providers.  

 

 
 

They have tried to make me feel good. 

 

Carers were advised to spend 10-15 minutes each day chatting to my 

mother. They have done this and she has become more reassured and 

contented. It has also helped the carers to understand her better, as they 

need to learn by observation as her dementia prevents her from explaining 

her behaviour, needs and concerns. 

 

I had to beg to be taken from my room to have some fresh air as the 

weather was very good. This only happened twice for about 10 minutes as 

the carers did not have time. 

 

 

Two questions were asked on the subject of abuse. The first question 

included a preamble on the definition of abuse, and made people aware of 

HWO’s safeguarding policy.  

 

11% (16) of respondents said they had witnessed abuse or had been abused 

with a further 5% (8) who were ‘not sure’ if they had witnessed or been 

abused. The vast majority of respondents 84% (124) did not witness or 

experience abuse while receiving care.  

 



25 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

Of the 24 people who had witnessed or experienced abuse or were unsure if 

they had, 3 had their cases referred to the OCC adult safeguarding team. 

Three respondents were not able to or unwilling to disclose the details of 

the abuse they were reporting. One respondent had previously referred the 

incident to the safeguarding team, two were reporting abuse of staff from 

patients. The remaining concerns highlighted incidences of very poor care, 

but we wouldn’t consider them to be abuse within the context of our 

safeguarding policy. We have not included free text comments in this 

analysis as the details made them too identifiable. 

 

 

 

 
 
13 people answered a follow-up question about reporting instances of 

abuse. 5 had reported the abuse to staff, 5 had felt unable to and 3 did not 

have the opportunity to report abuse. This highlights that there may be a 

number of people who either don’t feel confident in the system for 

reporting abuse, or were unsure to whom they should report the abuse.  

 

10.8%

83.8%

5.4%

Did you see or experience any form of abuse 
when you received care services (n=148)

Yes

No

Not sure



26 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 
 

 

4.3 Views on communication 
 

Patients were asked several questions about communication. Responses to 

these questions uncovered some significant problems with how health and 

care services are communicating with people in their care. Patients 

mentioned ‘jargon’ or ‘speaking a different language’ (referring to medical 

terminology) to the medics and nurses caring for them. Additionally, 

patients highlighted the gap between staff listening, and understanding and 

acting on what patients had communicated. Patients and service users who 

required assistance with communication reported having particular 

difficulties in accessing the support they needed.  

 

Over 1 in 7 people, 16% (25), reported that that when planning any health or 

care service, people did not listen to what they wanted or needed, however 

a slight majority 58% (90) felt they ‘definitely’ had been listened to.  

 

 

 



27 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

A few patients mentioned feeling an expectation, from health professionals, 

that they should ‘passively’ accept whatever treatment was recommended. 

Those in residential homes, or receiving long term care were more likely to 

report having had discussions about their needs and wants, but these 

weren’t always updated as their care needs progressed.  

 

When I was admitted I was very ill and not able to communicate what I 

wanted. But now I can ask and I have no problems saying what I need and 

want 

 

I was supposed to be a passive package accepting that others knew best. 

 

It didn't really apply as I was in an acute ward. My job was to be passive! 

 

When he went into respite in the second home, they wanted to know his 

background, likes and dislikes and wanted to make their service 

individualised. They asked us to bring in a box of photographs - and a few 

little things about his life. 

 

The care plan was made when she first went home but not reviewed as her 

condition deteriorated 

 

When asked whether they found explaining their needs and wants to be 

easy, nearly 1 in 5 patients responded it wasn’t easy 19% (30). 78% (123) did 

find that it was easy to tell people. The reasons for this variation were 

outlined by patients, from the nature of their needs and wants being a 

difficult thing to discuss with someone they do not know well, to relative 

levels of assertiveness (or passiveness) amongst patients.  

 

 
 



28 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

I can ask for anything. If I see something wrong I tell them and they act on 

it. 

 

Embarrassing as 26 year old doctor and nature of the problem. 

 

I feel that I can articulate my needs quite clearly and assertively. I do not 

have a problem about speaking about my needs and what needs to be done 

for me. I often find care agency sends me that new and inexperienced 

carers because I end up training them! 

 

Yes, but there is a difference between telling people and them listening 

and or understanding 

 

Only a slight majority 51% (80) reported the experience of ‘always’ having 

their needs and wants taken into account. 13% (20) reported that people 

had not taken them into account and a further 14% (21) as only some of the 

time.  

 
 

When asked about taking into account needs and wants, a dichotomy 

emerged between wants and needs. This was particularly strong for patients 

with dementia. Several family members and carers spoke about the line 

between the importance of choice and the appropriateness of offering 

choice.  

 

Where a patient didn’t have capacity to make choices about their care, 

staff too frequently decided to follow the patient’s choice, rather than 

meet their (sometimes clinical) needs. Examples included patients who 

were not changed and cleaned after soiling or wetting themselves, because 

patients had ‘chosen’ not to or where patients were still in bed late into the 

afternoon because they had ‘chosen’ to stay in bed. Challenging behaviours 

associated with dementia were thought to be one cause, but this ruling of 



29 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

choice above all else significantly impacted on dignity and was difficult for 

relatives to witness, and in some cases make it difficult for them to 

advocate for change with their care providers.  

 

Some patients had a positive view, and had witnessed improvements over 

the years in how they were involved in their care, but felt there remained 

some room for improvement.  

 

Things have changed massively over the years. Take into account of 

disabilty, don't push you out. 

 

They did around some things - like supporting my mother in law to be as 

independent as possible when she was still able. However the big issues 

was food - and toileting. It would have been nice for my mother in law to 

have had decent food in the last three months of her life - not just 

reheated microwave meals. 

 

But it was their version of my needs. 

 
Over one third of respondents 35% (54), either did not understand 

explanations of their care or treatment or only understood ‘to some 

extent’; 65% (99) had ‘definitely’ understood. Patients again referenced 

‘words that were hard to understand’, ‘poor English’ and ‘strong accents’ as 

reasons for why people could not understand their care and treatment.  

 

 
 

Found some parts of the treatment confusing 

 

Talking in medical language. Did apologise and explained in layman's terms. 

they were using jargon. 

 



30 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

Most of the time, I think I've taken it all in but later I'm not so sure. 

Doctors they reel it off because they do it all the time. Perhaps they could 

take more time to explain but they haven't got the time. 

 

Didn't really understand what they were saying some of the time. I didn't 

speak the same language as them. 

 

Very detailed and complex care plans that were difficult to work your way 

round at times. It was also quite obvious that the Care staff would never 

read them as there would never be any time to do so. Any information was 

given at handover time and this was really poor 

 

 

 
 
Of people who required communication assistance or interpretation, 77% 

(20) reported never having assistance provided at any stage in the planning 

or delivery of their care. 2% (3) had this routinely provided, 1 respondent 

received this when they specifically requested it and 1% (2) sometimes had 

assistance provided. It is a fair assumption that not being able to 

communicate with someone places a significant barrier to being able to 

deliver care that is dignified as that person is unlikely to understand their 

treatment, who is treating them or indeed give consent to be treated 

without being able to communicate easily. One patient described the 

positive experience of being assisted to communicate: 

 

I am able to speak and explain my needs. However I needed to get voice-

activated software so I could use my computer. My daughter assisted me 

with this, but she does not live with me. The specialist occupational 

therapist assisted me in using this software which has made a tremendous 

0.0% 10.0% 20.0% 30.0% 40.0% 50.0%

The words used were not easy to understand

The person spoke too fast

The person spoke too quietly

The person had a strong accent

The person didn't speak very good English

I don't understand English very well and there was no…

none of these

If you did not understand discussions about your care and treatment, 
could you tell us why? (n=63)

**response data for option "not applicable" removed for this analysis.



31 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

positive impact. I am very grateful for this support. I cannot praise them 

highly enough. 

 

 
 

Similarly, of the 36 people who needed a formal advocate, 67% (24) of them 

weren’t offered one adding to communication difficulties. Only 1 in 5, 20% 

(7) were offered an advocate. Of the 12 people who said they had an 

advocate, half of them couldn’t comment on whether people providing their 

care cooperated with the advocate, with 5 agreeing they had cooperated 

and 1 saying they didn’t cooperate with them.  

 

 
 

Changes to care plans were another area where difficulties in 

communication arose. Just under half 49% (52) said they were told what was 

going to happen next and when any change or new treatment would start 

and 20% (22) were told most of the time. 12% (13) said they were never told 

of any changes, 19% (20) were only occasionally told of changes...  

 



32 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 
 

I'm always well informed. 

 

I called on several occasions to find out if there had been any 

updates/recommendations and was told this first had to go through senior 

management and I very rarely was updated on what was discussed and any 

outcomes. 

 

My health care plan took quite a while to prepare. There were various 

people involved with this and the people kept changing so I was never sure 

who to contact... People change jobs or went on sick leave so when I 

telephoned I never knew who to speak to. Often my health needs changed 

but there was no one to change my care plan to keep it up to date. The 

care agency was working with an out of date care plan hence my caregivers 

were not trained to cope with my various needs…. 

 

4.4 Views on involvement  

 
52% (81) responded that they had been asked if they wanted anyone else 

involved in their care with 37% (58) saying they weren’t asked. However, 

many participants, when asked this question said the involvement of their 

family members was implicit due to the fact that they attended or made 

appointments for them in their capacity as carer.  

 

This is reflected in the follow up question on whether family members were 

involved appropriately in care; which can often be a difficult line to 

navigate for staff. 58% (57) people said their family was involved 

appropriately and a further 24% (24) ‘to some extent’. 14% (14) respondents 

believed their family hadn’t been appropriately involved. For those who felt 

their family hadn’t been involved, it was usually due to the amount of 



33 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

information delivered and the timing of that involvement. Carers 

responding, mentioned their ‘expertise’ of their relative’s needs being 

undervalued by some professionals.  

 

 
 

My family keep in touch with staff via e-mail and they all update me so I 

feel connected. 

 

But little information given and daughter [professional] was needed to give 

injections but with no guidance. 

 

 
 

 

4.5 Views on feedback and complaints 
 

Two questions were asked about feedback and complaints. The first asked 

whether patients and service users had been asked to give feedback about 

their care. Considering that nearly half of the respondents were still within 



34 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

the health or care setting where they were receiving care, and that the 

Friends and Family Test, and other routine feedback mechanisms are 

delivered on discharge, the responses are not surprising.  

 

56% (88) of respondents had not been asked to give feedback about their 

experience, and 36% (56) had been asked. 8% (13) could not remember.  

 

 
 

A quarter of respondents (39) had either made a formal complaint or had 

wanted to make a complaint but did not make one. 

 

This number seems to be much higher than we would expect given the 

number of complaints received by local trusts in comparison to their overall 

throughput. This could be because patients describe a complaint as ‘formal’ 

when they register it with a member of staff such as the ward sister, or 

contact PALS, or make it in writing, but Trusts only count complaints made 

through the formal complaints process. Or it could be down to services users 

being more confident talking about complaints to an independent 

organisation like Healthwatch.  

 



35 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 
 

Raised an informal concern with the manager, worried about getting into 

trouble if I complain but the manager reassures me that I won’t get into 

trouble. 

 

WE felt we could not complain when she was alive as they might withdraw 

her care. After she died it took some months for me to be able to 

coherently write about most (not all) of the awful things that happened in 

that time. I sent letter wanting them to learn from our experience so it 

would not be repeated for others. They responded to say they are treating 

it as a formal complaint, that someone would be in touch shortly and they 

would complete the process by [date]. I have heard nothing since- and it is 

the [date]. Not feeling very confident in this process but about to fire off 

another email. 

 

I haven't made a complaint because I feel that it wouldn't make a 

difference. 

 

Had a thank you from Chief Exec office 

 
A follow up question was asked only to those who had wanted to complain. 

The rationale behind routing the questions in this way was that people who 

had received poor care, were likely to feel differently about complaining 

than those who had received good care. This might play out in two ways. 

The experience of poor care leading to making a complaint may undermine 

one’s confidence in the system overall, but it may also change feelings of 

empowerment if one received poor care. 56% (22) felt they could make a 

complaint without worrying about the consequences, and 44% (17) did not.  

 



36 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 
 

 

 



37 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

5 Views from patient focus groups 

and case studies  

 
HWO commissioned local voluntary sector organisations to undertake focus 

groups with their client or member populations. The groups chosen were 

those who had raised a dignity related issue with us in the preceding year 

and included: Guideposts Trust, The Asian Women’s Group, My Life, My 

Choice and Headway. A total of 6 focus groups were held in March-April 

2015. Full transcripts of each Patient Story and the reports from each focus 

group are included at Appendix 1. 

 

An HWO associate attended all of the groups, but the groups were 

facilitated by the organisations commissioned to conduct them. 

Organisations were asked to follow a semi-structured topic guide to 

facilitate the groups. The guide is included in the report as Appendix 5.  

 

Local organisations were also asked to provide some case studies. As 

personal stories of care can provide a powerful understanding of what 

dignity means, what elements of care people are important for people, and 

what the impact is when things go wrong.  

 

The groups were invited to participate in order to understand the 

experiences of those who had suggested previously that their dignity needs 

had not been met, this section should not be seen as representative of all 

experiences in Oxfordshire. Rather, as with the approach to learning from 

complaints, often particular lessons can be learned from those who have the 

most negative experiences of care. 

 

We have tried to report the findings from this stage of the report in the 

participants’ own words, and only organising the verbatim quotes into 

highlights, low points and the major themes which emerged:  cultural 

sensitivities; staffing capacity and funding issues; communication; privacy; 

dignity and choice; advocacy; and appointment waiting times.  

 

The highlights 

 

Day centre staff take me to the activities I enjoy - swimming horse riding, 

outings.  Day centre care is really good at [location]. Everyone is so 



38 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

friendly and I enjoy the activities. The respite staff are so welcoming and 

friendly and I really enjoy going there. 

They notice when my husband is out of sorts. They care about him as well 

as for him. They treat everyone as individuals. 

 

S said that [voluntary sector org] has always supported her with 

dignity and respect.  When she was at her lowest point and 

everything seemed like an uphill battle they helped by setting small 

goals and making sure she had lots of ‘little breakthroughs’. They 

helped her to get organised in her paperwork and to get her finances 

sorted.   

 

… lack of space meant that my father in law was living in the living 

room. The carers came in twice a day to cleanse, change and help 

bath my father in law and were very respectful of his condition and 

the family situation. They would smile and talk to him as if he 

understood and share a joke with him, he would respond with a 

smile and felt comfortable with female carers. They respected his 

wishes when he refused to have a bath and listen to his and the 

families concerns.  

  

They would ask when it was convenient and if there is anything that 

they needed to be aware off on a daily basis. They became a part of 

our family. 

 

The care here is good, and that extends to us as carers too. 

 

Mum is respected and given choices here. 

 

 

The low points  

 

I felt at times my aunt is neglected at the care home she is in. For 

example, her drink would be propped up on her blanket, with a biscuit on 

her shoulder. She can only use one finger and thumb on left hand. She 

needs feeding and is frail now.  She is fed yogurt although I have told them 

she hates it. 

 

Have had a series of operations due to stroke. I reacted badly to 

anaesthetic and so I was completely loopy for 3 months whilst on a ward. I 

was left for hours in my piss and shit, I was sedated and my health needs 

were neglected. None of the ’10 Do’s’ were there. It is a completely 

aspirational list. I have seen no attempts to put it into practice – only lip 

service. 



39 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

 

Cultural sensitivities 

 

I think the most important thing is respecting the person for who they are. 

Respecting their culture, respecting their religious needs respecting their 

family needs. I know that they can’t meet everyone’s needs but at least 

understanding that this is their needs... 

 

I am a [older, nationality] woman and cannot speak, read or write English I 

can only speak my [language]. I have three children who care for me at 

home because I have [conditions] that affects my mobility. I was admitted 

in to hospital for a knee replacement.  My son was with me before I went 

in to the operating theatre so I felt safe.  My son had expressed for a 

woman nurse to look after me but from time to time a man would come 

and check me. In the evening a male nurse came to change my bed I 

refused and said no but still he helped me out on to the sofa and fixed my 

bed.  I was so embarrassed and upset felt so alone and helpless because I 

was not listen to and I was not respected.  

 

Staffing, capacity or funding issues 

 

I think the care package from the adult mental health team is insufficient. 

 

It’s impossible for Carers doing 20 minute home visits to shower someone, 

dress them, give them their breakfast and their medication. I can’t even do 

that for myself.  

There are not enough activities at [location] or enough care staff, which of 

course affects how people feel about themselves.  This is driven by 

[commissioner] capping the fees at an unsustainable level. The motivation 

of the staff and management are excellent but their budget is insufficient 

 

Overall the care is very good here, but these people are very busy….he 

loves a game of dominos or walking and holding someone’s hand, but they 

can’t do this with him because the staff don’t have time for one-to-ones. 

 

The salami-slicing of budgets and means-testing means people get moved 

from service to service because it’s cheaper – there’s no personal choice in 

that. 

 

Communication  

 

Most of the arranging for the care at home service was left to me and I was 

working blind, told to find my own carers.  Where do you start? 

 



40 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

Organisations want to pass you on a lot of the time, or they only give us 

partial information. 

 

My experience with information services is that there has been too much 

signposting. There’s no point passing us on because we will forget! It is a 

very mysterious process getting support 

Privacy  

 

She was once very upset about her case being discussed in an ‘open forum’ 

where everyone could hear on the [acute setting].  She was also upset that 

the hospital approached her family to discuss her care without her present 

and without asking her.   

I have my room locked and I have my own key. I like that. Only trouble is 

sometimes I can’t get in! 

 

 

Dignity and choice 

 

Dignity and respect can be confused with choice  – so in  Care Homes, care 

is not always given due to refusal by the patient which can leading to 

neglect. Common sense needs to prevail over showing dignity and respect. 

 

Advocacy (from carers or formal advocates) 

 

I think it’s immensely important that where people are not able to make 

their own decisions and they still wish to obviously maintain as much 

independence as they can, they remain in their own environment.  It’s 

important for social services, doctors, whoever is involved with the care of 

that person to recognise the importance of their family, the closest 

contact with that person who can represent them and actually be involved 

with the decisions that are being made. 

 

It is not easy to complain as a Carer of someone in Care Home, as you feel 

that they might take it out on the person in the Home. You feel like you 

have to tread very carefully. It shouldn’t be like this.  

 

At the hospital I made a complaint and they just made me feel I was 

making it all up. It just depressed me, even though I had support from 

SEAP.  

 

 

 

 



41 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

Appointment and waiting times 

We had a situation last summer where my daughter had an appointment at 

the JR at 1.30pm but we didn’t get home until late that night. They knew I 

was a carer so I was frantically trying to call people who could go and look 

after [my husband]. No consideration or individual care. 

 

 

Recommendations made by participants of groups (direct quotes from 

patients, service users or carers): 

 

1. In order to respect a person and treat them with dignity, carers need 

to be fully informed about individual’s conditions, what they can and 

can’t do and how they would like to be supported. This information 

should be easily accessible to new carers. Care staff should be better 

educated about the condition of the person they care for. 

2. Service users are often unable to make choices and have control over 

their care (one of the Dignity Do’s) due to a lack of information about 

the range of support available.  This sometimes results in people not 

receiving adequate support for extended periods, particularly when 

coming out of hospital.   

3. Carers need to treat service users as a person by listening carefully to 

their needs and wishes. Carers must get to know the service user and 

their condition well so that they can assist the service user to express 

their wishes fully. 

4. When care given to people with memory problems make sure that 

there are no more than 3 people giving the care. Too many people 

only confuse the people receiving the care. 

5. Better support for elderly carers to avoid costly crisis and people 

needing to go into costly NHS hospitals or care homes 

6. A system which allows domiciliary carers to arrive within 10 minutes 

of scheduled time and which allows for longer than 15 minutes. This 

is just insufficient.  Allow enough time for care and offer housework 

such as washing for short periods.  

7. ‘I don’t want more dignity - I want better care. You need to increase 

the fees by around 50%. A shower once a week for those with double 

incontinence is not enough.’ 



42 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

8. There should be a high standard of care available for all that need it. 

No battles to access such care. The care should be for the ‘whole’ 

person not just immediate physical needs.  

9. Clients need time and dignity. People who are being cared for should 

be treated as you would with to be treated yourself.  

10. Training and skill is so very important but equally so is that staff are 

caring people. If they are not they are in the wrong occupation 

 



43 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

6 Views of health and care staff  

 
The staff questionnaire was made available online, and the link advertised 

through stakeholder groups, and provider organisations. Enter & View 

volunteers also delivered 5-10 copies to locations where they conducted 

interviews with a freepost envelope to return them to HWO.  

 

A total of 57 participants completed the staff questionnaire, 46.9% (23) 

were nurses, 26.5% (13) identified as other qualified professional, 22.4% (11) 

as support worker and 4.1% (2) as social workers.  

 

 
 
The majority of respondents provided care in acute (30.9%) or community 

(25.5%) hospitals, potentially reflecting those who received hard copies of 

the questionnaire. There was representation from the community and care 

sectors with 16.4% (9) respondents providing care in people’s homes and 

18.2% (10) respondents providing care in care homes.  



44 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 
 
Staff views on dignity in care are overwhelmingly positive. They show a 

workforce that is committed to the concept of dignity and that aims to 

deliver care with dignity. Indeed when asked how satisfied they were with 

the quality of care, in relation to dignity that they give to patients, 94.7%, 

or 54 of 57 respondents to the question either ‘strongly agreed’ or ‘agreed’ 

with the statement. Only one participant ‘strongly disagreed, and two 

respondents neither agreed nor disagreed.  

 

 
 
Participants were asked to follow up if they disagreed with the above 

statement, to which the staff member responded: 



45 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 
Staffing levels means I do not have time 

 

This is a theme that crops up within the staff survey, the importance of 

staffing levels in order to have ‘enough time’ to deliver care in a way that 

honours the dignity of patients, service-users and their families.  

 

The next section of the staff questionnaire asked the extent to which 

participants agreed or disagreed with statements about care, and processes 

within their organisation. On the whole staff were happy to agree with the 

(positive) statements. This was particularly the case where those 

statements dealt with broad, or overarching concepts such as, ‘dignity and 

respect’ or whether they’d be happy with the level of care provided at their 

organisation for their family.  

 

Where statements were more specific, dealing with a particular aspect of 

care or point of interaction with a patient or service user, a small minority 

of staff then responded either that they strongly disagreed, disagreed or 

neither agreed nor disagreed, showing that when dignity is broken down into 

the ‘Dignity Do’s’ that staff are less confident that their organisations are 

‘getting it right’.  

 

One respondent disagreed with the statement “if a friend or relative 

required care I would be happy with the quality of dignity in care provided 

by my organisation” with 8.7% (5) neither agreeing nor disagreeing. 4% (2) of 

respondents disagreed, that they would be able to raise concerns about care 

in their organisation. On the questions of involvement, 4% (2) disagreed or 

strongly disagreed that their organisation involved carers appropriately and 

the same number 4% (2) on whether people were involved in decisions about 

their care.  

 

Staff were unsure about information giving with 20% (11) neither agreeing 

nor disagreeing that people received enough information about their care 

and support to make informed decisions, with 8% (4) disagreeing or 

disagreeing strongly. Similarly, 24% (13) respondents neither agreed nor 

disagreed that information given to patients could be clearly understood, 

with one person disagreeing strongly. 5% (3) of staff disagreed that people 

received enough privacy while being examined and 6% (4) disagreed or 

strongly disagreed that people received enough emotional support from 

staff within their organisation. Finally 8% (4) disagreed or strongly disagreed 

that they would know what to do if they were concerned about someone’s 

loneliness or isolation.  

 



46 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

Though the numbers are small, it is important to note that not all staff are 

confident that the elements of dignity within their organisation are being 

addressed, despite their confidence that overall, dignity and respect are 

thought to be met within their organisation.  

 

 



47 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 



 
 

 
48 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

 

 
Staff were also asked to respond to two free text questions. The first “what 

enables you to provide dignity in care to people” and the second “what gets 

in the way of providing dignity in care”. Many staff very closely linked the 

concepts of privacy and dignity within comments, perhaps reflecting their 

organisation’s policies. In some instances, however, staff did seem to use 

them interchangeably, which begs the question whether notions of dignity 

amongst staff should be broadened. Two very similar quotes highlight this:  

 

The correct equipment to be used towels to cover people, doors shut, 

curtains shut. Knocking on doors and waiting before entering 

  

When all equipment is in places making sure curtains and doors are shut 

when discussing care 

 

Typical responses to what enables staff include:  

 

Time, good staffing, space 

 

Treat them as I'd like to be treated. Talk to them as I'd like to be talked to 

respect them, listen to them, ensure they understand their care / aspects 

of their care 

 

Allowing patients to say what care they want and how e.g. cleaning 

themselves 

 

Multi-disciplinary teamwork. My own ethics and morals 

 

By continuing assessment of physical, mental and emotional needs and to 

help patients and carer to make informed choice and decision about their 

care. 

 

Good staff training 

 

Local Knowledge, information and advice and good relationships with local 

authorities and external bodies 

 

A willingness to listen and act according to patients wishes time to provide 

care in a way that suits the patient continuity in care provision respect for 

the individual putting the person first remembering the patient is the 

expert of their health and LTC partnership in care the patient is the heart 

of everything I do 

 



 
 

 
49 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

 

Typical responses to what gets in the way include:  

 

As ever, time. 

 

Lack of time. staff shortages. competing demands on time. Occasionally 

individuals who lack skills in empathy  

 

Nothing, providing dignity in care is free. People coming in to our care may 

not remember our names but they always remember how we make them 

feel. So it is so important to listen and give people time. Even though at 

times I can be ultra busy and need to be in two places at once, I would 

never let my patients thing I am in a rush..... I never glance at the clock, 

or say I will be back in a minute. 

 

Lack of awareness/training and poor understanding of people's needs. 

and understanding of different patient behaviours which are challenging. 

 

Time constraints will always be an issue for staff. Having enough time to 

listen and hear patients views when they are busy is difficult. The 

geographical area we live in is also a factor in patients feeling lonely and 

isolated. Being able to access groups etc without transport is an issue. 

Offering this support therefore is an issue when patients leave the hospital 

setting. Offering complete privacy can be difficult in ward bays. 

 

The hospital I work in strives to put dignity at the top of the agenda when 

it comes to patient care. However the staffing of this unit makes this 

challenging at times4and working with the 12 hour shifts with, at times no 

breaks, it 3..isn't surprising that dignity is sometimes compromised - 

unintentionally. 

  



 
 

 
50 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

7 References 

Dignity in Care. (2015, May 15). Dignity Do's. Retrieved from Dignity in Care: 

http://www.dignityincare.org.uk/About/The_10_Point_Dignity_Chall

enge/ 

Sizmur S, G. C. (2015). Influence of patients' age and sex and the mode of 

administration on results from the NHS Friends and Family Test of 

patient experience. Journal of Health Services Research and Policy, 

5-10. 

Sizmur S, K. K. (2013). Equal rights, equal respect: an examination of 

differential inpatient experience in the NHS . Diversity and Equality 

in Health and Care, 237-47. 

About Healthwatch Oxfordshire 
Healthwatch Oxfordshire is an independent organisation that listens to your 

views and experiences of health and social care in Oxfordshire. We work to 

help you get the best out of these services, whether it's improving them 

today or helping to shape them for tomorrow. We have the ability to hold 

health and social care providers to account. 

 

About Age UK Oxfordshire 
Age UK Oxfordshire is an independent local charity working to ensure that 

carers and older people live life in comfort, with support when they need it 

and with opportunities to live life to the full.  Delivering a wide range of 

services, including Information & Advice, support for independent living, 

clubs and classes, befriending and social opportunities, help around the end 

of life and carers’ support, the charity is an active and prominent partner in 

the Age UK movement. 
 

Acknowledgements 
Healthwatch Oxfordshire would like to thank all of the patients and service 

users that contributed in this project. We would also like to thank Fenella 

Trevillion and Annie Davy for their work in setting up and initiating the 

project. We would also like to thank our local providers including Oxford 

University Hospitals NHS Trust, Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust and the 

Oxfordshire Association of Care Providers who cooperated with us in this 

project. In particular, we would like to thank all of the sites who were 

involved in the project, our project steering group and patient reference 



 
 

 
51 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

group for their help designing the project and our Enter and View volunteers 

who interviewed 95 patients and service users for this project.  

 

 
  



 
 

 
52 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

Appendix 1:  Case Studies and Focus 

Group reports. 

 

We received case studies from groups who had raised a dignity related issue 

with us in the preceding year including, Age UK, Guideposts Trust, The Asian 

Women’s Group, ‘My Life, My Choice’ and Headway. We have included them 

in full text below. Age UK and ‘My Life, My Choice’ produced video patient 

stories which can be accessed at:  

http://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/healthwatchoxfordshirereports. The 

names have been changed in these case studies and other than removing 

identifiable information HWO have not edited the case studies.  

 

Patient Story 1 

Names use are fictitious.  

Interview took place 30th April 2015  

Background  

Amira is currently a carer for her mother in law, Bashira who has severe 

Alzheimer’s disease and has been bedbound for the last 15 years. She (and 

her husband) provide her personal care. Bashira has been in and out of 

hospital over many years. The family are Muslim adhering to strict religious 

and cultural values. 

The interview is mainly based around Amira’s discussion of two admissions 

to hospitals for infections. The first is current - Bashira is in the John 

Radcliffe hospital. Amira mainly refers to ways in which she feels her 

mother in law has not been respected in terms of her culture religion and 

privacy. She talks too about the fact that staff are not able to give Bashira 

personal care and this must be done by the family.  

Secondly Amira refers to an incident in the Churchill Hospital and  talks 

about how she left her mother in law overnight coming back in the morning 

to find that she had not been cleaned or changed, had not eaten or taken 

her medication. The manager then asked a male nurse to care for Bashira... 

Amira discusses how this affected Bashira. 

Interview  

1. Name  

Amira (carer) and Bashira (cared for) 



 
 

 
53 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

2. Which services have you used?   

Throughout the time that Bashira has been unwell she has used a number of 
services. The hospitals mentioned are The John Radcliffe and The Churchill. 

3. Do you feel you have been treated respectfully by all the people 
involved in your care?  

Amira reported that Bashira had not been treated with respect in the 
following ways, 

 

Religious and cultural values disregarded. 

As a strict Muslim Bashira has strong values around, privacy, clothing and 
gender of those caring for her. She noted that Bashira was left uncovered 
as a nurse checked her blood and Amira says ‘if she was with it she’d have 
had a fit’ (covered in question 7). Amira also said that despite asking for a 
female nurse on occasions, Bashira was cared for by a male nurse which 
she felt compromised her dignity and was disrespectful.  

‘...as far as possible when she was well she didn’t want a male doctor but 
you know I’m not requesting that. I’d like ... I’ve said I’d like a female 
nurse if that’s possible and on occasions I’ve found a man there...’  

Amira goes on to refer to a specific incident at the Churchill hospital (dealt 
with in more detail in question 11) when Bashira had been left overnight 
without any food or care. However after the incident the manager brought a 
male nurse in to clean and change her the following day despite Amira 
having asked for a female nurse. She says, 

‘I felt very upset for her. If she was well she would have had a fit she 
would really have felt neglected and disrespected...she would have felt 
nobody cares for her.’ 

However it was only after ‘crying and just expressing my feelings’ to the 

manager this changed that she felt her mother in law was being treated 

with respect and dignity. 

The  nurses spoke over Bashira whilst she was at the Churchill Hospital 
being treated for an infection. She said, 

 ‘They just used to give her stuff and went away...either they were having 
a conversation if they were caring or changing the sheets between them - 
so nobody was talking to her they were talking over her. And I said to them 
(when I was really upset at the Churchill when I was talking to the 
manager) she’s a human you need to talk to her’ 

After the complaint to the manager the nurses treated her 
differently‘...that changed when she went next to the nurse’s desk. They 
would do her hair, keep an eye on her, keep her covered, and respect her’ 

 



 
 

 
54 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

The staff are not able to give Bashira any kind of personal care (dealing 
only with her clinical care). Amira  referred to Bashira’s current admission 
to the John Radcliffe Hospital noting that her mother in law needs a fixed 
routine in order to feel comfortable. Due to a shortage of staff Bashira was 
not able to be given the personalised care she needed by hospital staff. She 
said, 

‘Before 9 o’clock she’s got to be ready for bed otherwise she won’t sleep 
all night she gets very agitated and very uncomfortable....And what was 
explained to us is (the nurses on the ward said to us) “We can’t do that; we 
can’t make any promises because we haven’t got the staff to give her fixed 
care. You are more than welcome to come and do it yourself but we can’t 
do it.’ 

4. When your services were being planned, were your personal 
preferences taken into account?   

Amira felt that the hospital staff were unable to take Bashira’s personal 
care needs and preferences into account. She thought that this was due 
to,  

‘...time constraints I’ll say time constraints. They are so stretched. They’ve 
got a ward full. They say that they say so if we spend an hour and a half 
feeding her the others are going to suffer. So we are quite welcome for you 
to do it .’ 

Amira was not asked about Bashira’s religious or personal preferences but 
had to teach staff what to do by modelling what was religious and  
culturally appropriate. As a result she felt uncomfortable about this and 
said that she felt she was imposing on them.  

‘Like she was a very sort of strict Muslim woman and she’d like her hair to 
be covered all the time so that’s something I would say to the nurses...’ 

‘I would have liked the nurse to sit with me for half an hour and say well 
Amira  how do you care for her? What are the little things she likes? Instead 
of me feeling like I’m imposing on them.’ 

On more than one occasion a male nurse provided personal care despite 

Amira specifically asking Bashira’s preference for a female (covered in 

question 3).  

 
5. Were there any communication barriers that prevented you from 

understanding your care arrangements or what was planned? 

It is clear from the interview that Bashira is unable to communicate her own 

needs and preferences due to her impairment in cognitive functioning. 

Amira has had to do this for her and she makes the point that as a fluent 

English speaker that has been fine. However if she had not been, then 

communication would have been a problem. She says, 



 
 

 
55 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

‘And would there have been an interpreter freely available to interpret 

that? And then how they explain things could be a barrier and received in a 

different way. If it’s not clearly received. So I think that’s a big issue as 

well. If someone comes in- for example if I had a carer that couldn’t speak 

the language - then I’d expect an interpreter there that could understand 

it. And not using family members as interpreters because confidentiality 

always gets compromised when you use family members. And how do you 

know that they are not imposing their own, they are not saying it from 

themselves’.  

6. Whilst receiving care were you able to retain maximum level of 
independence and control?  

Although this question was not answered directly it is evident that Bashira 

retained very little control over her own care for two reasons. Firstly she 

was unable to communicate her own needs and secondly as pointed out by 

Amira the staff had no time. In talking about Bashira’s current care in the 

John Radcliffe Hospital she said  only way to control the time of that 

Amira’s medication and ensure personal care was for Amira administer it 

herself (see question 4). 

‘So what we explained to the hospital right from the beginning - this is her 

care, you’ve got to be really careful how you care for her because on 

hospital wards there’s no fixed time when the nurses are free they do stuff 

but with her you’ve got to have a fixed routine. Before 9 o’clock she’s got 

to be ready for bed otherwise she won’t sleep all night she gets very 

agitated and very uncomfortable....And what was explained to us is (the 

nurses on the ward said to us) 

 ‘We can’t do that; we can’t make any promises because we haven’t got the 

staff to give her fixed care. You are more than welcome to come and do it 

yourself but we can’t do it.’ 

Again Amira was unable to retain control around the gender of the nurse 

and it was only after she complained that this changed.  

 

7. Did the care you received  help you to feel good about yourself? 

Due to Bashira’s impairment in cognitive functioning Amira is unclear about 
how Bashira feels about the care she received, 

On one hand she says that Bashira appeared depressed after the lack of care 
and respect shown to her after in the Churchill and that she knows when 
she’s not respected 

 ‘I found her so upset that day and so depressed that day and I looked at 

her face and I thought oh you poor thing. But all that changed when she 

went next to the nurse’s desk. They would do her hair, keep an eye on her, 



 
 

 
56 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

keep her covered, and respect her. I think even at that stage they require a 

lot of respect. Although she’s not with it I know that she knows when she’s 

not respected.’ 

When the nurses began to talk to Bashira rather than over her Amira says,’ 

‘..she (the nurse) would talk to her and she (Bashira) was so happy’. 

 Conversely when Amira was asked later on in the interview if Bashira knew 
what was happening (in terms of the care she was getting) she said, 

‘Her Alzheimer’s is so severe she is not aware of it.’’ 

What is clear that if she was well she would have felt very strongly about 
being  disrespected and her needs not being met, as do her family. . See 
Amira’s comments below  

 On being  left uncovered  

‘If  she was ‘with it’ she would have had a fit’ 

 On being cleaned by a male nurse 

‘She’s got Alzheimer’s I don’t know how she would have felt at the time. I 

felt very upset for her. If she was well she would have had a fit she would 

really have felt neglected and disrespected. She would have felt very 

neglected and she would have felt nobody cares for her’ 

 On lack of personal care (Churchill Hospital) 

‘She would be really upset if she knew this was happening to her.’ 

8. How have your relatives or carers been involved in decisions that 
affect your care, and have you been offered appropriate support?   

Amira did not talk about the decisions around clinical care but it is clear 
from what has been said before that she felt that  she had been disregarded 
when she had tried to give instructions (on Bashira’s behalf) about 
medication and personal preferences (religious and cultural sensitivity) 

9. Has your privacy been respected appropriately? 

Amira reported that this had not been the case when Bashira had been left 
uncovered,  

‘so she wouldn’t like to be uncovered at any time and once I walked in and 
she was half uncovered. Someone came to check her blood test or 
whatever; because she just wears a gown and no trousers you could see her 
legs’ 

As well as this she felt that her right to have private space was not 
respected as Bashira had been in a mixed ward. 

10. Did your care needs every make you feel lonely and if so did 
the people providing your care understand this and help you find 
ways to overcome it?   



 
 

 
57 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

Amira said that she felt Bashira was lonely, 

‘I think at time (she) feels lonely because no one understands her care..its 
a very lonely place to be..in bed and be ill’’ 

      11. Have you witnessed any bad experience or abuse? 

Amira went into detail about one specific example of neglect in the 
Churchill Hospital. Bashira went in to the hospital in the afternoon and 
Amira spoke at length to staff about what she needed-medication, feeding 
and personal- care however when she got there this is what she found, 

‘So me and my husband went there next day at lunch time and we 
found...what we found is..the evening pills were still sat there. She hadn’t 
been turned in the night she...the morning pills were still sat there the 
breakfast was just dumped on the table. She hadn’t had anything to eat 
and she was soaked, dirty so I actually had a fit. I said look this is not on. I 
went through all this in the evening. She’s not been turned she’s just been 
left there haven’t they. I felt that ever since I’ve left her nobody’s come 
back to check on her. She’s not even been given a drink to the next lunch 
time.’ 

‘...What I was saying to him was - I’m taking her home. I care for her (at) 
home more than she’s cared for in hospital basically it looks like you 
haven’t done a damn thing for her I’m going to take her.’ 

After this the manager did apologise, however as noted in previous answers 
he sent a male nurse to care for Bashira. Amira’s response is as follows, 

‘I said well actually I’ve been through this she don’t need a man here. We 
don’t use a man she’s never ever you know, very private woman. She 
wouldn’t want a man to clean her.... so I had to step in and do all that 
myself.’ 

Amira clearly documents this incident of neglect which the manager 
apologises and tries to make amends. However this is inappropriate as he 
did so by sending in a male nurse which Amira finds unacceptable on 
religious/cultural grounds. She had no choice but to care for her mother in 
law herself.  

11. If you wanted to give feedback, good or bad, about your 
own care did you know how to do that?  If you wanted to complain 
were you supported to do so?  

Amira responded to this question by referring to the above incident at the 
Churchill where she complained to the manager.  She says that she spoke to 
the manager but she didn’t know where she could take it beyond that, 

‘ I didn’t do any more than that I just spoke to the manager and I was so 
glad to  get her home and um you know to be honest I didn’t know where to 
take it above that but I thought by talking to the manager I’d hope he’d get 
the message...’  

When asked if she wanted to take it any further or if she would you have 

known how to do that she said  ‘At the time I didn’t know but if I would 



 
 

 
58 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

have known I would have’. However things did change as a result of her 

speaking to the manager. 

12. Which of the Dignity Do’s do you think are most important? 
(list your top 3) 

Amira reported that 3,6, and 7 were the most important. Her comments 
are noted below. 

 

Treat each person as an individual  

‘I think the most important thing is respecting the person for who they are. 
Respecting their culture, respecting their religious needs respecting their 
family needs. I know that they can’t meet everyone’s needs but at least 
understanding that this is their needs...’ 

‘...That’s what needs to happen-they need to spend that time. Have a 
separate ward for high level care need people and then they provide care 
according to the culture religion, the personality of the person’ 

Respecting Right to privacy 

‘ I think respecting rights to privacy is an important one.. um you know 

ensuring that people feel able to complain. I do feel that when I go into a 

hospital or a service like that with her I feel like I’m pushing the 

boundaries all the time. It feels in a sense- I feel that we are sort of asking 

for too much. You know the way the staff talk to you, you know you’ve got 

a care service here.’ 

Complaining without fear of retribution 

‘um you know ensuring that people feel able to complain. I do feel that 
when I go into a hospital or a service like that with her I feel like I’m 
pushing the boundaries all the time. It feels in a sense- I feel that we are 
sort of asking for too much.’ 

13. Can you tell us anything really good about the care you received in 
Oxfordshire? (  

It seems that for Amira good care represented Bashira being treated as a 
person responding to what was important to her and taking into account her 
cultural, religious, family values and preferences. 

Amira uses the incident at the Churchill Hospital (after changes had been 
made) to highlight this, 

 ‘They kept her head covered for example. It was really important to her. Her legs 
were always covered with a blanket or something. Really important to her. Not 
having short sleeved gowns which was really important to her. You know all these 
little things. And she was clean, her hair would be combed. She was a very proud 
and tidy woman when she was well. So that means a lot sort of her presentation 



 
 

 
59 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

even at that age was really important to her. So that was sort of ...really meant 
to her that was done? I know its little things but I used to look for those. Is she 
covered? Is her arms covered? Has she got a scarf on, um, is she well kept? Is her 
hair been combed? Has her face been cleaned? You know those little things. Has 
her hand been cleaned. That’s what you know that’s her when she was well.’ 

 

 

 Patient Story 2 

 

1. Name …Aliya 

 

I am a [age] Pakistani woman and cannot speak, read or write English I 

can only speak my language Punjabi. I have three children who care for 

me at home because I have [long term health conditions] that affects my 

mobility 

 

2. Which services have you used  

I use my GP, Hospital and health clinics 

3. Do you feel you have been treated respectfully by all the people 
involved in your care?  
 
I was admitted in to hospital for a [procedure].  My son was with me 
before I went in to the operating theatre so I felt safe. 
 
My son had expressed for a woman nurse to look after me but from time 
to time a man would come and check me. In the evening a male nurse 
came to change my bed I refused and said no but still he helped me out 
on to the sofa and fixed my bed. 
 
I was so embarrassed and upset felt so alone and helpless because I was 
not listen to and I was not respected.  
 
 

4. When your services were being planned, were your personal preferences 
taken into account?   

 

I don’t know because my sons talk to the doctor, I don’t know the details 

of it. 
 

5. Were there any communication barriers that prevented you from 
understanding your care arrangements or what was planned?  
 
After the operation when I came round I was alone and felt so helpless 
because I wanted to explain to the nurses that I think my blood sugar is 
going down and I need something sweet but I couldn’t communicate and 



 
 

 
60 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

the nurses did not ring my son or make an effort to  get an interpreter. I 
was shaking and feeling weak. 

 

6. Whilst receiving care were you able to retain maximum level of 
independence and control?  
 
I felt totally out of control and was looking at the professionals to help 
me out. Most of all I was looking out for my sons. I was so frustrated 
because I felt I didn’t have a choice in anything. 
 

7. Did the care you receive help you to feel good about yourself?   
 
During the night I became unconscious and was taken to A&E at the John 
Radcliff hospital in an ambulance with two nurses. When I came round 
there were tubes and pipes everywhere. I felt so scared and said what 
happened but of course they didn’t understand my language. 
 
My sons arrived shortly after I came round and said that my sugar levels 
dropped to a dangerous level and something happened to my blood 
pressure. I kept saying I was trying to tell them but the nurses didn’t 
understand or listen. 
 
I was in the John Radcliff hospital for week then taken back to the 
Churchill for recovery. I felt so powerless and venerable I was so 
depressed in hospital. 
 

8. How have your relatives or carers been involved in decisions that affect 
your care, and have you been offered appropriate support?   
 
I wanted my sons to be involved but at times felt that even they did not 
explain fully what was happening. I do not think I was given the full 
information before my operation had I known what was going to happen I 
would not have gone ahead. 

I feel that sometimes my sons feel they know whats best for my health 
and feel I don’t have any say. 

 
9. Has your privacy been respected appropriately? 
10.  

Yes staff did ask and wait for my reponse before entering. 

 

11. Did your care needs every make you feel lonely and if so did the people 
providing your care understand this and help you find ways to overcome 
it?   
 
I felt very lonely at the beginning of my care, and after the incident, 
then the nurses allowed one of my family members to be with me so I 
could feel comfortable. 
 

12. Have you experienced or witnessed any bad treatment or abuse?  

 



 
 

 
61 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

13. If you wanted to give feedback, good or bad, about your own care did 
you know how to do that?  If you wanted to complain were you 
supported to do so?  

 
My sons verbally a made a complain but not a formal complain to be 
honest they did not understand it 

 
14. Can you tell us anything really good about the care you received in 

Oxfordshire?  
 
The care improved after the incident and the nurses were much more 
understanding of my needs such as I had a woman nurse all the time.  
 
They were sensitive to my religious needs by not entering my room 
when I was praying.  
 

15. Can you tell what needs to change?  
 
The system needs to change by more staff on wards, more staff training 
on how to treat people like humans rather that a statistic on the paper 
because we are all human regardless of any culture religion or language. 
 
I think we need to go back to the basics of caring rather than tick boxing 
all the time. 
 
My top three is Listening, respecting and treat others as you would like 
to be treated yourself.   

 

Patient Story 3 

Section 2:  Questions and prompts for shaping your story 

 

1. Name: Alisha 

 

Alisha is a carer for her father in law. He was 74 year old with severe 

Alzheimer’s disease and was cared for at home. 

 

2. Which services have you used?    

I can’t remember the agency that used to come out and carer for my 
father  in law because it was arranged through social services. 

 

3. Do you feel you have been treated respectfully by all the people 
involved in your care?   
 
We lived in a very crowded three bedroom house with my other two 
brothers and sister in laws and my mother in law and three under-fives, 
lack of space meant that my father in law was living in the living room. 
The carers came in twice a day to cleanse, change and help bath my 



 
 

 
62 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

father in law and were very respectful of his condition and the family 
situation. They would smile and talk to him as if he understood and 
share a joke with him, he would respond with a smile and felt 
comfortable with female carers. They respected his wishes when he 
refused to have a bath and listen to his and the families concerns. 
 
 
 They would ask when it was convenient and if there is anything that 
they needed to be aware off on a daily basis. They became a part of our 
family. 

 

 

When your services were being planned, were your personal preferences taken 
into account?   

 
A social worker from Manzil way came and explained everything with us. 
He planned a package with us and gave us several choices to which one 
we thought would best suit us.  
 

4. Were there any communication barriers that prevented you from 
understanding your care arrangements or what was planned?  
 
My father in law could not understand or speak English but we 
communicated for our mother in law who would make the main decisions 
for him. 
 
Although their were language barriers the carers manage to 
communicate with my mother in law through body language and 
pictures.  
 
 

5. Whilst receiving care were you able to retain maximum level of 
independence and control?  
 
He was cared for at home and did not mind female carers. 
 

6. Did the care you receive help you to feel good about yourself?    

 

7. How have your relatives or carers been involved in decisions that affect 
your care, and have you been offered appropriate support?   

8. Has your privacy been respected appropriately? 

 
Yes at all times 

 
9. Did your care needs every make you feel lonely and if so did the people 

providing your care understand this and help you find ways to overcome 
it?  
 
He must of felt lonely but the carers made him feel good  
 



 
 

 
63 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

10. Have you experienced or witnessed any bad treatment or abuse?  

No 

 
11. If you wanted to give feedback, good or bad, about your own care did 

you know how to do that?  If you wanted to complain were you 
supported to do so?  

 

No 

 
12. Which of the Dignity Do’s do you think are most important? (list your top 

3)  
 
Respect. Listening and genuine caring. 

Finally to summarize 

13. Can you tell us anything really good about the care you received in 
Oxfordshire?  

14.  

I am really happy about our care it was respectful dignifying and 

delivered with a smile. 
 

15. Can you tell what needs to change?  

 

Patient Story 4 

G’s story 

G is a white British female, aged 38 years old.  She uses care agencies 

(these have changed over time and have included Day and Night, Home 

Helpers and OPC) to provide her with personal assistants to assist her with 

daily living such as shopping, cooking and cleaning.  She also attends 

Headway Oxfordshire and has support from Community Support Workers at 

Headway Oxfordshire to deal with her finances and attend meetings. 

She feels that generally she is treated with respect by the services she uses, 

but has had some bad experiences with staff who don’t listen to or 

understand her.  Examples of this are below: 

1. ‘Some of the Day and Night agency staff always seemed like they 

were in a rush and made me feel like I was a hassle.  I was in a lot of 

pain and wanted to just have a wash in the living room rather than 

have a full shower in the bathroom but they didn’t listen and made 

me go into the bathroom which hurt a lot.  One staff member really 

upset me by yanking me out of the chair, pulling my dressing gown 

off and calling me ‘unclean’ when actually I was in too much pain to 

have a wash.  Lots of the staff don’t understand my condition 

(trigeminal neuralgia) and the levels of pain I have’. 



 
 

 
64 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

2. ‘OPC agency sent in a lot of different staff every day, which I found 

very difficult because I can’t remember names.  They sometimes 

didn’t remind me to take my medication.  They didn’t help me with 

the housework when they had time over at the end of the shift.  They 

also kept forgetting to leave me a tea plate, which meant that I had 

to go long periods without any food.  I complained to the manager 

and they then sent in fewer staff and put up post-it notes to remind 

the staff what they needed to do’. 

3. ‘One agency sent staff who did not speak very good English.  As I have 

difficulties in communicating due to my brain injury this was very 

stressful for me’.  

4. ‘Often I do not get a choice about what to eat for breakfast, they 

just put the same thing in front of me every day.  Although I have 

stated my preferred times for support in my care plan, in reality this 

varies widely so my morning support can be any time from 6.45 am to 

11 am, which I don’t like.’ 

5. ‘With one agency who supported me there was a safeguarding issue 

with me and one staff member.  My social worker decided to cancel 

my care with them and use another agency. I am not happy about 

that because I really liked them and they supported me in all sorts of 

ways that the other agencies don’t, for example taking me out, doing 

baking with me’. 

G gave two examples of support she has received that she feels made her 

feel she was respected: 

1. ‘Headway Oxfordshire have really helped me to regain my confidence 

in socialising and in going out places. They give me goals to work 

towards that I can achieve and I feel good when I have managed to do 

something new.  They really understand my condition and how it 

affects me and my family’.  

2. OPC staff were brilliant people.  They listened to me and knew what 

to say and what not to say.  They dealt with difficult situations with 

me and my family sensitively’. 

 

 

 

Patient Story 5 

S’s story 

S is a white British female, 48 years old.  She uses Headway Oxfordshire 

services and has had several stays at the Horton and John Radcliffe hospitals 

because of her brain injury. She has only recently been allocated a social 



 
 

 
65 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

worker (1 year after discharge) and is hoping to get more support to cope 

with her brain injury and re-learn skills.  

S said she had some negative experiences in hospital.  This included being at 

risk of cross infection due to poor hygiene on the ward (there was someone 

else’s blood on the chair by her bed).  She was once very upset about her 

case being discussed in an ‘open forum’ where everyone could hear on the A 

and E ward.  She was also upset that the hospital approached her family to 

discuss her care without her present and without asking her.  She was 

discharged from hospital without any transport to get home and without any 

support in place.  

S said that Headway Oxfordshire has always supported her with dignity and 

respect.  When she was at her lowest point and everything seemed like an 

uphill battle they helped by setting small goals and making sure she had lots 

of ‘little breakthroughs’. They helped her to get organised in her paperwork 

and to get her finances sorted.  She said they understand her brain injury 

and how to use behavioural techniques to handle her moods and problems. 

 

Patient Story 6 

D 

D is white British and is 44 years old.  He uses Headway Oxfordshire services 

and has support from personal assistants to assist him with daily living such 

as shopping, cooking and cleaning.  He has used two other care agencies.  

He said that he is unsure that staff always respect his confidentiality and he 

worries that care staff may share information about him without his 

permission, eg to social workers.  He is unsure what the rules are on this. 

D has had some experiences of care staff making him feel unvalued, in some 

cases this has made him feel angry and to ‘lose it’ with them (become angry 

and verbally abusive).  One staff member was spending a lot of time on the 

phone when she should have been supporting him.  Another staff member 

did not know what was on his care plan and how to support him, leading to 

her doing things for him that he could do himself and inappropriately giving 

him personal care in the shower. One agency kept sending staff earlier and 

earlier, resulting in him missing his support because he was not up. He said 

he gets fed up when there are rapid changes of carers because he doesn’t 

get to know and trust people. He has complained about this to the agency 

but nothing has changed. 

D said he is happy with his care plan because it came from his own ideas 

and his dad was involved in setting it up with him.  His social worker 

listened to him and understood what he needs.  



 
 

 
66 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

 

Patient Story 7  

A difficult journey through public healthcare system 

Introduction 

This Patient Story was completed by Guideposts Trust on behalf of the 

‘Dignity in Care’ project which is run jointly by Healthwatch Oxfordshire 

and Age UK Oxfordshire in 2015. The Patient Story takes us through a range 

of experiences that the interviewee as had over the past year. 

About Interviewee 

The individual attended a focus group which was also held for the project, 

and wished to share the extent of his experiences as a carer, navigating his 

way through uncaring statutory dementia care services in Oxfordshire. He 

chose to offer his comments anonymously. For the purposes of this Patient 

Story they will be referred to as LB. His wife, the patient, is referred to as 

JB. 

Challenges  

1. Which services have you used? 

LB and JB accessed a number of services as part of their journey through the 

public healthcare system, including: 

 Accident and Emergency  

 Minor Injuries Unit 

 Memory Clinic  

 PALS  

 Alzheimer’s Society  

 Neurology  

 Neuroradiology  

 

 

2. Do you feel you have been treated respectfully by the people involved 

in your wife’s care? 

February 2015 LB and JB attended the Memory clinic for an appointment. 

After waiting for one hour, LB and JB were seen. JB presented with an arm 

in a sling and an evident degree of distress and confusion due to her 

condition and whereabouts.  LB felt the Dr acted as if she “just wanted to 

get home”. Without looking to the patient’s condition or notes with any 

level of detail, the Dr stated “I’ll not bother to give JB any tests, and it 

doesn’t seem worth you coming back in 6 months – how about 9?” With 



 
 

 
67 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

evident anger and sarcasm, LB suggested: “why not make it a year?” to 

which the Dr responded “yes” enthusiastically. 

Following this appointment LB had a conversation with member of staff 

representing the Alzheimer’s Society. The impression given by staff is that 

they want to help carers, but the individual gave the very opposite 

impression from the way she spoke to LB: “After seven years of no sleep I 

had huge bags under my eyes. I need to be looked after too.”  

LB’s prevailing feeling on leaving this appointment was: “why am I there?” 

He felt that staff wanted them out of the building as quickly as possible and 

that they cared not at all about his or his wife’s welfare.  

3. When services were being planned, were your personal preferences 

taken into account? 

JB was placed in a Care Home following the decision in March 2015 that she 

was no longer able to remain at home in LB’s full time care. LB’s daughter 

arrived at the Care Home for a visit in April 2015. Upon arrival, the 

attending nurse was performing a medical examination of JB. She went on 

to recommend a whole host of issues relating to her health. LB only 

happened to be involved third party due to hearing about it from his 

daughter. He had not been invited to attend, or even informed that it was 

taking place. He feels that things are “not being done with the right people 

consulted” – namely himself in his role as carer.  

Since that list of recommendations was made, LB has had to forcefully chase 

up on the actions, and strongly feels that if he had not done so none of the 

recommended additions to care would have been actioned. 

This experience brought up questions for LB about his interactions with 

services over the last 7 years, for instance: “why hadn’t any of these issues 

been picked up on when they were attending appointments?” His summary 

of the situation was: “it grieves me that they so consistently don’t get it 

right; they don’t even try to get it right.” 

Alarmingly, LB suspects but cannot prove that the majority of the health 

conditions listed on this recent document have proliferated as a result of 

the neglectful care his wife has received in the last 7 years, which has 

included experimentation with the use of drugs which even qualified staff 

do not seem confident in administering. “JB is damaged goods now, and 

whether or not it was them who did this to her I cannot prove. A lone 

person in this minefield of a system would be lost.” 

4. Were there any communication barriers that prevented you from 

understanding your wife’s care arrangements? 



 
 

 
68 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

In December 2014 LB cut her lip badly after a fall. JB and LB went to a 

Minor Injuries unit. Here they were advised that the unit was ill-equipped to 

deal with the injury and were referred instead to A&E. After the standard 

two hour wait they were attended by a nurse. It was clear to LB that the 

nurse (recruited from overseas) could not understand what LB and JB were 

saying, and equally they could not understand him. This made for an 

incredibly frustrating conclusion to an already lengthy (and unresolved) 

attempt to access public health services. 

5. Whilst receiving care were you able to retain maximum level of 

independence and control?  

Continuing on from the experience shared above, LB and his wife were 

referred on to yet another clinic about her lip the next day. LB was 

exasperated that the journey towards receiving care had been so unwieldy: 

“Why couldn’t the Doctor at the Minor Injuries unit agree a solution, or 

think to themselves: ‘what is the best route for a person in light of their 

condition?’” 

6. If you wanted to complain about your wife’s care were you supported 

to do so? 

Facilitating the process of making a complaint and seeing this fail to be 

followed through was a further source of great disappointment for LB: ‘You 

can say what you like but nothing comes of it.” Following the experience at 

A&E in December 2014, LB went to PALS department on the day to file a 

complaint. One month on and LB had heard nothing about the progress of 

his complaint. He then followed up with a phone call to the PALS 

department; where he was informed they had “forgotten” to process his 

complaint. Feeling incredibly frustrated by this, LB then took the initiative 

to phone the Head of PALS. LB summarised his experience and was informed 

by telephone that: “we can’t do anything unless it’s a formal complaint.” As 

such LB requested that this be listed as such. This telephone conversation 

took place in January 2015 and now, months later he is still yet to hear 

anything about whether his complaint has been carried through.  

For LB and all he and his wife have been through in the last 7 years, this 

final blow was very difficult to take. “It’s all about communication. They 

don’t look for the straightforward way out. It’s just not a caring profession 

anymore.” 

Summary 

It is evident that LB and JB have encountered a great deal of challenges, 

and case examples provided from just the past twelve months give a clear 

picture of the lack of dignity that is inherent in communications between 

the couple and various public health departments within NHS.  



 
 

 
69 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

 

Focus Group 1  

 

 

 

DIGNITY IN CARE 

Focus Groups with Carers 

This material has been gathered through talking to older Carers from three 
groups. 

Confidentiality and anonymity  

Anonymity was requested by participants in most instances.  

Two Oxford Care Homes, were highly praised, as was a home-based care 
service.  

 

1. Which services have you used?    

Care Homes (10 people), Day Care (2 people), Hospitals (4 people), care at 
home (5 people). NB. Some participants referred to more than 1 service. 

 
2. Which of the Dignity Do’s are most important to you and why? 

Different Dignity Do’s were important to different individuals, with no clear 

pattern emerging.  Many found it hard to choose one above another, as they 

felt most of them were equally important and, that for people to feel their 

dignity is being respected, all ten should come into play (as intended by the 

Charter).  

Having said that, the Dignity Do’s listed below were deemed the most 

important, with the first being highest rated by the most participants:   

 Have a zero tolerance of all forms of abuse. 

 Support people with the same respect you would want for a 

member of your family. 

 Treat each person as an individual by offering a personalised 

service. 

 Enable people to maintain the maximum possible level of 

independence, choice and control. 

 Listen and support people to express their needs and wants. 

 Ensure people feel able to complain without fear of retribution. 

 Assist people to maintain confidence and positive self-esteem. 



 
 

 
70 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

 Act to alleviate people’s loneliness and isolation.  

 
 

3. Do you feel you have been treated respectfully by all the people 
involved in your care?  

A mixture of responses, as to be expected:  

 Yes definitely, all the services received in the [Care Home] were 

very professionally given. 

 Although a person cared for in her own home reported that Social 

Services carers couldn’t have done enough for her, her neighbour 

carers had mixed responses to the service mainly owing to: 15 

minutes not being enough time, never knowing what time the carers 

would arrive and having so many different carers in very few days, so 

not being able to build continuity or trust. ‘The carers have all, in 

themselves, been very caring and charming but frustrated by the 

system they find themselves in because they want to care for people 

well and to be able to spend more time with them.’  

 Dignity and respect can be confused with choice – so in Care Homes, 

care is not always given due to refusal by the patient which can lead 

to neglect. Common sense needs to prevail over showing dignity and 

respect. 

 Most of the arranging for the care at home service was left to me 

and I was working blind, told to find my own carers.  Where do you 

start? 

 In the [Nursing Homes] the care is often not good enough. More back 

up is always needed.  

 My son has severe learning difficulties and little speech but he has 

always been treated with dignity and respect at [Day Centre].   

 I think the care package from the adult mental health team is 

insufficient. 

 The carers that visit my aunt at home, through Social Services, often 

don’t have enough time to do what they need to do. Two days 

running she didn’t have her tablets, and they had to leave them 

beside her and she didn’t take them.  

 Although the care we had, through District Nurses, was brilliant you 

can’t get the same one all the time, you get one at one time and one 

at the next and you can’t build a rapport with them.  

 For the majority of the time, care at [Care Home] is excellent and as 

if those receiving care were much loved family members. Lapses 

occur when ‘respect’ triumphs over the need to deliver the necessary 

care. This has been addressed in the [hospital]. The medical care was 

excellent and the staff were working very hard but the level of care 

on [ward] is inadequate for those with dementia-which appeared to 

be the majority. I understand that the ward is due to be remodelled 



 
 

 
71 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

and dementia awareness has increased. The food quality was dire 

and would not promote speedy discharge 

 It’s impossible for Carers doing 20 minute home visits to shower 

someone, dress them, give them their breakfast and their 

medication. I can’t even do that for myself.  

 

4. When your services were being planned, were your personal 
preferences taken into account?   

This was excellent in the [Care Home]. 

In the case of people with a dementia, it is hugely important that the 

Carer’s voice is heard. ‘This is a farce my husband is not able to express 

preference or choose and yet he is continually offered verbal or written 

choices. This is a nonsense and best interest decisions need to be made for 

him.’ 

At the [Day Centre], we are always asked what we want to do and as far as 

possible are given that choice 

With domiciliary care, I constantly had to argue my case. Care plans took 

forever to come through.  This caused a great deal of distress 

At the [Day Centre] service planning is good with a Care Plan at both the 

[Day Service Centre] and also the [Respite Unit]. 

To the best of my knowledge my son is always asked what he prefers to do 

even though it is difficult. Staff do put a lot of time into making sure my 

son understands. 

I asked what care I could get when first out of hospital but was told the 

hospital would sort this out. But care for my husband was only for the time 

I was in hospital. I came home and had to cope. There is no joined up 

thinking.  

I was told care for my husband with memory problems was different from 

care I would need. This was nonsense as I would need help to prepare 

meals, do washing for both of us. We were treated as different cases in the 

same house. Madness! 

 

5. Were there any communication barriers that prevented you from 
understanding your care arrangements or what was planned? 

Yes, but not because of languages or other specialist requirements – I found 

my own carers for my relative at home with memory problems but wasn’t 

able to tell them what they were going to be paid. I didn’t understand the 

system, no one explained or seemed to have the time to explain.   



 
 

 
72 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

 

6. Whilst receiving care were you able to retain maximum level of 
independence and control? 

We had an incident where antibiotics needed to be given 4 times a day, a 
carer goes in 3 times a day but the medication has to be given on an empty 
stomach between meals.  So it required a group of us to actually organise a 
rota, so that the appropriate medication was given at the appropriate 
time.  

This is complicated when it comes to someone with dementia.  The need 

for retaining maximum level or independence and control is often used as a 

reason not to give sufficient care.  

Yes some of the time but it is not always possible to go with choice due to 

staffing issues at the [Day Centre] which will only get worse if the [Day 

Centre] closes. This would mean being in the family home most of the time 

with a small personal budget which would not purchase a full week’s 

daytime care. 

 

7. Did the care you receive help you to feel good about yourself? 
How? If not, what happened that made you feel depressed or 
powerless, or that knocked your confidence? 

 

Yes always. The [Care Home] staff were very good at helping people in this 

way. 

There are not enough activities at [care home] or enough care staff, which 

of course affects how people feel about themselves.  This is driven by OCC 

capping the fees at an unsustainable level. The motivation of the staff and 

management are excellent but their budget is insufficient.  

With the Care we receive at home, as a carer I have been made not to feel 

good about myself. I feel I am criticised for making complaints. 

At the [Day Centre] people are encouraged to do new things like cooking, 

which helps you feel good about yourself.   

 
8.  How have your relatives or carers been involved in decisions that 

affect your care, and have you been offered appropriate support?   

I think it’s immensely important that where people are not able to make 
their own decisions and they still wish to obviously maintain as much 
independence as they can, they remain in their own environment.  It’s 
important for social services, doctors, whoever is involved with the care of 
that person to recognise the importance of their family, the closest contact 
with that person who can represent them and actually be involved with the 



 
 

 
73 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

decisions that are being made. I did not feel that I was listened to by Social 
Workers in a Community Care Assessment meeting and was made to feel 
like I was interfering, even though I am extremely familiar with the needs 
of this older person who now has dementia. 

As a carer, I always felt involved at all levels, the [Care Home] did this very 

well.   

My care providers identified people who they involved in my care without 

asking me first. 

At the [Day Centre] this is done very well. Those who we wanted were 

involved appropriately throughout the care and annual reviews held with 

chosen family members.  

 

9. Has your privacy been respected appropriately? 

Yes, in the [Care Home].  

Crazy tick boxes and draft policies mean that care and common sense go 

out the window.  Privacy meant taking my husband to the toilet and then 

leaving him alone in the cubicle.  

 

10. Did your care needs every make you feel lonely and if so did 
the people providing your care understand this and help you find 
ways to overcome it?   

 

My husband who has dementia, often shows signs of agitation and needs 

more one to one attention than is available.  

When you see a loved one not being looked after well, and them feeling 

alone, you often feel a failure yourself as a carer. It would be good to have 

one person you could talk to about what you are going through on a daily 

basis as a carer.   

Not at the moment but that could happen if the [Day Centre] closes and my 

son is unable to meet with his friends and be stuck at home with nobody to 

take him to the activities which he enjoys. 

 

 
11. Do you experience or witness any bad treatment or abuse? 

Yes, at [Care Home]. The Social Worker thought that safeguarding only 

applied to those that were social services funded. [Care home] should have 

been closed down. Staff were brought in from [outside County] to cover 

when inspections were made. 



 
 

 
74 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

I reported abuse to staff but it was difficult because they were from an 

agency, where the turnover was so high, 

I felt at times my aunt is neglected at the care home she is in. For 

example, her drink would be propped up on her blanket, with a biscuit on 

her shoulder. She can only use one finger and thumb on left hand. She 

needs feeding and is frail now.  She is fed yogurt although I have told them 

she hates it. 

 

12 .If you wanted to give feedback, good or bad, did you know 
how to do that?  If you wanted to complain were you supported to 
do so? 

The whole culture in the home was dire. I spoke to Safeguarding and to the 

Care Quality Commission. Their response was totally inadequate.  

It is not easy to complain as a Carer of someone in a Care Home, as you feel 
that they might take it out on the person in the Home. You feel like you 
have to tread very carefully. It shouldn’t be like this.  

At [care home] I felt I was able to make a complaint, but whilst my 
husband was at [other care home] I felt that if I made a complaint I would 
put my husband at even greater risk.  

I think it depends on the nature of the complaint. 

At the hospital I made a complaint and they just made me feel I was 
making it all up. It just depressed me, even though I had support from 
[advocacy organisation].  

I am worried about complaining because sometimes we are not there and I 
feel it might make it worse for her. 

 
12. Can you as group highlight up to 3 really good things about 

care in Oxfordshire? 
 

The care staff: 

‘The love given by carers’ 

‘They notice when my husband is out of sorts. They care about him as well 

as for him. They treat everyone as individuals. ‘ 

‘The person I found to care for my husband when I was in hospital was so 

kind and it worked well.’ 

‘With my aunt in the nursing home the staff that were with her were 

excellent but they often left due to working conditions.’ 

‘Day centre staff take me to the activities I enjoy - swimming horse riding, 

outings.  Day Centre care is really good at [day centre]. Everyone is so 



 
 

 
75 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

friendly and I enjoy the activities. The respite staff are so welcoming and 

friendly and I really enjoy going there.’ 

 

 
13. Can you as a group suggest up to three things that 

Healthwatch Oxfordshire and Age UK Oxfordshire should 
lobby/campaign for to improve services? 

 

When care is given to people with memory problems make sure that there 

are no more than 3 people giving the care. Too many people only confuse 

the people receiving the care. 

Better support for elderly carers to avoid costly crisis and people needing 

to go into costly NHS hospitals or care homes 

A system which allows domiciliary carers to arrive within 10 minutes of 

scheduled time and which allows for longer than 15 minutes. This is just 

insufficient.  Allow enough time for care and offer housework such as 

washing for short periods.  

‘I don’t want more dignity - I want better care. You need to increase the 

fees by around 50%. A shower once a week for those with double 

incontinence is not enough.’ 

There should be a high standard of care available for all that need it. No 

battles to access such care. The care should be for the ‘whole’ person not 

just immediate physical needs.  

Clients need time and dignity. People who are being cared for should be 

treated as you would with to be treated yourself.  

Training and skill is so very important but equally so is that staff are caring 

people. If they are not they are in the wrong occupation. 

 

 

Extract from recording, Carer of a neighbour with dementia. 

‘She has dementia and was admitted to hospital with and infection which 
was increasing her confusion and making life more difficult for her.  She 
was kept in the [hospital] for 6 weeks and she was actually going ballistic 
because it was a completely alien environment, completely and unable to 
actually make rational decisions and the hospital was making it much, much 
worse. She couldn’t relate to that environment and she was moved from 
one ward to another, and it took a long time to actually get out. Obviously 
the hospital wanted to discharge her but she was insistent she wanted to 
remain in that home, she had lived there 91 years, she had parents in that 



 
 

 
76 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

home who had passed away in that house and that was it, she was going to 
stay there.  At the end of last year, she wanted to make her will and she 
wanted to organise her life.  She was rational enough to do that, and there 
was an assessment on her mental faculties to show that she was able to 
make some decisions, even though on the day to day she couldn’t 
remember whether she’d had breakfast, or whether she had taken tablets 
or whatever. 

When she was discharged from hospital there was an assessment the day 
she went home with an assessor from community care, there was a 
community social worker, one of the carers from the care company, a 
community Occupational Therapist and there was me.  This lady was 
completely overwhelmed by so many people, she was angry, she was upset, 
she was confused and she had just come home from hospital to her own 
environment and she hadn’t met them before apart from me. And they 
were all there together.  And they were trying to assess her in all their 
different disciplines.  There was me trying diplomatically to put the right 
points across to put something together, would understand what this lady’s 
life had been, and what she needed to get back to in order to settle. And so 
this situation was very difficult.  We tried to facilitate, but I was asked by 
social services not to interfere as social services/ community care needed 
to get to know this lady.  The following week there were 8 different carers 
going in anytime between 8-11 in the morning, 12-2 and 6 in the evening.  
This lady had a very rigid routine.  These carers were going in and saying 
‘have you had your breakfast’, not checking whether she actually had.  I 
have witnessed this.  Then they said we can’t supply meals unless we have 
a microwave because 20 minutes is our maximum.  They were really 
resistant.  So a friend gave them a microwave on long-term loan and left it 
to the carers to try and negotiate, but then she was getting 2 lunches in 
one day or not getting fed.  Talking to the carers who were trying their 
best, whose main frustration to them was the lack of understanding, 
communication and administration and lack of time to spend with each 
person. They had to rush all around Oxford and spend time travelling.  The 
carers more and more are saying we are going to get out of this job because 
there is too much pressure and yet they are excellent.  You know, many 
have been trained in dementia care, they know what they are doing, but 
they are being driven crazy by this system, the lack of real understanding 
of what they do and how they do it.  The administrative side, I really think 
they have a very lackadaisical approach.  If I report something, they don’t 
pass it onto the carers, so you go in the next time and say ‘did you know 
such and such happened or such and such is needed to be done and they 
say’ no, we didn’t know’ – they haven’t been told. 

 



 
 

 
77 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

 

 

 

Focus Group 2 

 

Healthwatch Oxfordshire ‘Dignity in Care’ 
Project  
Oxford Focus Group Notes  
LOCATION  
Peace House, Paradise Square, Oxford  
DATE  
20/04/2015  
DURATION  
1 hr 30 mins  
FACILITATORS  
1. Laura O’Sullivan (Guideposts Trust, Project Officer for Service User 
Communications)  
2. Annie Davy (Healthwatch Oxfordshire, Project Fund and Engagement)  
3. Claire Ward (Guideposts Trust, Information Services Manager)  
4. Jan Cottle (Guideposts Trust, Dementia Information Co-ordinator, 
Oxfordshire)  
 

PURPOSE  
 
This focus group was intended to inform the ‘Dignity in Care’ project being 
led by Healthwatch Oxfordshire and Age UK Oxfordshire, which Guideposts 
is pleased to be partnering on. Our Dementia Information Support Service 
(DISS) is a widely-respected and active resource for people living with 
dementia in Oxfordshire; boasting excellent professional networks, 
campaigning service user representatives and extensive experience in 
communicating sensitively with this client group. Furthermore we have a 
dedicated Project Officer in post who consults with partners on matters 
relating to engagement and accessible communication. It therefore seemed 
fitting to assist in carrying out discussions with small groups of people living 
with dementia to find out if their care has met dignity standards.  
 
ATTENDEES  
 
There were 5 attendees in total - 2 carers and 3 individuals with a dementia 
diagnosis. The event had been advertised via social media, emails sent to a 
selection of current Guideposts service users, via partner organisations and 



 
 

 
78 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

posters distributed at various sites such as health centres and noticeboards. 
We were pleased to have a range of attendees, some of whom had had 
contact with Guideposts in the past and some who were fresh to the 
service.  
 
FORMAT  
 
As relaxed a format as possible was adopted in the interest of being 
sensitive to people’s experiences and communication challenges. As such 
following a brief introduction to the project from Annie Davy from 
Healthwatch Oxfordshire, and a 3 minute film on dignity, attendees were 
split into 2 smaller groups with 2 facilitators per group. Visual aids were 
made available on each table representing various themes such as personal 
care, physical assistance, privacy etc. as well as the list of ‘Dignity Do’s’ 
and an attendee information sheet. Facilitators had question sheets that 
could be used to prompt for further discussion if necessary. The two groups 
briefly came together at the end for conclusion and overview.  
 
KEY MESSAGES  
 
1. The need for this report to be used to promote genuine change  
“I don’t want another report that sits on a shelf”  
“Healthwatch is simply conducting another survey which we have already 
done before and nothing happened with that”  
 
2. Dignity Do’s fundamentally absent  
“For me dignity is being neglected. Most of these ‘Dignity Do’s’ point 
towards practical care needs and from what I have seen, they are all being 
neglected.”  
“I have had a series of operations due to stroke. I reacted badly to 
anaesthetic and so I was completely loopy for 3 months whilst on a ward. I 
was left for hours in my piss and shit, I was sedated and my health needs 
were neglected. None of the ’10 Do’s’ were there. It is a completely 
aspirational list. I have seen no attempts to put it into practice – only lip 
service.”  
 
3. Health & Social Care Services under-resourced meaning overworked 
staff and lack of genuine service user involvement  
“The salami-slicing of budgets and means-testing means people get moved 
from service to service because it’s cheaper – there’s no personal choice in 
that.”  
“If Healthwatch want to do a visit they should go to [wards] at the [hospital] 
in the early hours of the morning; chaos due to lack of adequate staffing.”  
“The warden for the sheltered housing where I live is totally absent because 
she is overseeing 5 wards. They are completely overworked with no 
support.”  
“There need to be people who are affected by services designing, 
monitoring and holding those services to account.”  
 



 
 

 
79 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

4. Communication of information occurs in way that ignores personal 
dignity  
“My experience with information services is that there has been too much 
signposting. There’s no point passing us on because we will forget! It is a 
very mysterious process getting support.”  
“Organisations want to pass you on a lot of the time, or they only give us 
partial information.”  
“Respect is needed. Social services should not approach people with 
dementia alone as unfamiliar.”  
“My Carers Check was an online Survey Monkey type automated system – no 
personal contact.”  
“We were told to go to so many different places at the hospital which was 
so confusing because the instructions were more often than not inaccurate. 
If user and carer not given appropriate information how can we be in 
control? We need full information about things like blood tests and 
implications.”  
“In hospitals the staff all foreign now with very strong accents and poor 
English –I couldn’t understand what was being said and therefore what 
choices I was making.”  
 
5. Need for more coordinated and respectful system  
“I felt such pressure to pay privately and to have my wife at home. I’m 85 
and I feel I cannot cope. I was given 3 appointments without any co-
ordination.”  
“Care has been turned into transactions and turning commissioning into 
contracts – where is the person needing health and social care within this 
systems culture? They are lost.”  
 
6. Dementia diminishes assertive capacity to make choices and have 
needs understood. Advocacy is essential or else dementia will almost 
certainly lead to undignified care.  
“We had a bone density scan at the [hospital]. It was a very good service 
but staff are clueless about dementia. It should be flagged up on the 
patient’s notes so the carer can help as needed but that information just 
doesn’t get passed on.”  
“Carers generally need more support in hospitals, like an advocate to help 
them through the system and to speak out when necessary on their behalf – 
especially for carers who are older and are tired and exhausted 
themselves.”  
 
7. Waiting times and wasted appointments are a massive frustration  
“Timing of appointments for carers needs to be accounted for too. How can 
I care for [my wife] when I have to have an appointment early in the 
morning?”  
“We had a situation last summer where my daughter had an appointment at 
the [hospital] at 1.30pm but we didn’t get home until late that night. They 
knew I was a carer so I was frantically trying to call people who could go 
and look after [my husband]. No consideration or individual care.”  



 
 

 
80 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

 

 

Focus Group 3 
 

Dignity in Care- Focus group report.  

Every year Headway Oxfordshire helps to improve the lives of over 400 

individuals affected by brain injury. Headway Oxfordshire offers a high 

quality rehabilitation, advice and support to individuals with an acquired 

brain injury. Through our centre, service users have access to a range of 

activities that complement their formal rehabilitation. We encourage 

socialisation and peer support with the aim of reducing anxiety and 

increasing confidence. Our Community Support Team work with individuals 

in hospitals, their home environment and out in the community.  Our 

Personnel assistants work 1:1 out in the community to increase 

independence and every day skills.  

A group of 12 service users met at Headway Oxfordshire on 17.3.15.  The 

facilitator explained the aims of the Dignity in Care project and we used the 

framework for whole group discussion, then we split into smaller groups to 

discuss some of the questions in more detail. 

Service users had used a range of services, including hospital wards, OTs, 

physiotherapists, private care agencies, nursing homes and voluntary 

groups. 

The most important dignity ‘do’ identified was to listen and support people 

to express their needs and wishes.  Several service users reported that even 

when they have expressed a preference a carer will sometimes try to 

persuade them to do something else e.g. not go out when it is raining.  This 

concept of not being treated like an adult, or of being treated as if they 

were stupid, was a recurring theme in the discussion and a cause of great 

annoyance. 

Most service users said they were consulted about aspects of their care and 

given some choice about it, but one service user  reported an experience of 

care being set up for him while he was in hospital without him being 

consulted.  Nobody recalled being given any assistance to express their likes 

or dislikes. None of them knew about advocacy services.  Several service 

users were satisfied with their level of choice about their services, but said 

their choices were often limited by a lack of knowledge about available 

services.  One service user reported that often carers did not really know 

him and what he is capable of, so they would judge him and what he can do 

without having enough information and understanding about his condition. 



 
 

 
81 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

Communication was an issue for many, with one service user reporting that 

often carers didn’t fully realise what their communication difficulties were. 

Some service users had very positive experiences of care that made them 

feel good about themselves.  This was when their carer respected them as a 

person, really understood them and their condition well and was able to 

support them to make decisions.  Negative care experiences were mostly 

about not being listened to or choices not being respected.  Being treated 

as if they were stupid was a common theme too.  One service user reported 

that a carer had made demeaning racist comments towards him, but when 

he reported it to a manager that staff member was removed. Service users 

also said that they did not like being told what to do by their carers, for 

example one service user was asked to change TV channels as the carer did 

not like the religious TV show he was watching. One service user also had a 

bad experience of a carer exploiting her but when she reported this to the 

manager she was taken seriously and the carer was investigated and 

dismissed. Other things that service users did not like carers to do was to be 

impatient with them, not use their names and abuse handicapped facilities. 

The main recommendations from the group for Healthwatch Oxfordshire to 

take forward were: 

1. In order to respect a person and treat them with dignity, carers need 

to be fully informed about individual’s conditions, what they can and 

can’t do and how they would like to be supported.  This information 

should be easily accessible to new carers. Care staff should be better 

educated about the condition of the person they care for. 

 

2. Service users are often unable to make choices and have control over 

their care (one of the Dignity Do’s) due to a lack of information about 

the range of support available.  This sometimes results in people not 

receiving adequate support for extended periods, particularly when 

coming out of hospital.   

 

3. Carers need to treat service users as a person by listening carefully to 

their needs and wishes.  Carers must get to know the service user and 

their condition well so that they can assist the service user to express 

their wishes fully. 

Report written by Claire Twinn.  Service manager of Headway Oxfordshire. 

24.4.15 

 

 

 



 
 

 
82 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

Appendix 2:  Dignity in Care Award 

Winners 2015 

 

The Dignity in Care Awards 2015 are an initiative run by Age UK Oxfordshire 
in partnership with Healthwatch Oxfordshire, to celebrate local people, 
places and initiatives which are giving outstanding care and have gone that 
extra mile to deliver real dignity in care. 
 

Award for an unpaid carer 
 
Winner: Ruth Najeme 
 

Ruth is a trained nurse and cares for her mother at home. Ruth’s mother 

is in her 90s and suffers from a number of serious health conditions. She 

is totally bedbound and is unable to speak.  Ruth has been put forward 

for this award by a local GP.  

 

“Whilst Ruth is a trained nurse herself, the devotion and care which she 

has given to her mother is absolutely exceptional... Ruth has used her 

nursing skills and love to save her mother’s life and care for her at home in 

a way that is quite remarkable. As a GP, with 30 years’ experience, I have 

never seen the likes of this skill and devotion from a carer or relative.”  Dr 

H 

 

Award for Care or Support Staff (4 Awards) 
 
Winner: Claire Fuller 
 
Claire has worked as a Home Support Worker for Greigcare in Banbury 

for 6 years. Claire has been put forward for this award by a family 

member of someone she cares for. 

 

“In my opinion, Claire is unbelievable. My wife has vascular dementia and 

is confined to a wheelchair. For the past two years Claire has treated my 

wife at all times with dignity, compassion and tenderness. She frequently 

goes the ‘extra mile’ to ensure my wife is comfortable and content. My 

wife trusts Claire implicitly and is 100% at ease with her... During the time 

that Claire is with my wife, she feeds her lunch, washes her hair, does her 

nails and has conversations with my wife (who speaks very little), but 

whom I am sure understands Claire at all times.   



 
 

 
83 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

 

Claire is always immaculately dressed and has a smile on her face at all 

times. In my opinion, I believe she just loves her job as a carer.” Mr B 

 
 
Winner: Vicky Bauckham 
 
Vicky has been a Care Worker at St Andrews Care Home in Headington 

for 18 years. Vicky has been put forward for this award by a family 

member of someone she cares for and her Manager. 

 

 “I love that Vicky always greats me when I enter the care home. She has a 

great sense of humour and often makes me laugh. She instinctively knows if 

I am worried about mum and she will sometimes send me a photograph of 

mum later or maybe the following morning, illustrating that mum is smiling 

and happy.”  Mrs R 

 

“Vicky is very devoted to her residents – she treats them like family, which 

is comforting for their family members. She really goes that ‘extra mile’ 

and she has a good way with people to help them achieve their potential 

within the home. She gives one to one special attention and helps residents 

to get involved in activities by putting a lot of thought into what their 

capabilities and interests are.”  Manager     

 

Winner: Olwen Davies 
 
Olwen has been the Support Coordinator at Oxford Options Health and 

Wellbeing Centre for 5 years. Previously Shotover Day Centre and 

Rectory Road, she has been working with the service all together for 26 

years. Olwen has been put forward for this award by the family member 

of a service user. 

 

“Leaving one’s husband at a day centre for the first time is so hard. Olwen 

with her understanding and warmth helped ease this step for me more than 

I can say.  She gave me the confidence in knowing that my husband would 

be well cared for, and his individuality respected. This, in turn, gave me 

‘permission’ to take this much needed break. 

 

I had great confidence in the way that Olwen worked with my 

husband...Olwen helped him to feel valued and respected and he was relaxed 

and happy there... There is no doubt that she enabled me to carry on caring 

for my husband at home for as long as I did.” Mrs H 

 
 



 
 

 
84 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

Winner: Emma Riley 
 
Emma is family carer as well as a qualified social worker. She has worked 

as a Community Support Worker for Headway Oxfordshire for 3 years, 

supporting people affected by acquired brain injury. Emma has been put 

forward for this award by a number of people, including service users, 

their family members, and her Manager. 

 

“I always know that I can contact Emma if I need advice or reassurance... 

Without her reliable, friendly support and yet also real professionalism, I 

am not sure I could have made it through the year.  In a world which, for 

me as a brain injured person, often feels frantic, confusing and 

overwhelming, knowing someone who genuinely cares and tries not to judge 

is a lifeline back to society.” Ms B 

 

“Emma has shown us unfailing courtesy throughout. She is never 

condescending and treats us both with the utmost respect, but she is also 

fun and brings much needed laughter into our lives.” Mrs L 

 

 

Award for leadership in dignity in care 
Sponsored by Oxfordshire Association of Care Providers 
 
Winner:  Christina Walford 
 
Christina is the Manager and Founder of Autumn Years Care in Thame. 
Christina has been put forward for this award by her colleague and the 
family member of a service user. 
 
“Christina has shown time and time again that dignity and respect to her 
means everything. Not just for the clients but also towards her staff. She 
treats each client as a human being... she visits every client personally; to 
make sure they are happy. As she always says “I wouldn`t expect my carers 
to do anything I wouldn`t do”. She leads by example.” Colleague 
 
“Christina had no hesitation in going beyond of the call of duty for me and 
my mother - helping me out of hours and answering phone calls. She and 
her girls were absolutely outstanding. My mother passed away this year.  
The last 7 months of her life were made so much more tolerable by 
wonderful the care from Christina.” Mrs L 

 
 

 
 
 
 



 
 

 
85 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

Award for a care or support setting or service 
 
Winner: Wallingford Health and Wellbeing Centre 
 
The team at Wallingford Health and Wellbeing Centre include: Kerry 

Coleman (Manager), Isabella Godin, Ruth Evans, Sue Newman, Katie 

Evans, Anita Gray and Laura Fisher and Carol Harrison. They have been 

put forward for this award by a Carers Oxfordshire Outreach Worker and 

the family member of a service user. 

 

“All the staff are, without exception, kind and caring of the clients 

whatever their needs, disabilities or frailties. Whenever I have visited to 

run a carers group, the staff can be seen sitting with clients, bathing them 

or doing a meaningful activity...each client is treated as an individual. 

They advocate for those clients who need it too, making sure other 

agencies treat them with the respect they deserve.” Outreach Worker 

 

“When I take my husband round in the wheelchair, sometimes I am so 

exhausted and when I walk through the door they just know and someone 

will always come up to me, see how I am, give me a hug, chat with me or 

offer me a drink. They are all a team, caring personified.” Mrs E 

 

 

Award for innovation in Dignity in Care 

Sponsored by the Picker Institute 
 
Winner:  Angela Nagle 
 
Angela is a Staff Nurse on the Dialysis Main Unit at Churchill Hospital. 
Angela has been awarded for her work in promoting the concept of 
‘Shared Care in Dialysis’ at Churchill Hospital.  
 

Angela has led the team of nurses in enabling any patient, or relative 

who wants to be more involved in care, to be able. The involvement 

ranges from completing paperwork, and a self-assessment of how they 

are feeling, taking and recording their weight, measuring their blood 

pressure. Many then progress to lining and priming and programming 

their dialysis machine to inserting needles and being completely 

independent in their dialysis. 

 

Angela has assisted in developing a range of concepts to support ‘Shared 

Care’- badges for staff to wear saying ‘Ask me about Shared Care’- pens 

for patients and visual step by step guides for setting up machines.  

 



 
 

 
86 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

“Angela is persuasive and creative in how she engages patients and 

supportive of their anxieties and concerns. She has also shown that many 

patients are keen to be active in some parts of their care.  

 

I can see that this change in care delivery has had a valuable impact on the 

peer relationships of patients and the support they offer each other. 

 

Fundamentally, Angela’s work has reshaped the whole ethos of what a 

dialysis unit means for me and that rather than a place of ‘illness’ it is a 

place where we can promote ‘health’ by patient involvement.”  Matron 

 

 

Josie’s Award (2 Awards) 
 
Winner:  Pat Ross 
 
Pat is from Oxford and has facilitated the Oxford Mind Carers Group for 

many years, in a voluntary capacity. She has lived experience which she 

draws on to work with carers who are supporting loved ones who have 

mental illness. To enhance this work she became a governor of the 

Oxford Health Foundation Trust, Chairs the Response Housing Carers 

Group and is a retired nurse. 

 

“Pat has been most supportive to me. She understands how carers such as 

myself are affected by the very stressful role of being a carer of loved ones 

who have mental illness.  

 

I manage depression, anxiety and panic attacks brought on by my situation 

in order to prevent a relapse. Pat's support is integral in helping me to 

keep well and able to continue to care for my sons.   

 

She is most accessible in providing support. She is warm and welcoming to 

all. She listens carefully to what the carer is saying and she will focus on 

what the carer needs. Carers can often feel lost and don't know where to 

go. Pat will give good advice and she is available to talk to at the end of 

the phone, by email and face to face. 

 

Pat's work provides carers of those with mental illness the dignity to carry 

on caring and the support to develop the skills to continue to help their 

loved ones to recovery.” Mrs C 

 

Winner:  Christine Tucker 
 
Christine is from Goring and is a founding member of the Goring Carers 

Group, she was also the primary carer for her husband for many years.  



 
 

 
87 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

Christine freely shares the benefit of her considerable experience with 

other carers. She is keen to promote the welfare of carers in her 

community and to guide them towards services that are available.  

 

Christine has sought opportunities to plead for a better deal for carers, 

for example with the local MP, and also represents carers interests as a 

member of her local medical practice Patient Participation Group. 

 

“Chris is widely respected and admired in her local community for the 

selfless care she gave to her ailing husband. She offers valuable support to 

other carers and is an effective spokesperson on their behalf. 

 

Chris is know for her warmth, openness and good humour...Carers speak of 

the way that she always has time to listen, to encourage and to offer 

practical advice. Chris is outstanding among carers. She showed exceptional 

dedication in looking after her husband, while still finding the time and 

energy to support individuals and to seek ways of improving the welfare of 

carers.” Mrs A and Mrs H 

 

 

 



 
 

 
88 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

Appendix 3 – Detailed responses 

from commissioners and providers 

Oxfordshire County Council response 

 
Improving Communication  
 
1. Communication be improved between staff and patients and their 
families, understanding that this communication must be two-way. 
Respondents to this survey report feeling they are being ‘done to’ and are 
not actively involved in their care.  
 
Oxfordshire County Council is committed to making sure that 
communication is open and two-way. We have recently revised our Adult 
Social Care Policy Framework and accompanying operational guidance to 
ensure it is all compliant with the Care Act 2014. The guidance has been 
written to be equally accessible to people who use services, their families 
and staff. This means processes and decision-making are open to all 
concerned, making balanced discussion and genuine joint planning of 
support possible. 
 
We have developed and improved what is available to people in the way of 
information and advice, both online and in booklet form. Again, this makes 
informed discussion and planning easier. We commission the Community 
Information Network which trains and supports volunteers to help people 
find out what is available in their own communities, making sure they have 
the opportunity to be active in their own wellbeing, independence and 
support when needed. 
 
The council's Engagement Team works with people with disabilities, mental 
health problems and learning disabilities, as well as older people, to make 
sure we understand what matters most to them, and to make improvements 
where they are most needed. The team is also working with commissioners 
to develop a model of co-production that will see service users directly 
involved in the design and commissioning of future services. This model is 
already being employed in the redesign of respite care and the council is in 
the process of developing training for commissioners that is service user led.  
 
2. Access to support services which facilitate dignified care be more widely 
promoted and offered. Specifically, we heard about difficulties in accessing 
advocates and interpreters, but this also applies to the inclusion of carers.  

The council is committed to commissioning support services that provide 

better access to good quality care and support as early as possible. There is 



 
 

 
89 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

a general expectation that all care and support services commissioned by 

the council are delivered with dignity and respect and providers are 

expected to adhere to the ‘Dignity Do’s’, namely: 

 Have a zero tolerance of all forms of abuse 

 Support people with the same respect you would want for 
yourself or a member of your family 

 Treat each person as an individual by offering a personalised 
service 

 Enable people to maintain the maximum possible level of 
independence, choice and control 

 Listen and support people to express their needs and wants 

 Respect people's right to privacy 

 Ensure people feel able to complain without fear of retribution 

 Engage with family members and carers as care partners 

 Assist people to maintain confidence and positive self-esteem 

 Act to alleviate people's loneliness and isolation 

Our new Information and Advice Strategy articulates the council’s drive to 

ensure access to advice and support that enables people to fully understand 

the range of options available to them to meet their care and support 

needs.  

The planned development of an e-marketplace will offer individuals, carers 

and professionals the opportunity to choose and purchase good quality care 

and support services from providers specifically selected by the council.  

The council also runs campaigns that promote access to support services and 

equipment which facilitate dignity in care. For example, our current 

assistive technology campaign promotes the availability of devices that can 

be used in a person’s home to improve their quality of life and that of their 

carer, and help them maintain independence. Access to this kind of support 

is promoted through face-to-face events, press releases, newsletters, media 

campaigns and information on the county council website. 

Furthermore, the council commissioned Community Information Network 

operates across the county through information drop-ins, over the phone or 

visiting people at home, enabling individuals to access local support 

services, activities, financial advice and social care. 

Recently the council has commissioned an expanded advocacy service in 

response to the requirements of the Care Act 2014. The service has reached 

an additional 53 people to support them in accessing or reviewing their 

support and care compared to the same period last year. In the first six 

months (from April to Sept 2015), 70% of people using the service were seen 

within the target time of two days (hospital referrals) and five days 



 
 

 
90 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

(referrals at home). In the last three months everyone using the service was 

seen within the target time. 

A new contract for interpretation services has been established by a 

consortium, led by the Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group and 

including health providers and the County Council. This will allow staff to 

access interpretation either face-to-face or over the telephone through a 

quick and easy online system. The new service started on 1 September and 

we will be monitoring it closely to make sure access across the health and 

care system is improved. 

To support the inclusion of carers, the council has run workshops on 

addressing the initial problems raised about the new self-assessment 

process, which is designed to make it easier for more carers to get the 

information, advice and support they need. Following up from a meeting 

with Healthwatch Oxfordshire, in January 2016 commissioners are meeting 

carers about the self-assessment forms, to work together on practical 

improvements.  

3. Discussions about maintaining dignity be included in staff training and 
induction, and that this training should include: dementia awareness, 
limiting jargon and using plain English, two-way communication and a 
broader understanding of dignity.  
 
Staff training already includes dementia awareness and a broad 
understanding of dignity. The council is committed to the use of plain 
English and ensuring people are listened to and their needs and preferences 
are understood. The council hosts the Dignity and Dementia Champion 
Network, which examines the importance of dignity in the development of 
care models, and contributes to training. Many of the people who work in 
commissioning (and more broadly across the council) have signed up 
individually to be Dignity Champions. 
  
 
Developing a workplace culture that supports Dignity in Care 
  
4. Providers and commissioners work to ensure staff have the time to care, 
by increasing the proportion of time they spend with patients. This could 
be done through continued work to improve processes and paperwork, work 
to decrease staff sickness or through increasing allotted time for specific 
tasks. Recently, the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 
(NICE) offered its first guidance for the social care sector that touches on 
dignity and the time to care, by recommending a standard for domiciliary 
visits of 30 minutes.  

 
The County Council remains committed to making sure that all visits for 
support at home are the right length for the person and the support they 
need, and in all cases are sufficient for care and support to be given with 



 
 

 
91 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

dignity and respect. All visits involving intimate personal care such as help 
with washing or using the toilet will be more than 15 minutes long.  
 
Our Workforce Strategy includes the promotion of Value Based Recruitment 
with organisations providing support and care at home. This supports 
providers to recruit people for their desire to work caring for others, and 
their commitment to values such as dignity and respect. A pilot for this type 
of recruitment was run with six organisations between November 2014 and 
June 2015. Results are being analysed and the method refined, so that this 
approach can be adopted as part of the council’s new home care model, 
Help to Live at Home.  
 
5. Commissioners and providers in Oxfordshire broaden the discussion on 
dignity so that it encompasses all elements of dignified care (the do’s can 
provide a guide) and that this discussion inform training, the development 
of care models or pathways. There is a need to help staff focus on the 
balance between patient choice and dignity, particularly when patients 
have a diminished capacity to make choices.  
 
The central principles of the 'Do's' from Dignity in Care 2015, as repeated in 
this report, are at the heart to the council's approach to support and care. 
Our Adult Social Care Policy Framework, with the associated guidance for 
staff and for the public, outlines our commitment to putting people at the 
centre of their own care and support.  
 
Our priority is to make sure people are treated as individuals, have choice, 
independence and control, and that families, friends and carers of those 
who have support and care services are seen as partners, while helping 
people to stay safe from harm. 
 
Commissioners at Oxfordshire County Council approach dignity in its 
broadest sense, and work with providers of adult social care to do the same. 
Our Home Care Standards were written jointly by people who receive care 
in their home and home care support agencies.  
 

Home care staff will: 

● introduce themselves when they arrive; 

● know you and your support plan; 

● be trained to deliver the support you need; 

● always deliver support to a good standard. 

 

When your home care worker visits you, they will: 

● focus their attention on you; 

● be pleasant and treat you with dignity and respect; 



 
 

 
92 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

● do their very best to arrive on time and let you know by telephone 

   if they are going to be late; 

● tell you when they are leaving; 

● check to see how they can best support you at the start of each 

visit; 

● not rush you - they will help you at a pace that suits you; 

● carry out all agreed tasks; 

● make sure that you are comfortable at all times; 

● communicate and discuss topics that interest you; 

● check that you are happy with the support you are given and 

   encourage you to tell us how they can improve; 

● show you your care record if you ask for it; 

● be aware that their visit may affect other household members. 

 
 
6. Providers do further work to develop an open culture that learns from 
complaints and isn’t defensive so that patients and carers feel able to make 
complaints/report abuse without fear of repercussions. Respondents’ 
reports of reactionary or defensive responses to initial concerns or signs of 
staff being managed harshly were some of the elements which caused 
concerns.  

 
The council's Comments and Complaints service is working even more 
closely with providers of adult social care to develop a culture of learning 
from complaints and concerns. This summer the team ran a workshop for 
residential care home staff to explore the need to share learning from 
complaints, and view these as a positive tool to promote improvement in 
services. Twice each year the council asks providers of support and care at 
home to share the complaints and compliments they received, what they 
learned from them and what has changed as a result. This is in addition to 
contract monitoring where complaint numbers are collected routinely.  
 
There is a short film on the council's website in which John Jackson 
(Director of Adult Social Services) and Councillor Heathcoat (Cabinet 
Member for Adult Social Care) explain why they value hearing when 
something has gone wrong, and reassuring the public that they will not 
tolerate repercussions against anyone who raises a concern. 
 
 



 
 

 
93 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

Oxford University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

Response  

 

Healthwatch Dignity Report 
recommendations 
 

OUHFT response: Initiatives in place to ensure 

that dignity and respect are at the heart of 

individual’s care and treatment. 

 

Bullet points in bold indicate planned activity. All 

other items indicate existing and ongoing 

activities. 

1. Communication be 
improved between staff 
and patients and their 
families, understanding 
that this communication 
must be two-way.  

 

 A hospital passport is in place for people 
with learning disabilities to which are 
designed to give hospital staff helpful 
information that isn't only about illness and 
health.  

 A Trust wide compassionate care training 
programme has been introduced using the 
Trust Values.  

 The Trust has co-produced with voluntary and 
partner organisations a new Privacy and 
Dignity Policy. 

 The development and implementation of the 
‘Knowing Me’ care planning document.  

2. Access to support services 
which facilitate dignified 
care be more widely 
promoted and offered.  

 

 OUHFT will review advocacy arrangements 
at the Trust with a view to ensuring that 
access to advocates and other support is 
improved. For example, information will 
be put in patient packs and to promote 
Oxfordshire Advocacy services more 
widely. 

 Learning Disability Liaison nurse is available 
for supporting LD patients 

 Tracking and flagging in place so LD patients 
can be identified when in hospital 

 Interpretation and translation– there is new, 
improved provider, increased profile on the 
internet, a banner promoting the service is 
planned for the JR Welcome Centre and 
newly developed cards for patients to 
request services. 

 Carers’ Surgery – Carers Oxfordshire are 
working in the JR for 21 hours a week in 
hospital wards offering support, advice and 



 
 

 
94 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

signposting for carers. This is just started 
and will be piloted and evaluated.   

 Independent Mental Capacity Advocates 
(IMCA) – a piece of work is currently being 
undertaken to raise profile of IMCA services 
with consent to treatment and moving 
residents.  

3. Discussions about 
maintaining dignity be 
included in staff training 
and induction, and that 
this training should 
include: dementia 
awareness, limiting jargon 
and using plain English, 
two-way communication 
and a broader 
understanding of dignity.  

 

 The first session of the Trust induction day is 
about Trust values – how to talk to people 
and be respectful. 

 Induction day afternoon session is on dignity 
and dementia. 

 Session in induction on using plain English, 
multi-cultural understanding – language 
plain English 

 Safeguarding is a key theme of the induction 

 We will review the inclusion of the 
induction day and other training on dignity 
and respect. 

4. Providers and 
commissioners work to 
ensure staff have the time 
to care, by increasing the 
proportion of time they 
spend with patients. This 
could be done through 
continued work to improve 
processes and paperwork, 
work to decrease staff 
sickness or through 
increasing allotted time for 
specific tasks.  

 

 The Trust has piloted a new scheme 
(Manchester Clocks) on two wards for 
measuring direct and indirect contact care 
time.  This will be rolled out throughout the 
Trust and will allow OUHFT to understand 
better the levels of direct contact care time 
and to measure it over time with a view to 
increasing it where needed. 

 The Manchester Tool will help to inform the 
Establishment settings which are set twice 
per year and determine staffing levels and 
help set the roster. Currently acuity (patient 
needs) and professional judgement is used to 
set the Establishment settings -  the 
Manchester Clocks Tool will add further 
intelligence to this.  

 There is an extensive ongoing programme of 
work to ensure safe staffing levels including 
assessment of direct contact care, twice 
daily review wards on all four sites which 
record and review shifts and move staff 
around if necessary. 

5. Commissioners and 
providers in Oxfordshire 
broaden the discussion on 
dignity in work places, so 
that it encompasses all 
elements of dignified care 

 The Trust Values encompass the principles of 
privacy and dignity and are raised at 1:1s 
and appraisals. 

 



 
 

 
95 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

(the do’s can provide a 
guide) and that this 
discussion inform training 
and the development of 
care models or pathways.  

 

 The Trust has a range of policies to support 
privacy and dignity : 

o Privacy and Dignity Policy (includes 
reference to the Dignity ‘Do’s’) 

o Chaperone and Intimate Examination 

Care Guidance Policy  

o Transgender Guidance 
o Safeguarding Policies (Adults and 

Children) 
o Dementia Strategy 
o Delivering Same Sex Accommodation 

Policy  
o Learning Disability Policy  
o Consent to Examination or Treatment 

Policy 
o Raising concerns (Whistleblowing) 

Policy 
o Management of Patient’s Comments, 

Concerns and Complaints Policy and 
Procedure 

6. Staff be helped to focus on 
the balance between 
patient choice and dignity, 
particularly when patients 
have a diminished capacity 
to make choices.  

 

 There is dementia training on induction day 
(as outlined in 3). 

 Dementia training in departments is led by 
Dementia leads. 

 Seven Dementia friendly computers to 
support reminiscence in hospital.  

 The Dementia information café is held 
monthly and attended by staff, voluntary 
organisations and carers.  

 There are a range of policies which support 
staff in understanding balance between 
patient choice and dignity particularly when 
patients have a diminished capacity to make 
choices – e.g. Learning Disability Policy,  

 

7. Providers do further work 
to develop an open culture 
that learns from 
complaints and isn’t 
defensive so that patients 
and carers feel able to 
make complaints/report 
abuse without fear of 
repercussions.  

 

 Posters and leaflets throughout all sites 
about how to complain. 

 Mediation training has taken place focusing 
on effective resolution meetings. 25 staff 
including consultants, Divisional Nurses etc 
have been trained. Extremely well received 
and further training is planned next 
month. 

 Complaints training – 3 x 2 day courses for 
around 40 staff has taken place. Further 

http://orh.oxnet.nhs.uk/CommentsAndComplaints/Document%20Library/Complaints%20Policy%202012-2015.pdf
http://orh.oxnet.nhs.uk/CommentsAndComplaints/Document%20Library/Complaints%20Policy%202012-2015.pdf
http://orh.oxnet.nhs.uk/CommentsAndComplaints/Document%20Library/Complaints%20Policy%202012-2015.pdf


 
 

 
96 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

training is being commissioned. Well 
received and undertaken by a range of staff. 

 A new PALS escalation system has recently 
been implemented for Inpatients in order to 
resolve issues speedily – PALS staff contact 
Sister within half an hour who has half hour 
to deal with situation and let PALS know. If 
not, it is escalated to Matron and then 
Divisional Nurse within same time scales. 
Since implementation, there has not been a 
need to escalate to the Matron as all issues 
have been resolved by the Sister.  

 

Oxford Health Foundation Trust Response 

 

OHFT responded to each of the recommendations below sharing the work 
we have started and plan to do.  
 
1. Communication to be improved between staff and patients and their 
families, understanding that this communication must be two-way. 
Respondents to this survey report feeling they are being ‘done to’ and 
are not actively involved in their care.  
 
We recognise the importance and necessity of working in partnership with 
patients and their families/ carers – if this is at an individual care level or as 
part of continually improving our services through working together in the 
planning, delivery and review of service changes/ developments. This 
commitment is in our strategic plan and is part of developing and reviewing 
our current patient experience strategy, to improve the consistency and 
build on how we engage and involve people. We will be consulting on our 
revised patient experience and involvement strategy from November 2015.  

 

We routinely ask patients if they feel involved in their care, this is one of 
the trust wide core questions we introduced across all surveys, below are 
the results for the last 6 months.  

 
Were you involved as much as you wanted to be in decisions about your care 
and treatment? (n=856) 
 

 Apr-15 May-15 Jun-15 Jul-15 Aug-15 Sep-15 Grand 
Total 

No  7%  9%  12%  6%  2%  4%  6%  

Yes, 
definitely  

63%  68%  44%  65%  75%  54%  65%  

Yes, to 
some 
extent  

30%  23%  44%  28%  23%  42%  29%  

 



 
 

 
97 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

 

We support our staff to use frameworks and systems to involve patients and 

their families/ carers in their care, some of these are mentioned below. 

However this will require ongoing work and monitoring to improve. 

 The Care Programme Approach (CPA) is used as a framework across 

the children, adult and older people mental health services as a way 

to assess needs and plan, communicate and review care with patients 

and their families/ carers. We have a quarterly audit process to 

review the implementation of the CPA process. 

 We use routine clinical audits on all our inpatient wards to review 

patient’s involvement in care planning and discharge. 

 Patient, family and carer involvement in care planning has always 

been an important aspect of the CPA. The use of the recovery star 

has been introduced across all community adult mental health teams, 

with training for all staff, which supports the identification of joint 

goals and joint monitoring of progress. 

 A series of care planning sessions have been held for staff working in 

adult mental health inpatient and community services in August and 

September 2015 with an emphasis on patient and family/ carer 

involvement. 

 The trust has been implementing a new electronic care notes system 

and the care plan template in the system has a section to record 

whether a patient was involved in its creation, with an additional 

comments box for any specific information of note. 

 The trust recently developed a care plan with Sue Ryder which has 

been introduced to ensure individualised and patient centred 

planning when someone is in their last days or hours of life. A key 

focus of the template is patient, family and carer involvement. 

 The older people directorate are working on two key initiatives 

around embedding personalised care; one project is working with 

Thames Valley Strategic Clinical Network looking at application in 

primary care and then also applying personalised care planning within 

the Integrated Locality Teams; the second project on improving 

personalisation of care which is being supported by the Kings Fund 

and is being implemented within one of the District Nurse teams to 

support patients to identify their goals, what helps and hinders them 

with their health problems to inform the development of their care. 

 Carers are supporting the trust to achieve the ‘Triangle of Care’ 

external accreditation ran by the Carers Trust, this scheme puts 

partnership working between patients, families/ carers and staff as a 

foundation. So far over 35 mental health teams and wards have 

completed a self-assessment against the ‘triangle of care’ standards 



 
 

 
98 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

and the results have been shared and discussed by the forums 

members including carers. The self-assessment work to date has 

highlighted some important themes for improvement and the Carers 

Strategy Forum has prioritised two significant areas to take forward; 

developing carer awareness training for staff and a trust wide review 

of information available for carers both provided by teams and on the 

trusts website. An action plan is in place to address these areas of 

improvement. 

2. Access to support services which facilitate dignified care be more 

widely promoted and offered. Specifically, we heard about difficulties in 

accessing advocates and interpreters, but this also applies to the 

inclusion of carers. 

We have an internal PALs which provides advice and information as well as 

support to access advocacy and interpreting services. The PALS Team is very 

active and regularly goes out to services and hold stands at local community 

events. The team routinely runs over 35 PALS surgeries across the trust, 

held at least monthly. 

The trust was part of a recent whole system re-tender for telephone and 

face to face language interpreting and the new provider started from 1st 

September 2015. Our Equality and Diversity Lead was involved in the re-

tender and is responsible in the trust for monitoring the contract, levels of 

use and supporting teams with access. 

All our patients and their families/ carers are able to contact free 

independent advocacy services (SEAP), access to this service is promoted by 

a poster, information leaflet and regular surgeries in all inpatient wards, on 

the trust website and in key patient information leaflets for example ‘how 

to make a complaint’. 

We are pleased to be working with Age UK on introducing circles of support 

to help older people to stay as independent as possible and ensure they 

have the information they need. We also work with Age UK on supporting 

initiatives such as volunteers working as care navigators at some of our 

community hospitals and dementia advisors working alongside our staff in 

memory clinics. 

3. Discussions about maintaining dignity to be included in staff training 

and induction, and that this training should include: dementia 

awareness, limiting jargon and using plain English, two-way 

communication and a broader understanding of dignity. 

Maintaining patient’s dignity is reflected in our values – caring, safe and 

excellent. 



 
 

 
99 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

The trust wide corporate induction includes presentations by patients and 

carers about their experiences and what is important to them, the PALs 

team and the Equality and Diversity Lead, which include discussions about 

dignity, respect and the importance of involving people in their care. There 

is also a specific five day programme followed by a work based competency 

assessment for healthcare assistants as part of the national healthcare 

certificate which covers dignity and communication. 

The trust offers a two hour basic dementia awareness training open to all 

staff including non-clinical staff. As well as a 6 month training course for 

healthcare assistants working with people with dementia which is more in-

depth, VRQ level 2 award in awareness of dementia/ level 2 certificate in 

dementia care. 

We have also relaunched our own annual staff awards recently with prizes 

presented at the AGM in September 2015; one of the awards was around 

dignity and respect. We had patients, parents and carers nominating staff 

and teams as well as judging nominations for the staff awards. 

As mentioned above we are developing carer awareness training for staff 

with carers, which will cover topics which as confidentiality, 

communication, information sharing, capacity and consent. 

To ensure we consider the 10 Dignity Do standards more fully we will be 

making a recommendation to our next Learning and Advisory Group in 

December 2015 that the standards are taken into account when we design 

and review training courses going forward. As well as reviewing our current 

trust wide core questions used across all patient surveys to include a 

specific question around dignity in care so that we can monitor and target 

improvements. 

4. Providers and commissioners work to ensure staff have the time to 

care, by increasing the proportion of time they spend with patients. This 

could be done through continued work to improve processes and 

paperwork, work to decrease staff sickness or through increasing allotted 

time for specific tasks. 

As part of the national safer staffing work all our wards now complete at 

least a 6 monthly review of the amount of direct care time spent with 

patients split by registered and unregistered staff. The results are presented 

to the board of directors and published. Each ward team is asked to review 

the detail of their results to identify and make improvements i.e. reducing 

how many interruptions staff to staff, where equipment is placed on a ward 

to reduce movement time, how staff and skill mixes are used, and how to 

reduce the completion of paperwork away from the patient. 



 
 

 
100 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

Our reablement service work with patients to help them to recover and 

become as independent as possible. Patients are normally seen by the 

service for up to 6 weeks based on their needs, in this time the length of 

visit times will decrease as patients become more and more independent. 

We are currently working in partnership with Oxford University Hospitals to 

develop an alliance to deliver an ambulatory model of care for frail older 

people. The two Trusts will provide a single managed pathway of care 

bringing together services to provide the best possible outcomes and 

experiences for patients; this will include bringing together bed based care, 

Emergency Multi-Disciplinary Assessment Units (EMUs), Hospital at Home, 

Reablement and Supported Hospital Discharge Services. 

5. Commissioners and providers in Oxfordshire broaden the discussion on 

dignity so that it encompasses all elements of dignified care (the do’s can 

provide a guide) and that this discussion inform training, the 

development of care models or pathways. There is a need to help staff 

focus on the balance between patient choice and dignity, particularly 

when patients have a diminished capacity to make choices. 

We would welcome and be interested in working with partner organisations 

to identify opportunities of joint working in relation to raising the profile 

around dignity in care. 

As mentioned above we will be making a recommendation to the Learning 

and Advisory Group in December 2015 that the 10 Dignity Do standards are 

taken into account when we design and review training courses going 

forward. 

All our staff receive mandatory safeguard and mental capacity training 

which provide staff time to discuss how they ensure patients are treated 

with dignity at all times. 

6. Providers do further work to develop an open culture that learns from 

complaints and isn’t defensive so that patients and carers feel able to 

make complaints/report abuse without fear of repercussions. 

Respondents’ reports of reactionary or defensive responses to initial 

concerns or signs of staff being managed harshly were some of the 

elements which caused concerns. 

We are surprised to hear this feedback as we work hard to make it easy for 

people to raise a concern or make a complaint, to learn from concerns 

raised, and to ensure concerns raised do not affect a patient’s current or 

future care. 

As mentioned above we have a PALs which is there to help provide advice or 

information, support to sort out a local concern quickly, the opportunity to 



 
 

 
101 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

comment or make a suggestion to improve our services and help with raising 

a formal complaint. The PALS team run over 35 

PALS surgeries across the trust, each held at least monthly. PALS surgeries 

are a valuable way of seeking feedback about people’s experiences, both 

positive and negative, and also about working with ward staff in resolving 

issues of concern at a local level, in a timely and positive manner. Over the 

last 6 months we have seen an increase in the number of concerns raised 

and a decrease in the number of formal complaints which could be a 

possible indication that people are satisfied with how we respond to 

informal concerns. 

We have systems in place to support a learning culture around complaints, 

these include: 

 A weekly review of complaints alongside incidents and other quality 

measures. This also includes looking at the outcome of complaints. 

 A quarterly system to report on actions following complaints and 

progress against timescales 

 A telephone survey is offered to every complainant after the 

investigation has completed to find out the persons experiences so 

that the complaints service can continue to improve in response to 

users experiences. 

 6 monthly complaint panels are held with each clinical directorate 

which include attendance from 1 Executive Director and 1 Non-

Executive Director to review a random selection of complaint cases to 

ensure the procedure is appropriately followed, the investigation is 

robust, our response is open and honest and to ensure appropriate 

actions are identified and actioned. 

As you will see we are committed to ensuring patients and their families/ 

carers are treated with dignity and respect. Thank you again for the 

opportunity to see the draft report prior to publication. 

 



 
 

 
102 | Dignity in Care:  Experiences in Oxfordshire 

 

Appendix 4 & 5:  Data tables, 

questionnaires and guides 

 

Due to their length, the questionnaires used in this study and the data 

tables are available in separate appendices. Appendix 2 & 3 will be 

available at www.healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk or you can contact the 

office on 01865 520520 or on hello@healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk to 

request a copy.  

 

 

 
 



1 
 

Oxfordshire Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
19 November  2015 

 

Chairman’s report 
 
Meetings/Events 
 
Since the last HOSC meeting on 17 September 2015, I have attended the following 
meetings/events: 
 

 24 September: Annual Meeting of the Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning 
Group and noted their progress on performance targets ahead of schedule; 
 

 30 0ctober 2015 2015: INLOGOV training event for Scrutiny Chairmen at 
Birmingham University which I attended with the County Chairman of 
Education Scrutiny. We were pleased to find that we do follow best practice 
at Oxfordshire County Council and glad to be reassured from experience 
elsewhere; 

 

 5 November 2015: Progress meeting with senior management at the Oxford 
University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust – the first since the arrival of the 
new Chief Executive, Bruno Holthof. Though it was not possible for him to 
attend, having been summoned to London, we discussed current 
performance, which is constant and constructive. I noted the concerns about 
managing winter pressures ahead, as the current mild, moist weather is 
forecasted to change to very cold and wintry conditions by January 2016. The 
Trust is thinking well ahead and is considering new approaches to managing 
care through the winter: 

 

 6 November 2015: Visit to Intermediate Care Unit at Henry Cornish, Chipping 
Norton with five HOSC members interested to see the Unit and better 
understand the issues around who provides what care in the Unit, which are 
currently out to consultation with the local community until December. We 
saw the neighbouring community hospital site and the separate building; and 
provision for the Intermediate Care Unit which is attached to the OSJ Care 
Home but not part of that service. The 14 bed Intermediate Care Unit is 
currently served by nurses supervised by an NHS nurse manager whom we 
met along with OSJ nurses and the OSJ Strategic Director. We were very 
impressed with the care which was in a pleasant, homely setting and were 
delighted to breakfast on delicious walnut cake cooked for us by the Unit’s 
chef, noting the special emphasis on home-cooked food as part of the 
rehabilitation programme provided by the Unit. We discussed and understood 
more clearly the history of the expectations in Chipping Norton and noted that 
intermediate care is essentially about reablement and rehabilitation which the 
Unit at Henry Cornish does to the highest standards. 

 
 
 

 



2 
 

Toolkit on Subtantial Change 
 

 Following comments raised by Cllr Mills at the last meeting, officers have 
been reviewing the Toolkit on Substantial Change. We are seeking legal 
advice on the process and plan to share with partners before bringing it back 
to HOSC.  

 
Claire Phillips 
 
Please note that Claire Phillips, our much valued policy officer, is leaving on 
maternity leave at the end of November. We wish her a happy second baby and 
welcome Belinda Dimmock-Smith as policy officer in her absence. Belinda has been 
reading and understanding at an impressive rate and has accompanied me on the 
most recent visit to the JR and to Chipping Norton. 
 
Cllr Yvonne Constance 
Chairman 
 
November 2015 



 
Oxfordshire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Forward Plan 
November 2015 

 

The following categories are suggested for the committee to consider its prioritisation 
of topics for consideration and inclusion on the forward plan  
 

- Scrutiny of Health Strategy (Commissioner and Provider)  

- Scrutiny of Major Service Change (Commissioner and Provider)  

- Scrutiny of Quality/Performance (Major reports only)  

- Scrutiny by Topic (As per member interest)  

- Input from the ‘patient voice’  

 
 

Meeting Date Item name Date of addition and 
reason for adding to 
FP 

Lead 
organisation 

4th February 2016       

Scrutiny of Health 
Strategy 
(Commissioner 
and Provider) 

Outcomes Based 
Commissioning - report 
on progress    CCG 

  

Health Inequalities 
Commission & health of 
minority groups 

HWBB discussed 
proposal in Mar. 
Proposals for the 
commission went to 
HWBB in November.  CCG 

Scrutiny of Major 
Service Change 
(Commissioner 
and Provider) 

Commissioning of 
Public Health services 
for children (0-5) - 
update Raised by members  PH  

Scrutiny of 
Quality/Performan
ce (Major reports 
only) 

Overview of CQC 
activity locally Moved from November  CQC 

  Oxford Health  CQC 
Inspection outcome Moved from November  OH/CQC 

Input from the 
‘patient voice’ Healthwatch update   HW 

21 April 2016        

Scrutiny of Major 
Service Change 
(Commissioner 
and Provider) 

OUHFT – Strategy and 
update on 
implementation of action 
plan (post inspection), 
plus achievement 
against targets (delays 
in operations) 

To include updates on 
vacancies, recruitment, 
retention and agency 
staff  OUH 

Scrutiny of CCG - NHS recruitment    CCG 



Quality/Performan
ce  

and retention strategy 

  NHS providers quality 
reports:     

  -SCAS 
-OUHT 
-Oxford Health     

  Discharges and 
management of winter 
pressures   

 Whole 
system 

30th June 2016    

15th Sept 2016    

17th Nov 2016    

 
 

Items to be 
scheduled 

Item name Date of 
addition 
and reason 
for adding 
to FP 

Lead 
organisation 

Scrutiny by 
Topic (As per 
member 
interest) 

Planning and consulting NHS in 
advance of housing development 

 Initially 
discussed by 
HOSC in Feb 
2015. 
Discussions 
with 
CCG/OCC 
suggest 
waiting until 
transformatio
n programme 
and 
infrastructure 
framework 
developed. 

Districts, NHS 
England 

Review in 
early 2016 

Scrutiny of 
Quality/Perform
ance (Major 
reports only) 

NHS recruitment and retention 
strategy 

Raised as 
potential area 
– needs 
clarification 
and objective 
setting 

 CCG 

Past 
recommendatio
ns 

July 2015- HWB Board AGREED to 
RECOMMEND that the Oxfordshire 
Joint Health Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee scrutinise the role of 
prevention of obesity, focusing on the 
collective roles of the district councils, 
the clinicians and on public health. 

   PH and Disticts 



Scrutiny of 
Health 
Strategy 

Health and Wellbeing Board  Key role of 
HOSC to 
scrutinise 

HWBB 

Annual/regular 
reports 

NHS providers quality reports April each 
year 

 Scheduled Apr 
16 -          SCAS 

-          OUHT 

-          Oxford Health 

Annual/regular 
reports 

Better Care Fund   CCG/OCC 

Annual/regular 
reports 

Discharges and management of winter 
pressures 

April CCG/OCC/OUHT/
OHT 

Annual/regular 
reports 

Director of Public Health’s Annual 
Report 

July  PH 

Annual/regular 
reports 

Health and Well-being strategy 
refresh/annual report 

July HWBB 

 




	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	6 Oxfordshire's Health & Social Care Transformation Plans
	JHO_NOV1915R03.doc - pdf - Transformation report Appendix

	7 Healthwatch Oxfordshire  - Update
	JHO_NOV1915R06.doc - pdf - Healthwatch Dignity in Care report

	8 Chairman’s Report and Forward Plan
	JHO_NOV1915R04 - Forward Plan


